
 County Commission 400 East Locust Street, Room 201 
 Union, MO 63084 

Regular Meeting 

Agenda 

http://www.franklinmo.org/ 

 
Angela Gibson 

Tuesday, August 6, 2019 10:00 AM Commission Chambers 

 

Opening 

  

I. Call to Order   

 
Attendee Name Present Absent Late Arrived 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson     

Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker     

First District Commissioner Todd Boland     
 

II. Minutes Approval 
1. Monday, July 29, 2019 
2. Tuesday, July 30, 2019 
3. Thursday, August 1, 2019 

 
III. Public Request for Discussion/Action 

 
IV. Action Items 
 

a. Commission Order 2019-331 In the Matter of Settlement of Franklin County Treasurer with the 
Franklin County Commission 
 

b. Commission Order 2019-332 In the Matter of Approving a Limited License Agreement with Franklin 
County Public Water Sewer District #3 for the Use of GIS Data Developed by Franklin County 
 

c. Commission Order 2019-333 In the Matter of Accepting an Offer to Purchase Certain Real Property 
from Franklin County and Authorizing Execution of a Trustee’s Deed in Order to Convey Such 
Property  
 

d. Commission Order 2019-334 In the Matter of Accepting an Offer to Purchase Certain Real Property 
from Franklin County and Authorizing Execution of a Trustee’s Deed in Order to Convey Such 
Property 
 

e. Commission Order 2019-335 A Resolution Selecting an Underwriter and Authorizing Certain 
Preliminary Actions Relating to the Proposed Sale of the County’s Certificates of Participation  
 

f. Commission Order 2019-336 In the Matter of Approving the Consent Agenda and all the Items 
Listed Thereon 

 
 
 
 
 

County Commission AGENDA Page 1 August 6, 2019 
 
 
 

http://www.franklinmo.org/


 
 
 
 

V. Discussion Items and Reports 
 

A. Elected Official and Departmental Reports (As Needed) 
 

B. Commission Discussion 
 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

County Commission AGENDA Page 2 August 6, 2019 



 County Commission 400 East Locust Street, Room 201 
 Union, MO 63084 

Working Session 

Minutes 

http://www.franklinmo.org/ 

 
Angela Gibson 

Monday, July 29, 2019 1:00 PM Training Room 

 

Opening 

  

I. Call to Order   

 

Attendee Name Present Absent Late Arrived 
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker     
Angela Gibson, Executive Assistant     
Monte Miller, Missourian     
Angie Hittson, Health Dept. Director     
Bill Placht, Building Dept. Director     
Jenny Metcalf, Recorder of Deeds     
Steve Pelton, Sheriff     
Tammy Vemmer, Auditor     
Doug Trentmann, Collector     
Abe Cook, EMA Director     
Tom Copeland, Assessor     
Debbie Aholt, Treasurer     
Shakara Bray, Assistant Purchasing     
Tony Henry, Maintenance Director     
Lauren Drumm, HR Director     
Ron Williams, Hwy Administrator     
Mary Jo Straatmann, Public Administrator     
Jeanine Stevens, Deputy Clerk     
Tim Baker, Clerk     
Nichole Zielke, Planning and Zoning     

 

II. Elected Officials and Department Heads Monthly Discussion 
Each attending elected official and department head provided an update of current and upcoming activity 
in their respective departments.  

 
III. Adjournment  

 
Meeting adjourned at 1:45 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County Commission MINUTES Page 1 July 29, 2019 
 

http://www.franklinmo.org/


 County Commission 400 East Locust Street, Room 201 
 Union, MO 63084 

Regular Meeting 

Minutes 

http://www.franklinmo.org/ 

 
Angela Gibson 

Tuesday, July 30, 2019 10:00 AM Commission Chambers 

 

Opening 

  

I. Call to Order   

 

Attendee Name Present Absent Late Arrived 
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker     

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson     
First District Commissioner Todd Boland     
Angela Gibson, Executive Assistant     
Monte Miller, Missourian     
Angie Hittson, Health Dept. Director     
Tony Buell, Health Department     
Jenny Metcalf, Recorder of Deeds     
Lisa Smart, Recorder of Deeds Deputy Recorder     
Tammy Vemmer, Auditor     
Doug Trentmann, Collector     
Cpt. Pendleton     
Tom Copeland, Assessor     
Debbie Aholt, Treasurer     
Chris Homyck, All Abilities Organization     
Tony Henry, Maintenance Director     
Lauren Drumm, HR Director     
Ron Williams, Hwy Administrator     
Mary Jo Straatmann, Public Administrator     

 

II. Minutes Approval 
1. Tuesday, July 23, 2019  

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
2. Tuesday, July 23, 2019 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
III. Public Request for Discussion/Action 

 
County Commission MINUTES Page 1 July 30, 2019 

http://www.franklinmo.org/


 
IV. Action Items 
 

a. Commission Order No. 2019-316 In the Matter of Approving and Authorizing Execution of a Grant 
Award Contract with the State of Missouri Department of Public Safety for the Multi-County Narcotics 
and Violent Crimes Enforcement Unit 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 
 

b. Commission Order No. 2019-317 Resolution – Celebrate #extrAAAordinary 
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 
 

c. Commission Order No. 2019-318 In the Matter of Appointment to the Franklin County Industrial 
Development Authority 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 
 

d. Commission Order No. 2019-319 In the Matter of Accepting an Offer to Purchase Certain Real 
Property From Franklin County and Authorizing Execution of a Trustee’s Deed in Order to Convey 
Such Property – Trustee’s Sale Simpson 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 
 

e. Commission Order No. 2019-320 In the Matter of Accepting an Offer to Purchase Certain Real 
Property From Franklin County and Authorizing Execution of a Trustee’s Deed in Order to Convey 
Such Property – Trustee’s Sale Firehammer 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

f. Commission Order No. 2019-321 In the Matter of Accepting an Offer to Purchase Certain Real 
Property From Franklin County and Authorizing Execution of a Trustee’s Deed in Order to Convey 
Such Property – Trustee’s Sale Wilson & Price 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
County Commission MINUTES Page 2 July 30, 2019 



 
 

g. Commission Order No. 2019-322 In the Matter of Approving and Authorizing an Amendment to the 
Schedule D with Fidlar Technologies 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
h. Commission Order No. 2019-323 In the Matter of Authorizing the Franklin County Health Director to 

Require the Vaccination of Food Handlers for Hepatitis A for Which Vaccines are Available 
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
i. Commission Order No. 2019-324 In the Matter of Approving and Authorizing Execution of a Proposal 

with Cochran Engineering Pertaining to the Hendricks Road Bridge 
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

j. Commission Order No. 2019-325 In the Matter of the County of Franklin Amending the Contract with 
Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission by Supplemental Agreement for Shawnee Ford 
Road Bridge 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

k. Commission Order No. 2019-326 In the Matter of Approving and Authorizing Execution of a Missouri 
Highways and Transportation Commission STP Urban Program Agreement for the Removal and 
Replacement of Elmont Road Bridge 
 
- Presiding Commissioner Brinker requests an amendment on Paragraph 3 of the Commission 

Order language by replacing “John Griesheimer” with “Tim Brinker” 
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

l. Commission Order No. 2019-327 In the Matter of Appointing and Re-Appointing Members to the 
Franklin County Law Enforcement Restitution Fund (LERF) Board of Trustees 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
 

County Commission MINUTES Page 3 July 30, 2019 



 
 

m. Commission Order No. 2019-328 In the Matter of Authorizing and Approving an Agreement with 
Fastcase for the Sheriff’s Office 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
n. Commission Order No. 2019-329 In the Matter of Authorizing Execution of a Letter of Intent with St. 

Louis County and Municipal Police Academy 
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

o. Commission Order No. 2019-330 In the Matter of Approving the Consent Agenda and all Items Listed 
Thereon 

Voter Name Motion Second Aye 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
V. Discussion Items and Reports 

 
A. Elected Official and Departmental Reports (As Needed) – No discussion 

 
B. Commission Discussion – Commission Hinson provides update on attending a NACo event 

wherein local, Missouri Commissioners were able to speak with President Trump and VP Pence 
regarding broadband and Highway funding 

 
VI. Adjournment  

 Motion to adjourn made and entered at 10:25 p.m.  
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    
First District Commissioner Todd Boland    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County Commission MINUTES Page 4 July 30, 2019 
 



 
 

 County Commission 400 East Locust Street, Room 201 
 Union, MO 63084 

Working Session 

Minutes 

http://www.franklinmo.org/ 

 
Angela Gibson 

Thursday, August 1, 2019 1:00 PM Commission Conf. Room 

 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

Attendee Name Present Absent Late Arrived 
Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson     
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker     
First District Commissioner Todd Boland     

County Counselor - Mark Piontek     

Executive Assistant – Angela Gibson     

Abe Cook, EMA Director     
Aaron Aitch, EMA     

T.J. Wild, Franklin County Sheriff’s Office     

Lauren Drumm, HR Director     
 

II. Weekly Workshop 
 

a. Discussion was held with Abe Cook concerning ongoing and upcoming action items 
regarding internet, dispatch, and radio systems pertaining to the detention facility project. In 
addition, Cook provided an updated on continued progress on current and active projects.  

 
b. Discussion was held regarding minor jail project proposals.  

 
c. Discussion was held regarding county owned properties and minimum offers considered by 

the Trustee, Franklin County Title.  
- Motion was made to set a minimum bid amount at $150.00 for county owned 

properties that are submitted to the Trustee, Franklin County Title Company.  
Voter Name Motion Second Aye 

Second District Commissioner Dave Hinson    
Presiding Commissioner Tim Brinker    

First District Commissioner Todd Boland    
 

 
III. Adjournment 

 
 No further discussion was held. Meeting adjourned at 2:15 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

County Commission Minutes August 1, 2019  Page 1  

http://www.franklinmo.org/


Commission Order No. 2019-331 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 6, 2019 
County of Franklin Report 
 

Commission Order No. 2019-331 Page 1 

ss. 

 
IN THE MATTER OF SETTLEMENT OF 
FRANKLIN COUNTY TREASURER WITH 
THE FRANKLIN COUNTY COMMISSION 
 
WHEREAS, the County Treasurer shall semiannually settle her accounts with the County Commission at a 
regular February and August Commission meeting; and 
 
WHEREAS, said Treasurer shall account for all school monies or funds of any and all kinds received by her, 
from whom and on what account, and the particular fund to which each of said funds was entered and 
charged, and the amount paid out for any and all purposes as stated in attachments A, B, C and D; and 
 
WHEREAS, for the period of January 1, 2019 through June 30, 2019, the County Commission has examined 
the vouchers, receipts, orders and warrants upon which each of said payments were made. 
 
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the County Commission is satisfied that said payments are just and 
correct and attest the same. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this order with the attachments A, B, C, and D be delivered to 
Debbie Aholt, Franklin County Treasurer and to Jeannine Stevens, Chief Deputy County Clerk. 
 
 
 

______________________________________ 
Presiding Commissioner 

 
 
              Commissioner of 1st District 
 
 
              Commissioner of 2nd District 











Commission Order No. 2019-332 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 1, 2019 
County of Franklin Contract/Agreements 
 

Commission Order 2019-332 Page 1 

ss. 

IN THE MATTER OF 
APPROVING A LIMITED LICENSE   
AGREEMENT WITH FRANKLIN COUNTY 
PUBLIC WATER SEWER DISTRICT #3 FOR  
THE USE OF GIS DATA DEVELOPED 
BY FRANKLIN COUNTY 
 

WHEREAS, Franklin County has developed a comprehensive GIS data system and is willing to provide access to 
and use thereof to other political entities and certain not for profit organizations; and 

WHEREAS, that the Public Water Sewer District #3 desires to utilize GIS data and is willing to be bound by the 
terms required by Franklin County; and 

WHEREAS, attached hereto and incorporated herein is a copy of the Limited License Agreement duly executed 
by Bob Hathcock, Public Water Sewer District #3.  

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Franklin County Commission that entering into an agreement with Franklin 
County Public Water Sewer District #3 and is hereby approved and that the Presiding Commissioner of 
Franklin County is hereby authorized to execute such agreement on behalf of Franklin County. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Order and an executed copy of the agreement be provided to 
Public Water Sewer District #3; Curtis Ellison, Franklin County Mapping Department; and Ann Struttmann, 
Purchasing Agent.  

 
 
 

______________________________________ 
Presiding Commissioner 

 
 
              Commissioner of 1st District 
 
 
              Commissioner of 2nd District 









Commission Order No. 2019-333 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 6, 2019 
County of Franklin Trustee Sale County Property 
 

Commission Order 2019-333   Page 1 

ss. 

IN THE MATTER OF ACCEPTING AN 
OFFER TO PURCHASE CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY FROM FRANKLIN COUNTY 
AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
TRUSTEE’S DEED IN ORDER TO  
CONVEY SUCH PROPERTY 
 
WHEREAS, by virtue of a tax sale Franklin County acquired title to 1 parcel located at Melody Lake Addition, 
Northwood Circle, Leslie, MO, as reflected on the attached tax delinquent property list; and  
 
WHEREAS, the total amount of taxes, interest and fees charged against said parcels is $585.24; and 
 
WHEREAS, Kim Richardson expressed an interest in acquiring the property from Franklin County for a portion 
of the taxes and fees charged against the property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Franklin County Commission has determined that it is in the best interest of Franklin County to 
convey such property to Kim Richardson for the amount offered. 
 
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Franklin County Commission that the offer from Kim Richardson to 
purchase the subject property for the total sum of $250.00 is hereby accepted, said sum consisting of back 
taxes, interests and costs of $196.80 and Trustee’s Commission of $53.20. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Donald Wurdack, Trustee, is authorized to execute such documents as may 
be necessary to effectuate the transfer. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that it shall be the responsibility of Kim Richardson to file the original deed with 
the office of the County Recorder of Deeds. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Order be provided to the following: 
 
   1. Donald Wurdack, Trustee 
   2. Tom Copeland, Assessor 
   3. Doug Trentmann, Collector 
   4. Jennifer Metcalf, Recorder of Deeds 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Presiding Commissioner 
               
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 1st District 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 2nd District 









Commission Order No. 2019-334 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 6, 2019 
County of Franklin Trustee Sale County Property 
 

Commission Order 2019-334   Page 1 

ss. 

IN THE MATTER OF ACCEPTING AN 
OFFER TO PURCHASE CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY FROM FRANKLIN COUNTY 
AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
TRUSTEE’S DEED IN ORDER TO  
CONVEY SUCH PROPERTY 
 
WHEREAS, by virtue of a tax sale Franklin County acquired title to 7 parcels located in Lost Valley Lakes as 
reflected on the attached tax delinquent property list; and  
 
WHEREAS, the total amount of taxes, interest and fees charged against said parcels is $2,968.75; and 
 
WHEREAS, Terry Hammer and Nancy Hammer expressed an interest in acquiring the property from Franklin 
County for a portion of the taxes and fees charged against the property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Franklin County Commission has determined that it is in the best interest of Franklin County to 
convey such property to Terry and Nancy Hammer for the amount offered. 
 
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Franklin County Commission that the offer of Terry and Nancy Hammer 
to purchase the subject property for the total sum of $525.00 is hereby accepted, said sum consisting of back 
taxes, interests and costs of $255.12 and Trustee’s Commission of $269.88. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Donald Wurdack, Trustee, is authorized to execute such documents as may 
be necessary to effectuate the transfer. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that it shall be the responsibility of Terry Hammer and Nancy Hammer to file the 
original deed with the office of the County Recorder of Deeds. 
 
IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Order be provided to the following: 
 
   1. Donald Wurdack, Trustee 
   2. Tom Copeland, Assessor 
   3. Doug Trentmann, Collector 
   4. Jennifer Metcalf, Recorder of Deeds 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Presiding Commissioner 
               
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 1st District 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 2nd District 







Commission Order No. 2019-335 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 6, 2019 
County of Franklin Resolution 
 

Commission Order 2019-335   Page 1 

ss. 

 
 

A RESOLUTION SELECTING AN UNDERWRITER  
AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN PRELIMINARY  
ACTIONS RELATING TO THE PROPOSED  
SALE OF THE COUNTY’S CERTIFICATES OF  
PARTICIPATION (FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE),  
SERIES 2019A AND THE COUNTY’S REFUNDING  
CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION  
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE), SERIES 2019B 
 
WHEREAS, the County Commission of Franklin County, Missouri (the “County”) is considering the delivery of (a) 
Certificates of Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, Lessee), Series 2019A (the “Series 2019A Certificates”) to pay 
the costs of the second phase of additions and renovations to the existing County public safety facility and to pay the costs of 
delivering the Series 2019A Certificates and (b) Refunding Certificates of Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, 
Lessee), Series 2019B (the “Series 2019B Certificates” and, together with the Series 2019A Certificates, the “Series 2019 
Certificates”) to refund certain of the County’s outstanding Certificates of Participation and to pay the costs of delivering 
the Series 2019B Certificates; and   
 
WHEREAS, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (the “Underwriter”) has submitted its proposal for underwriting 
the Series 2019 Certificates (the “Proposal”), a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 
 
WHEREAS, Rule G-17 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (“MSRB”) requires all underwriters of municipal 
securities to provide certain written disclosures to prospective issuers and to obtain from officials of such issuers timely 
written acknowledgement of such disclosures, the form of which are included in the Proposal; and 
 
WHEREAS, after receipt and review of the Proposal and the recommendation thereof by the County’s staff and 
municipal advisor, the County Commission wishes to accept the Proposal, to select the Underwriter as underwriter for the 
Series 2019 Certificates, to authorize the Presiding Commissioner to receive and acknowledge receipt of disclosures from 
the Underwriter pursuant to the MSRB Rule G-17 and to authorize the Presiding Commissioner, if requested by the 
Underwriter and following consultation with the County’s staff and municipal advisor, to acknowledge the receipt of 
certain information required by MSRB Rule G-11 regarding the manner in which the Series 2019 Certificates will be 
offered.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNTY COMMISSION OF FRANKLIN COUNTY, 
MISSOURI, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1. Acceptance of Proposal.   The County Commission hereby accepts the Proposal and designates 
the Underwriter as underwriter for the Series 2019 Certificates in accordance with and subject to the terms of the 
Proposal, subject to final approval of the transaction by the County Commission at a later date, such approval to be in the 
complete discretion of the County Commission.  Nothing herein shall bind or obligate the County to pursue the delivery 
of the Series 2019 Certificates. 
 



 

Commission Order 2019-335 Page 2 

 Section 2. Preliminary Official Statement.  The County Commission hereby approves the Preliminary 
Official Statement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, with such changes and additions thereto as the 
Presiding Commissioner deems necessary or appropriate. The appropriate officers and representatives of the County are 
hereby authorized to use such document in connection with the sale of the Series 2019 Certificates.  The County hereby 
deems the Preliminary Official Statement to be “final” as of its date, except for the omission of such information as is 
permitted by Rule 15c2-12(b)(1), and for the purpose of enabling the Underwriter to comply with the requirements of 
Rule 15c2-12(b)(1) of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the appropriate officers of the County are hereby 
authorized, if requested, to provide the Underwriter a letter or certification to that effect, and to take such other actions or 
execute such other documents as such officers in their reasonable judgment deem necessary to enable the Underwriter to 
comply with the requirements of such rule. 
 
 Section 3.   Authority.  The Presiding Commissioner is hereby authorized, on behalf of the County, to 
receive and acknowledge receipt of written disclosures provided by the Underwriter pursuant to MSRB Rule G-17 in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Series 2019 Certificates.  The Presiding Commissioner is further authorized, 
on behalf of the County, to receive and acknowledge receipt of certain information required by MSRB Rule G-11 
regarding the manner in which the Series 2019 Certificates will be offered.   

 
Section 4. Effective Date.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage by the 

County Commission.  
 
PASSED BY THE COUNTY COMMISSION OF FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, THIS 6TH DAY OF 

AUGUST, 2019. 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Presiding Commissioner 
               
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 1st District 
 
         _____________________________________ 
         Commissioner of 2nd District 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
RESPONSE TO REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITER FOR  

 
FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI 

APPROXIMATELY $21,000,000 CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, SERIES 2019A 
APPROXIMATELY $28,110,000 REFUNDING CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, SERIES 2019B 

 
 
 

AUGUST 1, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A



 

STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY, INCORPORATED 
501 North Broadway, St. Louis, MO 63102 

August 1, 2019 
  

Ms. Ann Struttmann, Purchasing Agent 
Franklin County, MO 
400 East Locust Street 
Union, MO 63084 

 

Re: Request for Proposals for Underwriting Services 
 

Dear Ms. Struttmann: 
 

It is with great pleasure that Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) submits the attached 
response to Franklin County, Missouri’s (the “County”) Request for Proposals for Underwriting 
Services.  We believe our Team provides a compelling choice for the County and we look forward to 
the opportunity to serve you. 
  
Stifel is uniquely positioned to sell the County’s certificates, due to two factors:  1) our in-depth 
knowledge of Missouri issuers, enabling us to communicate the County’s story to potential retail 
and institutional investors; and 2) the experience and qualifications of our Missouri specialists.  
Stifel has 2,273 financial consultants nationwide that are supported by 248 Fixed Income Sales and 
Trading personnel.  Part of Stifel’s unique strength comes from our combined syndicate and trading 
operations, ensuring that our entire Missouri syndicate/trading team is familiar not only with new 
issues, but also with all secondary market activity at our firm.    
 
The County will benefit from selecting Stifel as underwriter as Stifel is the only remaining full-service 
broker-dealer in Missouri which provides both full retail and full institutional distribution of 
certificates.  By having access to both retail and institutional investors we are able to increase the 
investor pool for the County’s certificates which may lower the interest rates of the certificates.  
Access to both groups of investors helps to ensure that the County can optimize the sale of every 
single maturity of its certificates.   
 
Additionally, the firm’s headquarters is located in downtown St. Louis, and Stifel maintains 18 retail 
offices throughout the state.  These Missouri retail offices are staffed with 121 financial consultants 
that collectively manage more than 90,000 client accounts with assets under management in excess of 
$14.1 billion.  This directly benefits the County because we can access more of the County’s retail 
investors through our retail and institutional distribution networks. 
 
We are pleased to be given this opportunity and believe you will find the depth of our experience, our 
approach and the quality of our execution provide the right combination for Stifel to serve the County.  
Please do not hesitate to contact me at (314) 342-8467 if I can provide additional information.   
 

Sincerely,  
  
 
 
Martin J. Ghafoori         
Director    
(314) 342-8467  
GHAFOORIM@Stifel.com 

 

Cc:  Joy Howard, WM Financial Strategies

mailto:GHAFOORIM@Stifel.com


 
 

 FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Section 1. Experience....................................................................................................................1 

Section 2. Underwriting Discount ..................................................................................................3 

Section 3. Interest Rates ...............................................................................................................4 

Section 4. Costs of Issuance and Underwriter’s Counsel ............................................................... 10 

Section 5. Terms of the Certificates ............................................................................................. 11 

Section 6. Underwriting Agreement ............................................................................................ 13 

Section 7. MSRB’s Rule G-17 ....................................................................................................... 14 

Section 8. Issue Price .................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 9. Good Faith Deposit ..................................................................................................... 16 

Section 10. Personnel ................................................................................................................. 17 

 

 

APPENDIX A: DISCLOSURES  

APPENDIX B: RULE G-17 DISCLOSURE LETTER  

APPENDIX C: EXPERIENCE LIST 

 



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
1 

SECTION 1. EXPERIENCE 
Provide a description (tabular form preferred) in not more than 3 pages, of your firm’s recent experience as senior 
managing underwriter of similar transactions based on size and security. (Include the issuer name, issue name, issue date 
and rating.) 
 
Since 2017, Stifel has served as senior managing underwriter on 526 financings over $20,000,000 for a total par 
amount of $25.3 billion. As Appendix C, Stifel has included three pages of such transactions in tabular form. Such 
data is from September 1, 2017 through present. Upon request, Stifel is available to provide further historical 
data, however we limited our tabular response as Appendix C to three pages in accordance to the proposal 
guidelines. Since 2017, Stifel was the #1 underwriter of Certificate of Participation and Lease Revenue financings 
according to SDC with 189 financings for a total par of $3.6 billion and a market share of 12.1%. Provided below 
are several case studies for financings similar in size and security to the County’s Certificates, which highlights 
Stifel’s unique ability to aggressively price the County’s Certificates. 
 
City of St. Charles, Missouri  
Stifel was selected to serve as sole underwriter for the City of St. Charles, Missouri’s Series 2017 Certificates of 
Participation through an RFP process.  The City of St. Charles issued $43,615,000 of Certificates in order to fund 
$21,000,000 of park improvements and more than $25,500,000 for improvements to the City’s stormwater 
control system.  The 2017 Certificates were rated “Aa3”. Stifel’s distribution system helped to lower the cost of 
capital for the City, as we were able to lower the spreads that were in our proposal by more than 10 basis 
points on the day of pricing from the proposed indexed spreads that were originally submitted to the City and 
its financial advisor. Stifel’s robust distribution system, coupled with a dearth of supply, aided in this remarkable 
pricing result. The total orders on the 2017 Certificates were $140,610,000. With this oversubscription, Stifel did 
not underwrite any unsold bonds. 
 

City of Sedalia, Missouri 

Stifel was the sole managing underwriter for the 
City of Sedalia’s $13,065,000 Series 2018 
Certificates of Participation.  Stifel worked with the 
City to secure an underlying rating of “A+” with 
S&P.  The City received a rating upgrade due to 
strong management by the City of its budget and 
the addition of formalized financial policies and 
practices.  This improvement to the credit rating 
directly resulted in a lower cost of borrowing for 
the City.  With participation from a variety of retail, 
banks, money managers and trust departments, 
total orders for the City’s Certificates were in 
excess of $32,000,000 – nearly three times as many 
orders as Certificates were available.  This 
competition for the City’s Certificates allowed Stifel 
to lower interest rates by as much as 6 basis points 
(0.06%) in certain maturities between pre-pricing 
and final pricing.  Stifel’s distribution system and 
ability to attract investors of all types helped the 
City to receive a remarkable pricing result.  To the 
right is a summary of the financing results.  Due to 
the high demand for the City’s Certificates, Stifel 
did not underwrite any unsold bonds.  

PRICED
TAX STATUS SIZE

RATING
UNDERLYING

CALL DATE
YEAR MTY AMT CPN YTW SPR YTM SPR

1 9/15/2019 375,000          2.000% 1.720% 20 1.720% 20

2 9/15/2020 385,000          2.000% 1.880% 28 1.880% 28

3 9/15/2021 395,000          3.000% 2.050% 33 2.050% 33

4 9/15/2022 405,000          3.000% 2.250% 37 2.250% 37

5 9/15/2023 415,000          3.000% 2.450% 43 2.450% 43

6 9/15/2024 430,000          3.000% 2.650% 53 2.675% 55

7 9/15/2025 445,000          3.000% 2.800% 57 2.837% 61

8 9/15/2026 455,000          3.000% 2.950% 61 2.963% 62

9 9/15/2027 470,000          3.000% 3.100% 65 3.100% 65

10 9/15/2028 485,000          3.000% 3.190% 67 3.190% 67

11 9/15/2029 500,000          3.125% 3.300% 72 3.300% 72

12 9/15/2030 515,000          3.200% 3.390% 75 3.390% 75

13 9/15/2031 530,000          3.250% 3.460% 77 3.460% 77

14 9/15/2032 550,000          3.300% 3.500% 78 3.500% 78

15 9/15/2033 570,000          3.375% 3.550% 78 3.550% 78

16 9/15/2034 590,000          3.400% 3.620% 80 3.620% 80

17 9/15/2035 610,000          3.500% 3.660% 80 3.660% 80

18 9/15/2036 630,000          3.500% 3.690% 80 3.690% 80

19

20 9/15/2038 1,335,000       3.600% 3.750% 81 3.750% 81

21

22 9/15/2040 1,435,000       3.650% 3.820% 84 3.820% 84

23

24 9/15/2042 1,540,000       3.700% 3.860% 85 3.860% 85

25

N (NON-BQ) / N $13,065,000

ISSUE
CITY OF SEDALIA, MO CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION, SERIES 2018

3/12/2018 SALE TYPE NEGOTIATED

NR / A+ / NR UNDERWRITER
NR / NR / NR STIFEL NICOLAUS & CO INC

3/15/2024 @ 100



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
2 

 
In June of 2019, Stifel served as sole managing underwriter for the City’s Refunding and Improvement 
Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 in the amount of $28,950,000.  The 2019 Certificates were issued to 
finance improvements to the City’s wastewater system and to provide for the refunding of the City’s 
outstanding 2010B certificates (BABs).  With the City’s strong credit, the City was able to release the debt service 
reserve fund securing the 2010B Certificates and contribute these funds to downsize the 2019 Certificates.  Due 
to Stifel’s aggressive pricing, the City secured 11.2% NPV savings ($3.1 million) and was among the first handful 
of issuers to advance refund Build America Bonds in Missouri post-tax reform. 
 
City of Brentwood, Missouri  
Stifel was the sole managing underwriter for the City of Brentwood’s $43,390,000 Series 2018 Certificates of 
Participation.  Stifel worked with the City to secure an underlying rating of “AA-” with S&P.  Stifel pre-marketed 
the transaction aggressively and during the pricing period, all maturities through 2032 maintained the same 
pricing levels originally shown to investors. In the repricing, the longer end of the curve saw minimal increases to 
rates in order to attract investor demand. At repricing, the final maturity was bifurcated with both a premium 
and a discount coupon structure in order to minimize the YTM kick. Total orders for the City’s 2018 Certificates 
was approximately $50.5 million at the end of the repricing order period. Stifel committed capital to underwriter 
nearly $1 million of unsold bonds. 
 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
3 

SECTION 2. UNDERWRITING DISCOUNT 
For each series, indicate your proposed underwriting discount (as a percentage of the par amount). 
  
Stifel would be pleased to put our broad distribution network and marketing capabilities to work as Underwriter 
for Franklin County, Missouri (the “County”) for their Series 2019A Certificates of Participation (the “2019A 
Certificates”) and Series 2019B Certificates of Participation (the “2019B Certificates”, together with the 2019A 
Certificates, the “Certificates”). 
 
Stifel’s philosophy on compensation is to propose an underwriter’s discount that adequately compensates 
brokers for selling the Certificates, provides for expenses and covers the professional time of the bankers.  For 
all underwriters, the standard underwriting discount has three components which compensate the underwriter 
for these separate functions, each of which may be independently determined, but are all inter-related.  Stifel 
pledges its full resources to making this a successful transaction. From our extensive experience we have found 
that to achieve the type of superior execution that we have come to expect in this type of tax-exempt 
transaction, we would maintain an underwriter’s discount of $3.50 per $1,000 or 0.350%, for either or both 
series of certificates, plus a total of $8,000 for Underwriter’s Counsel. For purposes of calculating TIC by series, 
this aggregate fee for Underwriter’s Counsel is split $3,500 for the 2019A Certificates and $4,500 for the 2019B 
Certificates. Compensation for underwriting services will only occur if the Certificates are purchased by the 
Underwriter. 
 
Stifel will review the opportunity for our retail distribution system to reduce the overall cost of funds on the 
transaction by targeting specific maturities or components of the Certificate issue to retail investors.  If we can 
reduce the overall cost of funds in such a manner, we would present to the County and its Municipal Advisor a 
separate underwriter’s discount associated with that portion of the transaction, as well as its net benefit, for the 
County’s review and approval.  This would change the overall underwriter’s discount based upon the outline of 
such plan and the portion of the certificates sold at the revised underwriter’s discount only if a reduction in the 
overall cost of funds is achieved for the Certificates.   
 
 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
4 

SECTION 3. INTEREST RATES 
For each series, and using the maturity schedules shown in the Preliminary Official Statement, provide a listing, by year, 
of the interest rates and yields you would assign if the Certificates had been sold on July 26.  If the rates are not based on 
par pricing, include the yield to maturity, the yield to the call, and the reoffering price for each maturity based on an issue 
date of September 4 which is the anticipated date of closing. Indicate the True Interest Cost of each series based on the 
rates and yields provided.   
 
Stifel proposes the yields as shown on the following page which we commit to indexing to the AAA Municipal 
Market Data (“MMD”) (the “Benchmark”) scale dated as of July 25th which would have been used for a 
Certificate financing sold on July 26, 2019.  On the date of final pricing (referenced as August 26th in the 
County’s Request for Proposals), Stifel agrees to an adjustment of rates equal to the basis point changes in the 
July 26, 2018 Benchmark for the same maturities.  Such final rates could be subject to a market volatility factor 
of 5 basis points, as opposed to the 10 basis points referenced in the County’s Request for Proposals dated July 
17, 2019.  The indexing commitment is subject to deferment or revision by the Underwriter only as a result of 
documented changes or aberrations in the tax-exempt securities market nationwide, or in Missouri, which 
materially impair the Underwriter's ability to market the issue. This indexing commitment will remain in effect 
until September 4th after which time it may be extended, cancelled or modified, subject to an agreement 
between the parties involved.  
 
The goal for the County is to “Fight the Kicker”, which helps to minimize the overall True Interest Cost (TIC) of 
the borrowing.  The kicker refers to the yield to maturity for any callable certificate that is priced above par, 
or above a price of 100.  With interest rates today and also the ratios between taxable and tax-exempt bonds 
at historically low levels, one way to “Fight the Kicker” is to utilize lower coupons, which we are proposing, 
and another is to use a longer call date.  The analysis on the following pages outlines the impact that various 
call dates have on the TIC of the issuance and this proves that by using lower coupons, the value of extending 
the call date beyond 5 years has merit since these lower coupons will also lower the chance of those bonds 
being called.  See above each table for the TIC calculation and note that we will work with the County and its 
Municipal Advisor to achieve the lowest cost of borrowing while managing the call date options in order to 
“Fight the Kicker”.   
  

FIGHT THE KICKER!! 

  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
5 

Franklin County, Missouri 
Certificates of Participation, Series 2019A 

Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating 
Based on 11/1/2024 Call Date 

TIC: 2.769940% 
 

**Bold denotes term bond 
 

Certificates of Participation, Series 2019A 
Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating 

Based on 11/1/2025 Call Date   
TIC: 2.720541% 

 

**Bold denotes term bond 
 
  

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark

Yield to 
Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

11/1/2020 665,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 101.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
11/1/2021 860,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 103.583 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
11/1/2022 885,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 105.052 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
11/1/2023 915,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 106.398 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
11/1/2024 940,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 107.624 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
11/1/2025 970,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.925% 111.993 1.220% 0.350% 0.705%
11/1/2026 1,000,000 4.000% 1.680% 2.263% 111.415 1.310% 0.370% 0.953%
11/1/2027 1,030,000 4.000% 1.780% 2.514% 110.893 1.390% 0.390% 1.124%
11/1/2028 1,060,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.719% 110.321 1.470% 0.420% 1.249%
11/1/2029 1,090,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.007 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
11/1/2030 1,125,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.693% 102.941 1.610% 0.780% 1.083%
11/1/2031 1,160,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.794% 102.111 1.670% 0.890% 1.124%
11/1/2032 1,200,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.795 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%
11/1/2033 1,240,000 3.000% 2.760% 2.901% 101.144 1.780% 0.980% 1.121%
11/1/2034 1,280,000 3.000% 2.830% 2.933% 100.808 1.830% 1.000% 1.103%
11/1/2038 5,580,000 3.000% 3.080% 3.080% 98.846 2.000% 1.080% 1.080%

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark

Yield to 
Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

11/1/2020 665,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 101.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
11/1/2021 860,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 103.583 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
11/1/2022 885,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 105.052 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
11/1/2023 915,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 106.398 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
11/1/2024 940,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 107.624 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
11/1/2025 970,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.570% 114.209 1.220% 0.350% 0.350%
11/1/2026 1,000,000 4.000% 1.680% 1.966% 113.517 1.310% 0.370% 0.656%
11/1/2027 1,030,000 4.000% 1.780% 2.260% 112.892 1.390% 0.390% 0.870%
11/1/2028 1,060,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.500% 112.210 1.470% 0.420% 1.030%
11/1/2029 1,090,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.007 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
11/1/2030 1,125,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.639% 103.472 1.610% 0.780% 1.029%
11/1/2031 1,160,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.757% 102.490 1.670% 0.890% 1.087%
11/1/2032 1,200,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.795 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%
11/1/2033 1,240,000 3.000% 2.760% 2.883% 101.348 1.780% 0.980% 1.103%
11/1/2034 1,280,000 3.000% 2.830% 2.922% 100.952 1.830% 1.000% 1.092%
11/1/2038 5,580,000 3.000% 3.080% 3.080% 98.846 2.000% 1.080% 1.080%



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
6 

Certificates of Participation, Series 2019A 
Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating 

Based on 11/1/2026 Call Date   
TIC: 2.682953% 

 

**Bold denotes term bond  
 

  

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark

Yield to 
Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

11/1/2020 665,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 101.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
11/1/2021 860,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 103.583 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
11/1/2022 885,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 105.052 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
11/1/2023 915,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 106.398 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
11/1/2024 940,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 107.624 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
11/1/2025 970,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.570% 114.209 1.220% 0.350% 0.350%
11/1/2026 1,000,000 4.000% 1.680% 1.680% 115.584 1.310% 0.370% 0.370%
11/1/2027 1,030,000 4.000% 1.780% 2.016% 114.856 1.390% 0.390% 0.626%
11/1/2028 1,060,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.289% 114.062 1.470% 0.420% 0.819%
11/1/2029 1,090,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.007 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
11/1/2030 1,125,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.586% 103.989 1.610% 0.780% 0.976%
11/1/2031 1,160,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.722% 102.859 1.670% 0.890% 1.052%
11/1/2032 1,200,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.795 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%
11/1/2033 1,240,000 3.000% 2.760% 2.866% 101.547 1.780% 0.980% 1.086%
11/1/2034 1,280,000 3.000% 2.830% 2.910% 101.092 1.830% 1.000% 1.080%
11/1/2038 5,580,000 3.000% 3.080% 3.080% 98.846 2.000% 1.080% 1.080%



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
7 

Franklin County, Missouri 
Certificates of Participation, Series 2019B 

Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating  
Based on 4/1/2025 Call Date  

TIC: 2.336707% 

 
 

Certificates of Participation, Series 2019B 
Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating  

Based on 4/1/2026 Call Date  
TIC: 2.248306% 

 
 

 
 

  

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark
Yield to Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

4/1/2020 1,515,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 100.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
4/1/2021 1,905,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 102.625 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
4/1/2022 1,970,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 104.135 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
4/1/2023 2,030,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 105.523 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
4/1/2024 2,090,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 106.790 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
4/1/2025 2,170,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.570% 112.921 1.220% 0.350% 0.350%
4/1/2026 2,240,000 4.000% 1.680% 1.995% 112.296 1.310% 0.370% 0.685%
4/1/2027 2,310,000 4.000% 1.780% 2.303% 111.731 1.390% 0.390% 0.913%
4/1/2028 2,390,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.549% 111.113 1.470% 0.420% 1.079%
4/1/2029 2,460,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.111 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
4/1/2030 2,550,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.655% 103.165 1.610% 0.780% 1.045%
4/1/2031 2,630,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.769% 102.271 1.670% 0.890% 1.099%
4/1/2032 1,850,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.878 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark
Yield to Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

4/1/2020 1,515,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 100.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
4/1/2021 1,905,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 102.625 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
4/1/2022 1,970,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 104.135 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
4/1/2023 2,030,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 105.523 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
4/1/2024 2,090,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 106.790 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
4/1/2025 2,170,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.570% 112.921 1.220% 0.350% 0.350%
4/1/2026 2,240,000 4.000% 1.680% 1.680% 114.383 1.310% 0.370% 0.370%
4/1/2027 2,310,000 4.000% 1.780% 2.037% 113.716 1.390% 0.390% 0.647%
4/1/2028 2,390,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.321% 112.987 1.470% 0.420% 0.851%
4/1/2029 2,460,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.111 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
4/1/2030 2,550,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.599% 103.690 1.610% 0.780% 0.989%
4/1/2031 2,630,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.732% 102.645 1.670% 0.890% 1.062%
4/1/2032 1,850,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.878 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
8 

Certificates of Participation, Series 2019B 
Assumes July 26, 2019 Pricing – ‘A+’ Underlying Rating  

Based on 4/1/2027 Call Date  
TIC: 2.187263% 

 
Pricing Process 

 
The ability of Stifel’s retail and institutional distribution system to secure low interest rates will be optimized 
when a customized marketing plan for the County’s Certificates is designed and implemented.  At that point, 
Stifel begins preliminary internal pre-marketing to prepare its sales force for a certificate pricing.  We make sure 
buyers are informed of the issue.  Roughly two weeks in advance of a targeted pricing date, Stifel’s sales force 
begins additional marketing efforts in preparation for the forthcoming offering.  This includes:  
 
 Distribution of the offering document or preliminary official statement, either in hard copy or 

electronically 
 Conference calls for our sales force to acquaint them with the issue 
 Preparation of compliance-approved literature to provide to brokers to begin cultivating orders for the 

Certificates 
 Production of newspaper advertisements to be published approximately two weeks before the sale to 

increase the public’s awareness of the upcoming offering 
 Presentations to investors to discuss and answer questions from prospective purchasers 
 E-mails to brokers to encourage continued contact with prospective investors 

 
On the day of pricing, Stifel will run a fair, competitive, open book order period.  Representatives of the County 
are invited to visit our St. Louis office during that period.  Through its national institutional presence and its 
strong retail presence in the State of Missouri, Stifel is able to access the full spectrum of potential investors.  
During the order period, Stifel is able to generate competition between those two markets, resulting in the 
lowest possible cost of capital for the County. If County officials and its Municipal Advisor choose not to come to 
the St. Louis office for the pricing, this information is communicated to the County and its Municipal Advisor on 
a conference call on the day before the pricing is set to take place.  The morning of the sale date, Stifel will host 
another call with the County and its Municipal Advisor to discuss any developments that may have taken place 
overnight and discuss the market tone for the day and any updates to the scales.  During the order period, the 
County and its Municipal Advisor can receive a login that allows for the ability to see the order flow as orders are 
received through iPreo’s Order Monitor.  Stifel’s desk is in constant communication with the bankers and the 
County’s financing team throughout the order period.  This allows the underwriter to inform the County and 

Maturity
Par 

Amount Coupon Yield 
Yield to 

Maturity Price
July 25th  

Benchmark
Yield to Price 

Spread

Yield to Maturity 
Spread to                      

July 26, 2019 
Benchmark

4/1/2020 1,515,000 3.000% 1.260% 1.260% 100.993 1.090% 0.170% 0.170%
4/1/2021 1,905,000 3.000% 1.310% 1.310% 102.625 1.100% 0.210% 0.210%
4/1/2022 1,970,000 3.000% 1.360% 1.360% 104.135 1.110% 0.250% 0.250%
4/1/2023 2,030,000 3.000% 1.410% 1.410% 105.523 1.120% 0.290% 0.290%
4/1/2024 2,090,000 3.000% 1.460% 1.460% 106.790 1.140% 0.320% 0.320%
4/1/2025 2,170,000 4.000% 1.570% 1.570% 112.921 1.220% 0.350% 0.350%
4/1/2026 2,240,000 4.000% 1.680% 1.680% 114.383 1.310% 0.370% 0.370%
4/1/2027 2,310,000 4.000% 1.780% 1.780% 115.665 1.390% 0.390% 0.390%
4/1/2028 2,390,000 4.000% 1.890% 2.101% 114.825 1.470% 0.420% 0.631%
4/1/2029 2,460,000 2.000% 2.220% 2.220% 98.111 1.540% 0.680% 0.680%
4/1/2030 2,550,000 3.000% 2.390% 2.544% 104.202 1.610% 0.780% 0.934%
4/1/2031 2,630,000 3.000% 2.560% 2.695% 103.011 1.670% 0.890% 1.025%
4/1/2032 1,850,000 2.500% 2.700% 2.700% 97.878 1.730% 0.970% 0.970%



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
9 

their financing team of the status of order flow.  If there are more orders than Certificates available, the 
underwriter will leverage investors in an effort to lower the interest rates and thereby lowering the County’s 
cost of funds.  The underwriter will discuss changes in the scale and their pricing thoughts before and 
throughout the process with the County and their financing team. 
 

In today’s market, it has become increasingly important to have both a retail and institutional sales force.  In 
Missouri, Stifel stands alone in offering its clients a sales force which covers the full spectrum of investors.  From 
one of the most extensive groups of institutional sales professionals to its strong retail presence in Missouri, as 
well as a desk to sell your Certificates, no other firm doing business in the state can offer the County such a 
combination. 
 

Accessing the retail marketplace requires extra effort above and beyond that of distributing electronic 
Preliminary Official Statements. Advertising must be designed to appeal to regional retail investors and include 
information on how and where to purchase the Certificates.  Advertising can be done online through the 
County’s website, in a regional business paper, or the business pages of a local paper.  All three have been done 
with success. 

 

Stifel would be pleased to leverage our retail sales force for the County’s Certificate issue and set the priority 
of orders in such a way that would give retail and local orders precedence to institutional orders.  Stifel 
currently maintains 18 retail brokerage offices in Missouri and has 121 brokers actively managing more than 
90,000 client accounts with assets valued in excess of $14.1 billion.  In addition to our Missouri presence, our 
more than 78 St. Louis Area brokers and our retail network of more than 1,840 additional brokers can place 
orders with our underwriting desk with their orders being filled first.    



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
10 

 
SECTION 4. COSTS OF ISSUANCE AND UNDERWRITER’S COUNSEL 
The County intends to pay costs of issuance including trustee fees, rating fees, County Counsel fees, Special Tax Counsel 
fees, Disclosure Counsel fees, CUSIP fees, and municipal advisor fees. Any other expenses, including the fees of 
Underwriter’s Counsel, if any, shall be the responsibility of the underwriter selected. If you intend to employ an 
underwriter’s counsel, please provide the name and address of the firm. 
 
Stifel commits to the timely completion of this financing.  Stifel will retain Ali Rafferty with Thompson Coburn 
LLP to serve as Underwriter’s Counsel.  Ms. Rafferty will assist Stifel with the due diligence process, verifying the 
County’s continuing disclosure compliance, reviewing/commenting on documents and preparing a Blue Sky 
Memorandum. Stifel’s underwriter’s discount excludes the underwriter’s counsel fee of $8,000; for purposes of 
calculating TIC by series, this aggregate fee is split $3,500 for the 2019A Certificates and $4,500 for the 2019B 
Certificates. If Stifel were to be selected as underwriter on only one series, the full underwriter’s counsel fee of 
$8,000 would be applied to the single series. Ms. Rafferty’s contact information is as follows: 
  

Ali Rafferty 
Thompson Coburn LLP 

One US Bank Plaza 
St. Louis, MO 63101 

314/552-6457 
arafferty@thompsoncoburn.com  

 
Stifel does not intend to have any additional expenses beyond what is listed above and understands that any 
additional fees would be our responsibility. 
  

mailto:arafferty@thompsoncoburn.com


 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
11 

SECTION 5. TERMS OF THE CERTIFICATES 
For each series, specify your proposed prepayment provisions.  The County has a preference for an early prepayment date 
(e.g. 5 years).  Indicate the earliest prepayment date that would be acceptable to your firm and the impact various 
prepayment dates would have on your proposed interest rates.  Indicate any changes you will require to the content of 
the County’s Annual Disclosure report or indicate that the Continuing Disclosure Agreement as presently drafted is 
acceptable.  Unless required by the Underwriter, the County will not obtain a title insurance policy with respect to the 
Project in connection with the issuance of the Certificates.  Indicate whether you require a title insurance policy and if you 
require a policy, indicate the impact the policy will have on interest rates and your ability to underwrite the Certificates. 
Indicate whether you agree to the other terms of the Certificates as set forth in the draft preliminary official statement.   
 
It is understood that the County prefers an early prepayment date and we have illustrated in Section 3 how the 
goal of the County should be to Fight the Kicker and to reduce the TIC via lower coupons.  If this is combined 
with analyzing the impact of longer calls in unison with the lowering of coupons, then a longer call date should 
help the County to achieve a lower TIC.  With that being said, if the goal of the County is a short call date for 
both series of certificates, we propose the call date of 11/1/2024 for the Series 2019A Certificates.  The Series 
2019B Certificates could have a call date of 4/1/2025 if the County would so choose, but as you can see in the 
tables below and in our response to Section 3 the short call dates increase the TIC, or cost of funds to the 
County.  If generating maximum savings is the goal for the refunding, a call date of 4/1/2027 should be 
considered for the Series 2019B Certificates as this will provide the most savings of all of the options shown 
below.  
 
The analysis shown in Section 3 of this response assumes various call dates for the Series 2019A and Series 
2019B Certificates and this is outlined in the tables below.  Stifel can sell the Certificates with whichever call 
date that the County and its Municipal Advisor prefers and the impact is shown below.  The County’s optional 
redemption provision impacts the County’s cost of borrowing. In order to assist the County in making an 
informed decision that balances future flexibility with cost of borrowing today, Stifel has included the following 
chart that shows the impact to the County’s cost of borrowing at various call dates. Stifel would work with the 
County and its Municipal Advisor to determine the optional call date that best accomplishes the County’s 
financing objectives and would be happy to explore additional options. 
 

2019A Certificates 
Call Date TIC 

11/1/2024 2.769940% 
11/1/2025 2.720541% 
11/1/2026 2.682953% 

 
2019B Certificates 

Call Date TIC 
4/1/2025 2.336707% 
4/1/2026 2.248306% 
4/1/2027 2.187263% 

 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
12 

Stifel has discussed the summary of the CDA and Annual Disclosure Report with our compliance department and 
is comfortable with the current form, with the inclusion of the following changes. This is subject to review and 
agreement from Underwriter’s Counsel who will deliver an opinion to Stifel that the CDA complies with the Rule. 
 

1. To the extent such language is not already included in the full version of the CDA, to comply with Rule 
15c2-12(b)(5)(i)(D), we would request language similar to the following that includes the words “in a 
timely manner” with respect to event notices for the failure to timely file the Annual Report:  
 

If the Dissemination Agent has not received either an Annual Report with filing instructions or a written 
notice from the Issuer that it has filed an Annual Report with the MSRB by the date required in 
subsection (a), the Dissemination Agent in a timely manner shall send a notice to the MSRB in 
substantially the form attached as Exhibit A hereto. 
 

2. The definition of annual financial information in the Rule is vague, and it often leaves us struggling with 
a judgment call as to what is financial or operating verses what is economic or demographic.  One 
guiding light from the 1994 Amendments adopting release is found at the beginning of page 27 of that 
release:  “The phrase ‘pertinent’ has been deleted from the reference to operating information and the 
word "data" is used to emphasize the intended quantitative nature of the information.”  From this, we 
understand that when sales tax information is included in general obligation offering documents, or 
property tax information is included in certificate of participation or sales tax secured offering 
documents, the information still could be considered financial or operating regardless of whether it is 
pertinent to the credit of the security.  In this case, the County plans to issue certificates of 
participation.  Appendix A includes property tax information (levies/collections, largest taxpayers, 
etc).  The current draft of the CDA does not include updates to this property tax information.  The 
current draft of the CDA does call for the audited financial statements, of course.  One option could be 
to cut this section of Appendix A.  Alternatively, we would ask the County to exchange “audited financial 
statements” with “comprehensive annual financial report.”  The County’s CAFR does contain all of this 
property tax information.  Additionally, the County historically has filed its CAFR to EMMA to satisfy its 
audit filing requirements.  So, this would not be an additional requirement on or new function of the 
County. 

 
Stifel would not require title insurance, and there will be no impact to interest rates. Stifel has read the 
Preliminary Official Statement and is agreeable to the terms of the Certificates, described therein. 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
13 

SECTION 6. UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT 
The firm selected shall provide the municipal advisor, Special Tax Counsel and the County comments to the draft 
documents and Certificate Purchase Agreement, to be prepared by Special Tax Counsel, within three business days 
following the selection of the proposed underwriter.  The County plans to execute the Certificate Purchase Agreement 
and other Certificate documents on August 27.  The Commission meeting is at 10:00 a.m.  Accordingly, the firm selected 
will be required to price the Certificates on August 26, or such earlier date as agreed to by the Underwriter selected and 
the Municipal Advisor. Other than such terms and conditions as set forth herein, indicate any further internal approvals 
you will require as a condition to entering into a Certificate Purchase Agreement (e.g. credit approval by commitment 
committee).   
 
Stifel will be prepared to price the Certificates on August 26th with the Certificate Purchase Agreement executed 
on August 27th. Stifel will obtain Commitment Committee approval prior to printing the Preliminary Official 
Statement (“POS”) and executing the Certificate Purchase Agreement.  Typically, this takes place once the 
offering document has been finalized and the transaction has been structured and agreed upon by all members 
of the financing team.  Once approval has been obtained, the POS can be circulated for marketing purposes with 
pricing taking place within approximately one week.  Upon receipt of this Request for Proposals, we presented 
this transaction for preliminary review, and have received all indications that this transaction will likely be 
approved. 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
14 

SECTION 7. MSRB’S RULE G-17 
Provide your firm’s Rule G-17 disclosures to be signed by the Presiding Commissioner on behalf of the County 
Commission. 
 
Please see Appendix B for Stifel’s Rule G-17 disclosure letter.  
 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
15 

SECTION 8. ISSUE PRICE 
Indicate whether you anticipate providing a certification regarding reoffering prices on the Certificates on the date of 
sale (e.g. with 10% of each maturity sold at the initial offering price and holding the price for 5 business days for any 
maturity with less than 10% sold). 
 
The Internal Revenue Service Rules regarding issue price will not impact any of the terms of Stifel’s proposal.  
Stifel has adopted the SIFMA model language for both the BPA and Issue Price Certificate and has worked with 
Gilmore & Bell, P.C. on several transactions recently which incorporates this language.  At the request of Gilmore 
& Bell, P.C., Stifel is providing a report of reoffering prices on the Certificates until such time as 10% of each 
maturity is sold at a single price.  Stifel intends to hold the price for 5 business days, as needed. 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
16 

 
SECTION 9. GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT 
Indicate your firm’s willingness to provide a 2% good faith deposit (a cashier’s check, certified check or wired funds) prior 
to 3:00 p.m. on August 26 (the day prior to the adoption of the underwriting agreement by the County which is expected 
to be on August 27. 
 
Stifel is willing to provide a 2% good faith deposit on the day prior to the underwriting agreement’s adoption by 
the County. 
 
  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
17 

 
SECTION 10. PERSONNEL 
Provide the name and phone number for the person who will serve as the County’s contact. 
 
The County’s primary contact will be Martin Ghafoori, a Director in the Public Finance Department.  His phone 
number is 314/342-8467 and his e-mail address is GHAFOORIM@stifel.com.   
 

mailto:GHAFOORIM@stifel.com


 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
 

 
 

 
APPENDIX A: DISCLOSURE 

 
 
As outlined in the SEC’s Municipal Advisor Rule, Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) is providing 
the attached material and all information and advice contained therein in response to a request for proposals or 
request for qualifications (the “RFP”) by a municipal issuer or obligated person with respect to a specific issue of 
municipal securities. Stifel has not acted, and will not act, as your municipal advisor with respect to the issuance 
of the municipal securities that is the subject to the RFP. 

 

Stifel is providing information and is declaring to the proposed municipal issuer and any obligated person that it 
has done so within the regulatory framework of MSRB Rule G-23 as an underwriter (by definition also including 
the role of placement agent) and not as a financial advisor, as defined therein, with respect to the referenced 
proposed issuance of municipal securities.  The primary role of Stifel, as an underwriter, is to purchase securities 
for resale to investors in an arm’s- length commercial transaction.  Serving in the role of underwriter, Stifel has 
financial and other interests that differ from those of the issuer. The issuer should consult with its’ own financial 
and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent it deems appropriate. 

 

These materials have been prepared by Stifel for the client or potential client to whom such materials are 
directly addressed and delivered for discussion purposes only.  All terms and conditions are subject to further 
discussion and negotiation.  Stifel does not express any view as to whether financing options presented in these 
materials are achievable or will be available at the time of any contemplated transaction.  These materials do 
not constitute an offer or solicitation to sell or purchase any securities and are not a commitment by Stifel to 
provide or arrange any financing for any transaction or to purchase any security in connection therewith and 
may not relied upon as an indication that such an offer will be provided in the future.  Where indicated, this 
presentation may contain information derived from sources other than Stifel. While we believe such information 
to be accurate and complete, Stifel does not guarantee the accuracy of this information. This material is based 
on information currently available to Stifel or its sources and is subject to change without notice. Stifel does not 
provide accounting, tax or legal advice; however, you should be aware that any proposed indicative transaction 
could have accounting, tax, legal or other implications that should be discussed with your advisors and /or 
counsel as you deem appropriate. 

  



 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
 

 
APPENDIX B: RULE G-17 DISCLOSURE LETTER 

 
  



 
STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY, INCORPORATED 

 
 

501 N. BROADWAY  ST. LOUIS, MO 63102  (314) 342-8467   (314) 342-2179 (FAX)  WWW.STIFEL.COM 
 

MEMBER SIPC AND NYSE 

 

August 1, 2019 

Franklin County, Missouri 
400 E Locust 
Union, MO 63084 
 
Attn:  Mr. Tim Brinker, Presiding Commissioner of Franklin County, MO 

Re:    Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 
MSRB Rule G-17 Disclosures 

                          
The Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (MSRB) requires underwriters to provide municipal securities issuers 
with certain disclosures as set forth in MSRB Rule G-17.  Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) intends 
to serve as the underwriter and not as a financial advisor or municipal advisor, in connection with the issuance of 
Franklin County, Missouri’s (the “County’s”) Certificates of Participation, Series 2019A and Certificates of 
Participation, Series 2019B (the “Certificates”).   

During the course of the underwriting, Stifel may provide advice concerning the structure, timing, terms, and other 
similar matters concerning the issuance of the Certificates.  

I. Disclosures Concerning Stifel’s Role as the Underwriter 

(i) MSRB Rule G-17 requires Stifel to deal fairly at all times with both municipal issuers and investors. 
 

(ii) Stifel’s primary role is to purchase the Certificates with a view towards distribution in an arm’s-length 
commercial transaction with the County.  As such, Stifel has financial and other interests that differ from 
those of the County. 
 

(iii) Unlike a municipal advisor, Stifel does not have a fiduciary duty to the County under the federal securities 
laws and, therefore, is not required to act in the best interests of the County without regard to its own 
financial or other interests. 
 

(iv) Stifel has a duty to purchase the Certificates from the County at a fair and reasonable price, but must 
balance that duty with its duty to sell the Certificates to investors at prices that are fair and reasonable. 
 

(v) Stifel will review the official statement for the Certificates in accordance with, and as part of, its 
respective responsibilities to investors under federal securities laws, as applied to the facts and 
circumstances of this transaction1.  

                                                           
1 Under federal securities law, an issuer of securities has the primary responsibility for disclosure to investors.  The 
review of the official statement by the underwriters is solely for purposes of satisfying the underwriters’ 
obligations under the federal securities laws and such review should not be construed by an issuer as a guarantee 
of the accuracy or completeness of the information in the official statement. 

http://www.stifel.com/


 
STIFEL, NICOLAUS & COMPANY, INCORPORATED 

 
 

501 N. BROADWAY  ST. LOUIS, MO 63102  (314) 342-8467   (314) 342-2179 (FAX)  WWW.STIFEL.COM 
 

MEMBER SIPC AND NYSE 

II. Disclosures Concerning the Stifel’s Compensation 

Stifel will be compensated by a fee and/or an underwriting discount that will be set forth in the Certificate 
Purchase Agreement to be negotiated and entered into in connection with the issuance of the Certificate. 
Payment or receipt of the underwriting fee or discount will be contingent on the closing of the transaction and 
the amount of the fee or discount may be based, in whole or in part, on a percentage of the principal amount 
of the Certificates.  While this form of compensation is customary in the municipal securities market, it 
presents a conflict of interest since Stifel may have an incentive to recommend to the County a transaction that 
is unnecessary or an incentive to recommend that the size of the transaction be larger than is necessary.  

III. Additional Conflicts Disclosures 

Stifel has not identified any additional potential or actual material conflicts that require disclosure. 

IV. Disclosures Concerning Complex Municipal Securities Financing 

Since Stifel has not recommended a “complex municipal securities financing” to the County, additional 
disclosures regarding the financing structure for the Certificates are not required under MSRB Rule G-17. 

However, in accordance with the requirements of MSRB Rule G-17, if Stifel recommends a “complex municipal 
securities financing” to the County, this letter will be supplemented to provide disclosure of the material 
financial characteristics of that financing structure as well as the material financial risks of the financing that 
are known to us and reasonably foreseeable at that time. 

If you or any other County officials have any questions or concerns about these disclosures, please make those 
questions or concerns known immediately to the undersigned. In addition, you should consult with the County’s 
own financial and/or municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent you deem 
appropriate. 

It is our understanding that you have the authority to bind the County by contract with us, and that you are not a 
party to any conflict of interest relating to the subject transaction.  If our understanding is incorrect, please notify 
the undersigned immediately. 

We are required to seek your acknowledgement of receipt of this letter.  Accordingly, please send me an email to 
that effect or sign and return the enclosed copy of this letter to me at the address set forth on the bottom of the 
page. Depending on the structure of the transaction that the County decides to pursue, or if additional potential or 
actual material conflicts are identified, we may be required to send you additional disclosures regarding the 
material financial characteristics and risks of such transaction.   

We look forward to working with you and the County in connection with the issuance of the Certificates.  Thank 
you. 

Sincerely,     Acknowledgement: 

      
Martin J. Ghafoori    _________________________________________ 
Director      Mr. Tim Brinker, Presiding Commissioner of Franklin County 
314/342-8467       
GHAFOORIM@STIFEL.COM   Date: ___________________ 
 
Enclosure 
cc :  Joy Howard, W.M. Financial Strategies 

http://www.stifel.com/
mailto:GHAFOORIM@STIFEL.COM


 
 

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI  I  REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR UNDERWRITING SERVICES 
 

 
APPENDIX C: EXPERIENCE LIST 

 
 



List of Stifel Senior Managed Transactions above $20,000,000 in Par Amount since September 1, 2017

Dated Date Issuer Name

Issuer 

State Issue Description Par Amount

Moody's 

Rating

S&P 

Rating

Fitch 

Rating

7/18/2019 Palm Springs, City of CA 2019 Airport Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Bonds (Palm Springs International Airport) SUBJECT TO AMT $22,270,000 ‐ A ‐

7/17/2019 San Jose Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2012), Series 2019F $46,720,000 Aa1 AA+ ‐

7/16/2019 Indiana Finance Authority IN Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Butler University) $54,225,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

7/15/2019 Northside Independent School District TX Variable Rate Unlimited Tax School Building and Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 $145,000,000 Aa1 ‐ AA+

7/10/2019 Calcasieu Parish School District No. 31 LA GO Bonds, Series 2019 $27,915,000 ‐ A+ ‐

7/9/2019 Center School District No. 58 MO General Obligation School Building and Refunding Bonds Series 2019A (2019 Election) $38,325,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

7/1/2019 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2019D (G2) $20,079,710 ‐ AA+ ‐

7/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019G (G2) $39,000,652 ‐ AA+ ‐

6/27/2019 Holland Area Community Swimming Pool Authority MI 2019 Community Swimming Pool Building and Site Bonds $23,075,000 A1 ‐ ‐

6/27/2019 Walled Lake Consolidated School District MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $54,420,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

6/26/2019 Madera Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds Election of 2018, Series 2019 $35,000,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

6/26/2019 Rockford Public Schools  MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds (General Obligation ‐ Unlimited Tax) $48,665,000 ‐ AA ‐

6/25/2019 East Pennsboro, Township of PA G.O. Bonds, Series 2019 $22,130,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/25/2019 Azusa, City of CA Community Facilities District No. 2005‐1 (Rosedale) 2019 Special Tax Refunding Bonds (Improvement Area No. 1) $24,425,000 ‐ A ‐

6/25/2019 Lincoln Park, School District of the City of  MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $33,760,000 ‐ AA ‐

6/25/2019 Grandview Heights City School District OH School Facilities Construction and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019 $55,250,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

6/20/2019 Meriden Housing Authority CT Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Yale Acres Apartments), Series 2019 $26,635,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

6/20/2019 San Jacinto Unified School District Financing Authority CA Special Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 $32,110,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

6/19/2019 North Las Vegas, City of NV Special Improvement District No. 64 (Valley Vista) Local Improvement Bonds, Series 2019  $33,935,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

6/18/2019 Louisiana Public Facilities Authority  LA Young Audiences Charter School Project Revenue Bonds, Series 2019A $24,980,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

6/13/2019 Conotton Valley Union Local School District OH Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 $22,000,000 ‐ A ‐

6/13/2019 Riverside Public Financing Authority CA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 (Library Project) $33,505,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/12/2019 Sedalia, City of  MO Refunding and Improvement Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 $28,950,000 ‐ A+ ‐

6/11/2019 2004 Plainfield Community High School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2019 $21,440,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/11/2019 Washington School District MO General Obligation Bonds Series 2019 $26,000,000 ‐ AA ‐

6/6/2019 Sanger Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2018, Series A $20,000,000 ‐ A+ ‐

6/6/2019 Aspen, City of CO Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 $25,300,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

6/6/2019 San Rafael City Elementary School District CA Election of 2015 General Obligation Bonds, Series C $43,225,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

6/6/2019 Vista Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds 2018 Election, 2019 Series A $56,500,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

6/5/2019 Cape Girardeau School District #63 MO General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019 $26,175,000 ‐ A+ ‐

6/1/2019 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2019C (G2) $21,564,506 ‐ AA+ ‐

6/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019F (G2) $36,006,288 ‐ AA+ ‐

5/30/2019 California Statewide Communities Development Authority CA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (La Mesa Springs Apartments) Series 2019 $22,000,000 MIG 1 ‐ ‐

5/30/2019 Gilbert Unified School District No. 41 AZ SIB, Proj 15, Srs 19C $24,620,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

5/30/2019 Lansing School District MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds, Series II $45,875,000 ‐ AA ‐

5/29/2019 Goodyear, City of AZ GO, Srs 19 $26,960,000 Aa1 AA ‐

5/29/2019 Portage Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $52,720,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

5/29/2019 Wayne‐Westland Community Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $64,770,000 ‐ AA ‐

5/22/2019 Perris Union High School District CA 2019 Certificates of Participation $41,160,000 ‐ A ‐

5/21/2019 Troy School District MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $22,630,000 ‐ AA ‐

5/16/2019 GCS School Bldg. Corp. One IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2019 $25,300,000 ‐ A ‐

5/15/2019 Forest Hills Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds, Series I  $31,950,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

5/14/2019 Grand Rapids Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $75,630,000 A2 AA ‐

5/7/2019 Lake Elsinore School Financing Authority CA Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 $25,175,000 ‐ A+ ‐

5/7/2019 Midland Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds, Series II $34,930,000 ‐ AA ‐

5/1/2019 Evansville, City of IN Multifamily Tax ‐Exempt Mortgage Backed Securities (M‐TEMS) (Carriage House Apartments) Series 2019 (FN) $21,400,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

5/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019E (G2) $24,093,104 ‐ AA+ ‐

5/1/2019 District of Columbia DC Revenue Bonds 2019A (Rocketship DC Obligated Group – Issue No. 1)  $27,140,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

5/1/2019 Big Walnut Local School District OH Delaware County, Ohio School Facilities Construction and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019 (General Obligation ‐ Unlimited Tax) $56,500,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

5/1/2019 Lafayette, City of  LA Utility Revenue Bond Series 2019 $60,220,000 A1 AA‐ ‐

5/1/2019 Illinois Housing Development Authority IL Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, Mortgage‐backed Securities (MTEMS) (Pass‐Through ‐ Morningside North), Series 2019 $70,400,000 Aaa ‐ ‐

4/30/2019 Mesa Unified School District No. 4 AZ SIB, Proj 18, Srs 19A $56,135,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

4/25/2019 Hawaiian Gardens, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency CA 2019 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series B (Taxable) $25,990,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

4/25/2019 Santa Clara Valley Water District CA Water System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series Taxable Series 2019B $80,035,000 Aa1 ‐ AA+

4/25/2019 IPS Multi‐School Building Corporation  IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Refunding Bonds, Series 2019 $89,790,000 ‐ A ‐

4/25/2019 Cleveland, City of OH Water Revenue Bonds, Series DD, 2019 $97,160,000 Aa1 AA+ ‐

4/16/2019 Solana Beach School District CA School Facilities Improvement District No. 2016‐1 General Obligation Bonds, 2016 Election, Series B $55,000,000 Aaa AAA ‐

4/11/2019 Lafayette, City of  LA Sales Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 $26,070,000 Aa3 AA ‐

4/11/2019 Kyrene Elementary School District No. 28  AZ School Improvement Bonds, Project of 2017, Series A (2019) $29,965,000 Aa1 AA ‐

4/4/2019 Queen Creek Unified School District No. 95 AZ SIB, Srs 19 $20,640,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

4/4/2019 Vail Unified School District No. 20 AZ School Imp Bonds, Proj of 18, Srs A (2019) $36,875,000 ‐ A ‐

4/1/2019 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2019B (G2) $28,693,671 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/28/2019 West Lafayette Redevelopment Authority IN Lease Rental Bonds of 2019 (Recreation Center Project) $31,885,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

3/27/2019 Missouri Housing Development Commission MO Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, 2019 Series A $65,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/21/2019 Palo Alto, City of CA 2019 Certificates of Participation, Series A (California Avenue Parking Garage) $26,785,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/20/2019 Ontario‐Montclair School District CA Election of 2016 General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019B $45,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

3/19/2019 Lemoore, City of  CA Water Revenue Bonds, Series 2019 $27,380,000 ‐ A+ ‐

3/19/2019 Northville Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds, Series II $52,740,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

3/12/2019 Utica Community Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site and Refunding Bonds $95,020,000 ‐ AA ‐

3/5/2019 Fenton Fire Protection District MO General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 $20,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/5/2019 Swartz Creek Community Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $42,040,000 ‐ AA ‐

3/4/2019 Chippewa Valley Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $61,875,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

3/1/2019 South Carolina State Housing Finance and Development Authority SC Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐backed Bonds (M‐TEMS) (Killian Terrace) Series 2019 (FN) $23,398,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/1/2019 Ontario, City of CA Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐backed Bonds (M‐TEMS) (Ontario Townhouses Apartments Project) Series 2019 (FN) $24,663,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019C (G2) $24,961,892 ‐ AA+ ‐

2/27/2019 Lake Orion Community Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $62,670,000 ‐ AA ‐

2/26/2019 Redondo Beach Community Financing Authority CA Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2019A (Federally Taxable) $28,015,000 ‐ AA ‐

2/26/2019 San Francisco City & County CA CFD No. 2014‐1 (Transbay Transit Center) Special Tax Bonds Series 2019A (Federally Taxable) $33,655,000 ‐ ‐ AA+

2/26/2019 Mona Shores Public Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds $40,940,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

2/26/2019 San Francisco City & County CA CFD No. 2014‐1 (Transbay Transit Center) Special Tax Bonds Series 2019B (Federally Taxable ‐ Green Bonds) $157,310,000 ‐ ‐ AA+

2/26/2019 Gwinnett County School District GA General Obligation Bonds Series 2019 $173,355,000 Aaa AAA ‐

2/20/2019 Tolleson Union High School District No. 214 AZ SIB, Proj 17, Srs 19B $58,475,000 Aa1 AA‐ ‐

2/19/2019 Westminster Public Schools 50 CO Certificates of Participation, Series 2019 $74,265,000 A1 A+ ‐

2/14/2019 Greene County Vocational School District OH School Facilities Construction and Improvement Bonds, Series 2019 $62,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

2/14/2019 Indiana Bond Bank IN Common School Fund Advancement Purchase Funding Bonds, Series 2019A (Taxable) $87,110,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

2/13/2019 Balsz Elementary School District No. 31 AZ SIB, Proj 18, Srs 19A $22,325,000 ‐ A+ ‐

2/12/2019 Holly Area School District MI 2019 School Building and Site and Refunding Bonds $24,515,000 ‐ AA ‐

2/12/2019 Southern Indiana, University of IN Student Fee Bonds, Series M  $37,245,000 A1 A ‐

2/7/2019 Jurupa Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, 2014 Election, 2019 Series C $48,360,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

2/5/2019 Galesburg CUSD #205 IL General Obligation School Bonds (HLS), Series 2019A $22,635,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

2/5/2019 Fremont Public Schools MI 2019 Refunding Bonds $35,095,000 ‐ AA ‐

2/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019B (G2) $29,061,790 ‐ AA+ ‐

1/31/2019 Wisconsin, State of WI General Fund Annual Appropriation Refunding Bonds of 2019, Series A (Forward Delivery) $359,950,000 Aa2 ‐ AA

1/30/2019 Thompson School District R2‐J CO General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019 $149,000,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

1/29/2019 El Paso County School District 2 (Harrison) CO General Obligation Bonds Series 2019 $100,000,000 Aa2 AA ‐

1/24/2019 Centennial Water and Sanitation District CO Water and Sewer Revenue Improvement Bonds, Series 2019 $64,355,000 ‐ AAA AA+

1/24/2019 Arapahoe County School District No. 6 CO General Obligation Bonds, Series 2019A $298,870,000 Aa1 AA ‐

1/9/2019 Sparta Area Schools MI 2019 School Building and Site Bonds, Series II $32,110,000 ‐ AA ‐

1/1/2019 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2019A (G2) $23,215,295 ‐ AA+ ‐

1/1/2019 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2019A (G2) $32,067,408 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/28/2018 St Louis Park MN Housing Revenue Bonds (PLACE Via Sol Project) Series 2018 (Green Bonds) $43,650,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/21/2018 Chicago, City of IL Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Mark Twain Hotel Apartments Project) Series 2018 $27,325,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/20/2018 Housing Authority of Valdosta, Georgia GA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Brown Rural Development Portfolio Project) Series 2018 $22,500,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/20/2018 Northwest Allen Multi‐School Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $31,490,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/20/2018 Hammond Multi‐School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 $33,325,000 ‐ BBB ‐

12/20/2018 Louisiana Local Govt Environmental Fac & CDA LA LCDA Revenue Bonds (Calcasieu Parish Project) Series 2018 $35,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/20/2018 St. Tammany Parish LA St. Tammany Parish Taxable Utilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 $36,415,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/20/2018 San Ramon Valley Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2012, Series 2018 $60,005,000 Aa1 AA+ ‐

12/19/2018 Walhalla, City of SC Water Sewer Rev Bonds, Ser18 $20,620,000 A1 ‐ ‐

12/19/2018 Pinal County AZ Pledged Rev Obligations, Taxable Srs 18 $31,010,000 ‐ AA‐ AA

12/19/2018 Mountain View Shoreline Regional Park Community CA Revenue Bonds, 2018 Series A (Tax‐Exempt) $53,485,000 ‐ A+ ‐

12/18/2018 Louisiana Local Govt Environmental Fac & CDA LA City of Bossier City, LA Project Series 2018 $60,000,000 ‐ AA ‐

12/14/2018 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority VA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Parkwood Apartments) Series 2018 $30,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/13/2018 Fairfax County Redevelopment and Housing Authority VA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Murraygate Village Apartments Project) Series 2018 $20,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/13/2018 Chino, City of CA Community Facilities District No. 2003‐3 IA‐7 2018 Special Tax Bonds $21,070,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/13/2018 Roseville Joint Union High School District CA Election of 2016 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $35,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

12/13/2018 Chandler Unified School District No. 80 AZ SIB, Proj of 15, Srs 18C $52,330,000 Aa1 AA ‐

12/12/2018 Hamilton Southeastern Consolidated School Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $20,705,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐



Dated Date Issuer Name

Issuer 

State Issue Description Par Amount

Moody's 

Rating

S&P 

Rating

Fitch 

Rating

12/12/2018 Mount Dora, City of FL Fire Assessment Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $21,740,000 ‐ A+ AA

12/12/2018 Montgomery, County of, Public Building Authority AL Revenue Warrants (Montgomery County Facilities Project) Series 2018 $29,250,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

12/12/2018 Roseville Joint Union High School District CA School Facilities Improvement District No. 1 Election of 2007 General Obligation Bonds, Series C $38,228,182 Aa3 ‐ ‐

12/12/2018 Central Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds 2016 Election, Series B $42,000,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

12/6/2018 Lafayette, City of  LA Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A $20,175,000 Aa3 AA ‐

12/6/2018 Pasadena Public Financing Authority CA Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A (Rose Bowl Renovation Project) $30,585,000 ‐ AA+ AA

12/6/2018 Menifee Union School District CA 2018 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $36,905,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

12/4/2018 Macon Water Authority GA Tax‐Exempt Adjustable Mode Water and Sewer Refunding and Improvement Revenue , Series 2018B (Variable Rate Demand Obligations$20,070,000 ‐ A‐1+ ‐

12/4/2018 Val Verde Unified School District CA Refunding Certificates of Participation, Series 2018 $32,145,000 ‐ A ‐

12/4/2018 Brownsburg 1999 School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $47,430,000 ‐ A+ ‐

12/1/2018 Harris County Housing Finance Corporation TX Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐Backed Bonds (MTEMS) (The Vireo) Series 2018 (FN) $23,079,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018J (G2) $26,075,073 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/1/2018 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2018F (G2) $28,044,453 ‐ AA+ ‐

11/30/2018 California School Finance Authority CA Equitas Academy Series 2018A $32,600,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

11/29/2018 Colorado State University CO System Enterprise Revenue Bonds Taxable Series 2018A  $30,420,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

11/29/2018 Prince George's, County of MD Special Obligation Bonds (Westphalia Town Center Project), 2018 Series $39,755,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

11/28/2018 New Jersey Housing and Mortgage Finance Agency, State of NJ Multifamily Conduit Revenue Bonds (Villa Victoria Apartments) Series 2018F $24,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

11/28/2018 Millsboro, Town of DE Special Obligation Bonds (Plantation Lakes Special Development District), Series 2018 $39,685,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

11/21/2018 Indianapolis Local Public Improvement Bond Bank IN Local Income Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A (Indianapolis Public Transportation Corporation Project) $26,000,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

11/20/2018 Mobile, Industrial Development Board of the City AL Pollution Control Revenue Bonds (Alabama Power Company Barry Plant Project) Series 2008 REMARKETING 2018 $120,000,000 A1 A‐ A+

11/15/2018 Phoenix Elementary School District No. 1 AZ SIB, Proj 15, Srs 18C $22,530,000 ‐ A+ ‐

11/15/2018 Miami, City of FL Taxable Special Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B $42,620,000 A2 A ‐

11/15/2018 Miami, City of FL Special Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A $57,405,000 A2 A ‐

11/15/2018 Los Angeles, City of CA Wastewater System Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Variable Rate Refunding, Series 2018 C‐2 $64,965,000 ‐ A‐1+ F1+

11/13/2018 Colorado Springs, City of CO Pikes Peak Enterprise Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $30,050,000 ‐ A ‐

11/8/2018 Alamito Public Facilities Corporation TX Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (HACEP RAD Conversion Program ‐ Cramer Three Apartments‐Project) Series 2018 $51,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

11/7/2018 Temecula Valley Unified School District CA 2012 Election General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018‐C $35,335,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

11/7/2018 Upper Illinois River Valley Development Authority IL Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Prairie View and Timber Oaks Apartments Project), Series 2018A‐1 $49,320,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

11/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018I (G2) $42,805,267 ‐ AA+ ‐

10/31/2018 Shasta Union High School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2016, Series 2018 $20,000,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

10/31/2018 Clovis Unified School District CA 2018 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable) $20,710,000 ‐ AA ‐

10/25/2018 Westerville City School District OH Certificates of Participation, Series 2018 $39,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

10/24/2018 Grossmont Union High School District CA 2018 General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016, Series B‐2) $38,490,000 Aa2 ‐ AAA

10/23/2018 Haslett Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $29,440,000 ‐ AA ‐

10/18/2018 William S. Hart Joint School Financing Authority CA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $21,795,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

10/18/2018 San Marcos Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the  CA 2018 Pass‐Through Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (Project Area No. 3 ‐ San Marcos Unified School District) $39,815,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

10/17/2018 Colorado, The Regents of the University of CO University Enterprise Revenue Bonds Series 2018B $64,360,000 Aa1 AA+ ‐

10/11/2018 New Jersey Housing and Mortgage Finance Agency, State of NJ Multifamily Conduit Revenue Bonds (Grace West Apartments Project) Series 2018C $45,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

10/10/2018 Mount Diablo Unified School District  CA 2018 Certificates of Participation $20,000,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

10/3/2018 Cocoa, City of FL Water and Sewer System Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C $20,835,000 ‐ AA ‐

10/3/2018 Cocoa, City of FL Water and Sewer System Revenue Bonds, Series 2018B $37,540,000 ‐ AA ‐

10/3/2018 Westfield High School 1995 Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018B $44,050,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

10/2/2018 Hesperia Community Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the  CA 2018 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series B $41,415,000 ‐ A+ ‐

10/2/2018 Hesperia Community Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the  CA 2018 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series A $70,640,000 ‐ A+ ‐

10/1/2018 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2018E (G2) $28,329,883 ‐ AA+ ‐

10/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018H (G2) $32,537,581 ‐ AA+ ‐

9/27/2018 Riverside Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the City of CA 2018 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series B $40,380,000 ‐ AA ‐

9/27/2018 Riverside Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the City of CA 2018 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series A $74,435,000 ‐ AA ‐

9/25/2018 Capital Trust Agency FL University Bridge, LLC ‐ Student Housing Project, Series 2018A $218,745,000 Ba2 ‐ ‐

9/20/2018 North Montgomery High School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $32,425,000 ‐ A+ ‐

9/18/2018 State of Colorado BEST CO Building Excellent Schools Today Refunding Certificates of Participation, Tax‐Exempt Series 2018L $75,290,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

9/18/2018 State of Colorado BEST CO Building Excellent Schools Today Refunding Certificates of Participation, Tax‐Exempt Series 2018M $95,535,000 Aa2 AA‐ ‐

9/14/2018 Kentucky Housing Corporation KY Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Jefferson Green Apt Project) Series 2018 $30,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

9/13/2018 North Dakota, University of  ND Tax‐Exempt Certificates of Participation, Series 2018A (Green Certificates) $76,575,000 A1 ‐ ‐

9/12/2018 Warner Robins Public Facilities Authority GA Revenue Bonds Series 2018 $34,980,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

9/11/2018 Wadsworth CSD OH School Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2018 $21,310,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

9/11/2018 Connecticut Health and Educational Facilities Authority CT Revenue Bonds, The Taft School Issue, Series K $21,625,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

9/11/2018 Brecksville ‐ Broadview Heights City School District OH School Improvement Bonds, Series 2018 Unlimited Tax General Obligation $44,499,977 Aa2 ‐ ‐

9/11/2018 Gull Lake Community Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds, Series I $47,950,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

9/6/2018 Los Banos Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2018, Series 2018 $23,500,000 A1 ‐ ‐

9/6/2018 Malibu, City of CA Certificates of Participation 2018A $23,665,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

9/5/2018 Trussville, City of AL General Obligation Warrants Series 2018‐A $24,390,000 Aa2 AA+ ‐

9/1/2018 Viridian Municipal Management Dt TX Unlimited Tax Road Improvement Bonds, Series 2018 $20,305,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

9/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018G (G2) $35,912,745 ‐ AA+ ‐

8/23/2018 Sanger Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2016, Series B $20,000,000 ‐ A+ ‐

8/23/2018 Lake Superior State University Board of Trustees MI General Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $21,910,000 ‐ BBB+ ‐

8/23/2018 Hobart Bldg. Corp. IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $39,640,000 ‐ A ‐

8/21/2018 Missouri Housing Development Commission MO Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 A $55,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

8/16/2018 Madera Unified School District CA Certificates of Participation (2018 School Facilities Project) $75,070,000 A2 ‐ ‐

8/15/2018 Peninsula Town Center Community Development Authority VA Special Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2018 $77,880,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

8/9/2018 San Benito High School District CA General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2016) Series 2018 $42,995,856 Aa3 ‐ ‐

8/8/2018 Maryland Heights, the Industrial Development Authority of the City of MO Revenue Bonds (Saint Louis Community Ice Center Project), Series 2018A  $50,150,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

8/2/2018 Romoland School District CA Community Facilities District No. 2004‐1 (Heritage Lake) Improvement Area No. 4 Series 2018 Special Tax Bonds $30,205,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

8/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018F (G2) $32,499,602 ‐ AA+ ‐

7/26/2018 San Rafael City Elementary School District CA Election of 2015 General Obligation Bonds, Series B  $40,000,000 Aa2 AA ‐

7/26/2018 San Rafael City High School District CA Election of 2015 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $60,000,000 Aa2 AA ‐

7/25/2018 Big Walnut Local School District OH School Facilities Construction and Improvement Bonds, Series 2018B $42,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

7/18/2018 Fontana, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A (Jurupa Hills Redevelopment Project) $31,580,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

7/18/2018 California Statewide Communities Development Authority CA Transportation Revenue (Installment Sale) Certificates of Participation, Series 2018B (City of Salinas) $37,500,000 ‐ A+ ‐

7/17/2018 Marana Unified School District AZ School Improvement Bonds, Project of 2014, Series D (2018) $23,890,000 ‐ A ‐

7/10/2018 St. Louis, City of MO Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes, Series 2018 (TRANS) $66,000,000 ‐ SP‐1+ ‐

7/2/2018 Riverside, County of CA 2018 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Note  $340,000,000 ‐ SP‐1+ F1+

6/28/2018 Quincy Schools #172 IL General Obligation School Bonds, Series 2018 $21,510,000 A2 ‐ ‐

6/28/2018 Pattonville School District R‐III MO General Obligation Bonds Series 2018A $23,000,000 ‐ AA ‐

6/28/2018 Placer County Public Financing Authority CA Refunding Revenue Bonds, Senior Series 2018A (mPOWER Placer Program) (Green Bonds) (Federally Taxable) $35,085,000 A2 ‐ ‐

6/28/2018 Roseville Community Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $35,455,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/28/2018 Trenton Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $50,630,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/26/2018 Big Rapids Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $22,025,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/26/2018 Jackson Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site bonds $76,655,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

6/21/2018 Cadillac Area Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site and Refunding Bonds $20,410,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

6/21/2018 Irvine Unified School District CA Community Facilities District No. 09‐1 Special Tax Bonds, Series 2018 A $38,645,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

6/19/2018 Bainbridge Public Facilities Authority, City of GA Revenue Bonds (Decatur County Economic Development Project) Series 2018 $20,470,000 A1 AA ‐

6/19/2018 Etiwanda School District Public Financing Authority CA 2018 Local Agency Revenue Refunding Bonds $29,390,000 ‐ AA ‐

6/13/2018 Hamilton Southeastern Consolidated School Building Corporation IN Bond Anticipation Notes of 2018 $20,000,000 ‐ SP‐1+ ‐

6/7/2018 Elyria, City of OH Various Purpose Bonds, Series 2018 $22,200,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/7/2018 Lucia Mar Unified School District CA Election of 2016 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $50,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

6/6/2018 Santa Monica Financing Authority CA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 (Downtown Fire Station Project) $34,220,000 Aa1 AA+ AA+

6/6/2018 Oakland Redevelopment Successor Agency CA Subordinated Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018‐T (Federally Taxable) $41,765,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

6/5/2018 Rialto, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 2018 (Forward Delivery) $28,480,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

5/31/2018 Gilbert Unified School District No. 41 AZ SIB, Proj 15, Srs 18B $27,810,000 Aa3 AA‐ ‐

5/30/2018 La Canada Unified School District CA Election of 2017 General Obligation Bonds, Series A $30,000,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

5/29/2018 Goodyear, City of AZ Imp Ref, Srs 18 (McDowell Rd Commercial Corridor ID) $34,870,000 Aa3 A ‐

5/24/2018 Saugus Union School District CA (SFID No. 2014‐1) Election of 2014 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $25,600,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

5/24/2018 Greater Jasper School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $27,045,000 ‐ A+ ‐

5/24/2018 Alvord Unified School District CA 2018 General Obligation Refunding Bonds $43,300,000 ‐ A+ ‐

5/17/2018 Evergreen School District CA General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2014), Series 2018  $35,000,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

5/16/2018 Texas Department of Housing & Community Affairs TX Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Springs Apartments) Series 2018 $20,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

5/16/2018 Alamito Public Facilities Corporation TX Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds HACEP RAD Conversion Program (Sandoval Apts & Valle Verde Apts) Series 2018 $25,300,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

5/15/2018 Brownsburg 1999 School Building Corporation IN Bond Anticipation Notes, Series 2018 $24,915,000 ‐ SP‐1+ ‐

5/10/2018 Coalinga‐Huron Joint Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2016, Series B $25,623,719 A1 ‐ ‐

5/10/2018 El Paso County CO Refunding Certificates of Participation, Series 2018 $28,380,000 ‐ AA ‐

5/9/2018 Manhattan Beach, City of, Unified School District CA Election of 2016 General Obligation Bonds Series 2018 A (Measure EE) $39,000,000 Aa1 AA ‐

5/9/2018 Manhattan Beach, City of, Unified School District CA Election of 2016 General Obligation Bonds Series 2018 A (Measure C) $42,000,000 Aa1 AA ‐

5/8/2018 Fort Zumwalt School District MO General Obligation Refunding and Improvement Bonds Series 2018 $40,885,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

5/3/2018 Rohnert Park, Successor Agency to the Community Development Commission CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A $21,350,000 ‐ A+ ‐

4/30/2018 Brentwood, City of MO Certificates of Participation, Series 2018 $43,390,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

4/26/2018 Gulf Shores, City of AL General Obligation Warrants Series 2018‐A $21,820,000 Aa2 AA+ ‐

4/24/2018 Montgomery, City of AL General Obligation Warrants Series 2018 $26,000,000 A1 AA ‐

4/17/2018 Westfield Washington Multi‐School Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018A $39,910,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

4/12/2018 Osborn Elementary School District No. 8 AZ SIB, Proj 17, Srs 18A $23,180,000 ‐ A ‐



Dated Date Issuer Name

Issuer 

State Issue Description Par Amount

Moody's 

Rating

S&P 

Rating

Fitch 

Rating

4/12/2018 Dalton, City of GA General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018 $40,380,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

4/11/2018 Shaker Heights City School District OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Facilities Improvement Bonds, Series 2018A $20,100,000 Aa1 AA+ ‐

4/10/2018 Center Line Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $20,885,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

4/10/2018 Fruitport Community Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds, Series II $27,945,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

3/29/2018 Jefferson City Public Schools MO General Obligation Bonds Series 2018 $45,000,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

3/29/2018 Macon‐Bibb County Housing Authority GA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Hallmark Portfolio) Series 2018 $54,265,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

3/27/2018 Redwood City School District CA General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2015), Series 2018 $67,000,000 Aa2 ‐ AAA

3/27/2018 Miami Valley Career Technology Center OH Various Purpose School Improvement Unlimited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018 $130,055,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

3/21/2018 Wyoming Public Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $30,400,000 ‐ A+ ‐

3/15/2018 Queen Creek Unified School District No. 95 AZ SIB, Srs 18 [Proceeds from 2010, 2014 & 2017 Election Authorizations] $45,215,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

3/15/2018 St. Louis Land Clearance for Redevelopment Authority MO Annual Appropriation Revenue Bonds (Contractual Payments of the City of St. Louis, Missouri ‐ Scottrade Center Project), Series 2018A $53,605,000 ‐ A ‐

3/8/2018 Tolleson Union High School District No. 214 AZ SIB, Proj 17, Srs 18A $59,495,000 Aa1 AA‐ ‐

3/6/2018 Hudson CSD OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Improvement Bonds, Series 2018 $81,550,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

3/1/2018 Utah Housing Corporation UT TEMS Series 2018B (G2) $24,701,012 ‐ AA+ ‐

2/27/2018 North Adams Community Schools Renovation Bldg. Corp. IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2018 $24,260,000 ‐ A ‐

2/22/2018 El Dorado County CA CFD No. 2014‐1 (Carson Creek) Special Tax Bonds, Series 2018 $20,000,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

2/22/2018 Orange County CA Community Facilities District No. 2017‐1, Ser A (Village of Esencia)  $76,950,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

2/21/2018 Royal Oak Schools MI 2018 School Building and Site Bonds $23,725,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

2/16/2018 Alabama Community College System, Board of Trustees for the  AL Gadsden State Community College Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $22,035,000 A1 ‐ ‐

2/7/2018 South Orange County Public Financing Authority CA Special Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds (Ladera Ranch) 2018 Series A $51,940,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

2/1/2018 Stockton Unified School District CA 2018 Refunding Certificates of Participation $30,270,000 ‐ A ‐

2/1/2018 Parker Water and Sanitation District  CO Water and Sewer System Enterprise Revenue Bonds, Series 2018 $36,225,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

2/1/2018 San Jose Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds (Election of 2012), Series 2018E $60,000,000 Aa1 AA ‐

1/31/2018 Denver City and County School District #1 CO General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018A $105,325,000 Aa2 AA+ AA+

1/31/2018 Denver City and County School District #1 CO Taxable General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018B $106,130,000 Aa2 AA+ AA+

1/25/2018 Anaheim, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2018A $107,455,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

1/18/2018 Kansas City Land Clearance for Redevelopment Authority MO Taxable Project Revenue Bonds (Convention Center Hotel Project ‐ CID Special Assessments) Series 2018A $60,405,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

1/18/2018 Kansas City Land Clearance for Redevelopment Authority MO Project Revenue Bonds (Convention Center Hotel Project ‐ TIF Financing) Series 2018B  $63,400,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

1/4/2018 St. Ann, City of  MO Tax Increment Improvement Revenue Bonds (Northwest Plaza Redevelopment Project), Series 2017 $32,625,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Atlanta, Urban Residential Finance Authority of GA Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐backed Bonds (Edgewood Court Apartments Project) Series 2017 $23,143,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/28/2017 California School Finance Authority CA Charter School Revenue Bonds (River Springs Charter School) Series 2017A $23,335,000 Ba1 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Mississippi Home Corporation MS Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Vicksburg RAD Project) Series 2017 $23,500,000 ‐ AA ‐

12/28/2017 Bergen County NJ GO Ref Bonds, Ser 2017 $30,585,000 Aaa ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Lee's Summit MO Special Obligation Tax Increment and Special District Refunding and Improvement Bonds (Summit Fair Project), Series 2017 $33,450,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Dublin San Ramon Services District CA Dublin San Ramon Services District 2017 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds $33,590,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/28/2017 North Ridgeville City School District OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Facilities Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $34,829,286 Aa2 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 State of Colorado, Dept of Higher Ed, by State Board for Community Colleges CO Systemwide Revenue Refunding and Improvement Bonds Series 2017A $34,850,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Peoria, Metropolitan Airport Authority of  IL General Obligation Refunding Airport Bonds (Alternate Revenue Source), Series 2017D $35,020,000 Aa2 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Columbus Multi‐High School Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Crossover Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $49,380,000 ‐ A+ ‐

12/28/2017 Revere LSD OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Facilities Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017C $50,218,332 Aa1 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 Cleveland Hts‐University Hts CSD OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $60,725,000 Aa3 ‐ ‐

12/28/2017 St. Louis, Special Administrative Board of the Transitional School District MO General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $61,945,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/28/2017 DASNY NY Touro College and University System Obligated Group Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 $64,015,000 ‐ ‐ BBB‐

12/27/2017 Lakewood City School District OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B $43,821,803 Aa2 AA ‐

12/27/2017 North Olmsted CSD OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Facilities Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $48,273,668 Aa2 ‐ ‐

12/21/2017 California School Finance Authority CA Charter School Revenue Bonds (Bright Star Schools ‐ Obligated Group), Series 2017 $24,965,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/21/2017 Kyrene Elementary School District No. 28  AZ Ref, Srs 17C $25,085,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

12/21/2017 San Jose Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency  CA 2017 Series A Senior Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds $79,825,000 ‐ AA AA

12/21/2017 Atlanta, City of GA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds (Atlantic Station Project), Series 2017 $85,380,000 A3 BBB ‐

12/21/2017 San Jose Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency  CA 2017 Series B Subordinate Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds $264,390,000 ‐ AA‐ AA‐

12/21/2017 San Jose Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency  CA 2017 Series A‐T Senior Taxable Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds $1,333,325,000 ‐ AA AA

12/20/2017 Sarah Scott Middle School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2017 $20,595,000 ‐ A ‐

12/20/2017 Lake Elsinore School Financing Authority CA Special Tax Revenue Bonds, 2017 Series A $28,690,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/20/2017 Akron, City of OH Community Learning Centers Income Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $36,615,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/20/2017 Scottsdale Unified School District No. 48 AZ SIB, Proj 16, Srs 17B $42,745,000 Aa1 AA ‐

12/20/2017 Downey Public Finance Authority CA Lease Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 $45,415,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/20/2017 Scottsdale Unified School District No. 48 AZ Ref, Srs 17 $47,080,000 Aa1 AA ‐

12/20/2017 Massachusetts Housing Finance Agency MA Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Symphony Plaza Apartments) Series 2017 A $61,000,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/19/2017 San Jose Unified School District CA 2017 General Obligation Refunding Bonds $27,695,000 Aa1 AA ‐

12/19/2017 Fort Wayne Community Schools Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds, Series 2017B $47,550,000 ‐ A+ ‐

12/14/2017 Sacramento County CA County of Sacramento McClellan Park Community Facilities District No. 2004‐1 Special Tax Bonds, Series 2017 $29,470,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

12/14/2017 Temecula Redevelopment Agency CA Taxable Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B $31,795,000 ‐ BBB+ ‐

12/14/2017 Temecula Redevelopment Agency CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A $46,050,000 ‐ BBB+ ‐

12/14/2017 San Marcos Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the  CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 2017 (Taxable) $47,800,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/13/2017 Hudsonville Public Schools  MI 2017 Refunding Bonds $61,255,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/12/2017 San Mateo Union High School District CA 2017 General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Federally Taxable) $41,930,000 Aaa ‐ ‐

12/6/2017 Norco, City of CA Special Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 (CFD No. 2001‐1 Norco Ridge Ranch) $27,005,000 ‐ BBB ‐

12/6/2017 Fontana, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency of the City of CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A $200,315,000 ‐ AA ‐

12/4/2017 Culver City Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency of CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B (Federally Taxable) $23,650,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/4/2017 Culver City Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency of CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017A (Tax‐Exempt) $74,785,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

12/1/2017 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2017J (G2) $26,325,977 ‐ AA+ ‐

12/1/2017 Capital Trust Agency FL Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐Backed Securities (M‐TEMS) (Atlantic Housing Foundation Properties ‐ Arbors of Denton, Arbors of Sa$61,760,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

11/30/2017 St. Louis Industrial Development Authority MO Tax Increment Financing Revenue Bonds (St. Louis Innovation District Project) Series 2017 $22,735,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

11/29/2017 Missouri Housing Development Commission MO Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds (First Place Homeownership Loan Program) 2017 Series C $53,938,946 ‐ AA+ ‐

11/28/2017 Dexter Community Schools MI 2017 School Building and Site and Refunding Bonds $70,615,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

11/22/2017 Illinois Finance Authority IL Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds (Windy City Portfolio Project) Series 2017A‐1 $47,875,000 ‐ A‐ ‐

11/15/2017 Edwardsville CUSD #7 IL General Obligation Refunding School Bonds, Series 2017 $39,520,000 ‐ BBB‐ ‐

11/14/2017 Goodyear, City of AZ GO, Srs 17 $25,015,000 Aa2 AA ‐

11/9/2017 Lake County FL Senior Living Revenue Bonds (Village Veranda at Lady Lake Project), Series 2017A‐1 $28,805,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

11/9/2017 Lebanon Middle School Building Corporation IN Unlimited Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Refunding Bonds, Series 2017B $33,490,000 ‐ A+ ‐

11/9/2017 San Francisco City & County CA CFD No. 2014‐1 (Transbay Transit Center) Special Tax Bonds, Series 2017A (Federally Taxable) $36,095,000 ‐ ‐ AA+

11/9/2017 Hazelwood School District MO General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017 $55,945,000 ‐ A+ ‐

11/9/2017 San Francisco City & County CA CFD No. 2014‐1 (Transbay Transit Center) Special Tax Bonds, Series 2017B (Federally Taxable ‐ Green Bonds) $171,405,000 ‐ ‐ AA+

11/2/2017 Morgan Hill Unified School District CA Election of 2012 General Obligation Bonds, Series B $80,000,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

11/1/2017 Brea Successor Agency CA 2017 Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds (Project Area AB) Series A (Tax‐Exempt) $32,838,802 ‐ AA‐ ‐

11/1/2017 Burbank, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $33,020,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

10/31/2017 St. Louis Industrial Development Authority MO Development Financing Revenue Bonds (Ballpark Village Phase II Project), Series 2017A $107,400,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

10/26/2017 Prairie Center Metropolitan District No. 3 CO Limited Property Tax Supported Primary Improvements Revenue Refunding Bonds Series 2017A $47,095,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

10/25/2017 Pleasanton Unified School District CA General Obligation Bonds, Election of 2016, Series 2017 $70,645,000 Aa2 ‐ AAA

10/24/2017 Louisiana Local Govt Environmental Fac & CDA LA (LCTCS Facilities Corporation Project) Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $88,590,000 ‐ A+ A+

10/19/2017 Howard County MD Special Obligation Bonds (Downtown Columbia Town Center Project) $48,225,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

10/18/2017 Costa Mesa, City of CA 2017 Lease Revenue Bonds $29,735,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

10/17/2017 San Mateo, Successor Agency to the Redevelopment Agency CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, 2017 Series A $21,440,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

10/17/2017 California School Finance Authority CA Charter School Revenue Bonds (Summit Public Schools ‐ Obligated Group) Series 2017 $28,640,000 Baa3 ‐ ‐

10/17/2017 Clovis Unified School District CA 2017 General Obligation Refunding Bonds $43,121,677 Aa2 AA ‐

10/17/2017 MSD of Wayne Township IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2017 $98,170,000 ‐ A+ ‐

10/15/2017 Grand Prairie, City of TX Combination Tax and Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2017 $36,515,000 ‐ AAA ‐

10/11/2017 Walton County Schools FL Certificates of Participation, Series 2017 $36,580,000 A1 ‐ ‐

10/1/2017 Idaho Housing and Finance Association ID TEMS Series 2017H (G2) $20,210,630 ‐ AA+ ‐

10/1/2017 El Paso, City of (Public Service Board) TX Water and Sewer Revenue Improvement and Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $83,880,000 ‐ AA+ AA+

9/28/2017 Lakewood City School District OH General Obligation (Unlimited Tax) School Improvement Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $37,040,000 Aa2 AA ‐

9/28/2017 State Center College District CA Election of 2016, Series A (Measure C) $75,000,000 Aa2 AA ‐

9/28/2017 East Allen County School Building Corporation IN Ad Valorem Property Tax First Mortgage Bonds $76,010,000 ‐ A+ ‐

9/26/2017 Albuquerque Municipal School District No. 12 NM GO Ref Bnds, Srs 17A $48,135,000 Aa1 AA ‐

9/14/2017 Plymouth‐Canton Community Schools MI 2017 Refunding Bonds (General Obligation ‐ Unlimited Tax) $26,655,000 Aa1 ‐ ‐

9/14/2017 Greenon LSD OH Classroom Facilities Unlimited Tax General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017A $29,500,000 A2 ‐ ‐

9/13/2017 Moreno Valley Community Redevelopment Agency, Successor Agency to the  CA Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds, Series 2017 $38,045,000 ‐ AA‐ ‐

9/12/2017 Utah Charter School Finance Authority UT Utah Charter School Finance Authority (The Freedom Academy Foundation Project) Charter School Revenue and Revenue Refunding Bon$54,810,000 ‐ ‐ ‐

9/7/2017 Highland Redevelopment Agency CA Subordinate Tax Allocation Refunding Bonds Series 2017 (Taxable) $33,515,000 ‐ A+ ‐

9/6/2017 Tulsa Airports Improvement Trust, Trustees of the  OK General Airport Revenue Refunding Bonds, Taxable Series 2017 $54,180,000 Baa1 BBB+ ‐

9/1/2017 Westchester IDA NY Multifamily Tax‐Exempt Mortgage‐backed Securities (M‐TEMS) (Maple House Project), Series 2017 (FN) $26,528,000 ‐ AA+ ‐

9/1/2017 Fort Bend Independent School District TX Variable Rate Unlimited Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2017C (Green Bonds)  $45,000,000 ‐ AA+ AA+

9/1/2017 Fort Bend Independent School District TX Variable Rate Unlimited Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2017D $50,000,000 ‐ AA+ AA+



EXHIBIT B
PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED AUGUST ___, 2019.

T
hi

s 
Pr

el
im

in
ar

y 
O

ff
ic

ia
l S

ta
te

m
en

t a
nd

 th
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

co
nt

ai
ne

d 
he

re
in

 a
re

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
an

d 
am

en
dm

en
t. 

 T
he

se
 s

ec
ur

it
ie

s 
m

ay
 n

ot
 b

e 
so

ld
 n

or
 m

ay
 o

ff
er

s 
to

 b
uy

 b
e 

ac
ce

pt
ed

 p
ri

or
 to

 th
e 

ti
m

e 
th

e 
O

ff
ic

ia
l 

St
at

em
en

t 
is

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 i

n 
fi

na
l 

fo
rm

.  
U

nd
er

 n
o 

ci
rc

um
st

an
ce

s 
m

ay
 t

hi
s 

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

O
ff

ic
ia

l 
St

at
em

en
t 

co
ns

ti
tu

te
 a

n 
of

fe
r 

to
 s

el
l 

or
 a

 s
ol

ic
it

at
io

n 
of

 a
n 

of
fe

r 
to

 b
uy

, n
or

 m
ay

 t
he

re
 

be
 a

ny
 s

al
e 

of
 th

es
e 

se
cu

ri
ti

es
 in

 a
ny

 ju
ri

sd
ic

ti
on

s 
in

 w
hi

ch
 s

uc
h 

of
fe

r,
 s

ol
ic

it
at

io
n 

or
 s

al
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
un

la
w

fu
l p

ri
or

 to
 r

eg
is

tr
at

io
n 

or
 q

ua
li

fi
ca

ti
on

 u
nd

er
 th

e 
se

cu
ri

ti
es

 la
w

s 
of

 a
ny

 s
uc

h 
ju

ri
sd

ic
ti

on
.

NEW ISSUE S&P Rating: A+
BOOK ENTRY ONLY See “RATING” herein

In the opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., St. Louis, Missouri, Special Tax Counsel, under existing law and assuming 
continued compliance with certain requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the 
Interest Portion of Basic Rent paid by the County under the Lease (as described in this Official Statement) and distributed to 
the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates (including any original issue discount properly allocable to an Owner thereof) 
(1) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and is not an item of tax preference for purposes 
of the federal alternative minimum tax and (2) is exempt from income taxation by the State of Missouri. The County’s 
obligation to pay Basic Rent under the Lease has not been designated as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” within the 
meaning of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.  See “TAX MATTERS” in this Official Statement.

$21,000,000*

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019A

$28,110,000*

REFUNDING CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019B

Evidencing a Proportionate Interest
in Basic Rent Payments to be Made by

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI
Pursuant to an annually renewable Lease Purchase Agreement

Dated:  Date of Delivery Due:  As shown on the inside cover

Principal of the Series 2019A Certificates will be payable annually on November 1, in the years shown on the 
inside cover page, commencing on November 1, 2020.  Interest on the Series 2019A Certificates is payable 
semiannually on each May 1 and November 1, commencing May 1, 2020.

Principal of the Series 2019B Certificates will be payable annually on April 1 in the years shown on the inside 
cover page, commencing on April 1, 2020.  Interest on the Series 2019B Certificates is payable semiannually on each 
April 1 and October 1, commencing April 1, 2020. 

The Series 2019 Certificates will be payable solely from Basic Rent Payments under the Lease and certain 
money held by The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as trustee under the Declaration of Trust. See 
“SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES” herein.  The County has agreed to pay all Basic Rent due 
under the Lease for each fiscal year, but only if the County Commission annually appropriates sufficient money 
specifically designated to pay the Basic Rent coming due during each succeeding fiscal year.  The obligation to make 
payments will not create a general obligation or other indebtedness of the County within the meaning of any 
constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction.  The delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates will not 
obligate the County to levy any form of taxation therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment in any 
year subsequent to a year in which the Lease is in effect.  

The Series 2019 Certificates are subject to prepayment prior to their stated payment dates under certain 
conditions.  See “THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES - Prepayment Provisions” herein.  The Series 2019 
Certificates will be issued in denominations of $5,000 principal amount, or integral multiples thereof.

The Series 2019 Certificates are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to the 
approval of legality by Gilmore & Bell, P.C., St. Louis, Missouri, Special Tax Counsel, and certain other conditions.  Certain 
legal matters relating to this Official Statement will also be passed upon by Gilmore Bell, P.C., St. Louis, Missouri.  Certain 
legal matters will be passed upon for the County by Sandberg Phoenix & von Gontard P.C., Washington, Missouri. Certain 
legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriter by Thompson Coburn LLP, St. Louis, Missouri. WM Financial 
Strategies has served as municipal advisor to the County on this transaction. It is expected that the Series 2019 
Certificates will be available for delivery through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York, on or about September 4, 
2019.

* Preliminary; subject to change.



The date of this Official Statement is August ___ 2019.



$21,000,000*

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019A

$28,110,000*

REFUNDING CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019B

MATURITY SCHEDULE*

BASE CUSIP:  352875

SERIES 2019A CERTIFICATES

Payment Date 
(November 1)

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate Price

CUSIP 
Extension

2020 $   665,000 % %
2021 860,000
2022 885,000
2023 915,000
2024 940,000
2025 970,000
2026 1,000,000
2027 1,030,000
2028 1,060,000
2029 1,090,000
2030 1,125,000
2031 1,160,000
2032 1,200,000
2033 1,240,000
2034 1,280,000
2035 1,320,000
2036 1,370,000
2037 1,420,000
2038 1,470,000

SERIES 2019B CERTIFICATES

Payment Date 
(April 1)

Principal
Amount

Interest
Rate Price

CUSIP
Extension

2020 $1,515,000 % %
2021 1,905,000
2022 1,970,000
2023 2,030,000
2024 2,090,000
2025 2,170,000
2026 2,240,000
2027 2,310,000
2028 2,390,000
2029 2,460,000
2030 2,550,000
2031 2,630,000
2032 1,850,000

* Preliminary; subject to change.



FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI

400 East Locust Street
Union, Missouri 63084

(636) 583-6359

COUNTY OFFICIALS

County Commissioners
Tim Brinker, Presiding Commissioner

Todd Boland, First District Commissioner
Dave Hinson, Second District Commissioner

Other County Officials
Tim Baker, Clerk of the County Commission

Tom Copeland, Assessor
Tambra Vemmer, Auditor

Doug Trentmann, Collector
Matthew C. Becker, Prosecuting Attorney

Jennifer L. Metcalf, Recorder
Steven M. Pelton, Sheriff
Debbie Aholt, Treasurer

Mary Jo Straatmann, Public Administrator

COUNTY COUNSELOR

Mark C. Piontek, Esq.
Sandberg Phoenix & von Gontard P.C.

Washington, Missouri

TRUSTEE

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
Indianapolis, Indiana

SPECIAL TAX AND DISCLOSURE COUNSEL

Gilmore & Bell, P.C.
St. Louis, Missouri

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

WM Financial Strategies
St. Louis, Missouri 

UNDERWRITER

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated
St. Louis, Missouri

UNDERWRITER’S COUNSEL

Thompson Coburn LLP
St. Louis, Missouri



IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVER ALLOT OR 
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 
SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN 
THE OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY 
TIME.

THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SECURITIES 
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, NOR HAS 
THE DECLARATION OF TRUST BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE ACT OF 1939, IN 
RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS.

No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the County or the Underwriter to 
give any information or to make any representation with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates offered hereby 
other than those contained in this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or 
representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.  This Official 
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor may there be any sale of the 
Series 2019 Certificates offered hereby by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person 
to make such offer, solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from the County and 
from other sources believed to be reliable, but it is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and is not to be 
construed as a representation by the Underwriter.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject 
to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder will, 
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the County since 
the date hereof. 

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN 
EXAMINATION OF THE TERMS OF THIS OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS AND RISKS 
INVOLVED.  THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL OR STATE 
SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY.  FURTHERMORE, THE FOREGOING 
AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE ADEQUACY OF 
THIS DOCUMENT.  ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

This Preliminary Official Statement is in a form deemed final by the County for purposes of Rule 15c2-12 
issued under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except for certain information to be omitted pursuant to 
Rule 15c2-12(B)(1).

______________________________

CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS REGARDING FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

______________________________

Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward-looking 
statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 21E of 
the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the United States Securities Act of 
1933, as amended.  Such statements are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” 
“estimate,” “anticipate,” “projected,” “budget” or other similar words.

THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH 
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND 
OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS 
DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR 
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.  THESE 
FUTURE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES INCLUDE THOSE DISCUSSED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
UNDER THE CAPTION “RISK FACTORS AND INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS.”  NEITHER THE COUNTY 
NOR ANY OTHER PARTY PLANS TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN THEIR EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR 
CIRCUMSTANCES UPON WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE BASED OCCUR.



(i)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page Page

INTRODUCTION...................................................1
Purpose of the Official Statement ......................1
The County.........................................................1
Plan of Financing ...............................................2
Limited Obligations ...........................................2
Risk Factors........................................................3
Additional Parity Obligations ............................3
Continuing Disclosure Information ...................4
Definitions and Descriptions; Inspection of 

Documents...................................................4
THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES ...................4

Description .........................................................4
Book-Entry Only System ...................................5
Prepayment Provisions.......................................7

PLAN OF FINANCING .........................................8
The Project .........................................................8
The Refunding....................................................8
Sources and Uses of Funds ................................9

LEASED PROPERTY............................................9
SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 

CERTIFICATES............................................10
Limited Obligations; Sources of Payment .......10
Proposition P Sales Tax Revenues...................10
Series 2019B Certificates.................................10
Base Lease........................................................11
Maintenance and Insurance of the Leased 

Property .....................................................11
Additional Parity Obligations ..........................12

RISK FACTORS AND INVESTMENT 
CONSIDERATIONS .....................................12
Limited Obligations .........................................12
Expiration or Termination of the Lease ...........13
Delays in Exercising Remedies........................13
Prepayment of Series 2012 Certificates ...........14
Enforceability of Remedies..............................14
No Reserve Fund..............................................14
Construction Risks ...........................................14

Destruction of the Leased Property..................14
Special Use Facility; Limited Term .................15
Amendment of the Declaration of Trust, Lease 

and Base Lease ..........................................15
Taxability .........................................................15
Effect on Tax-Exemption of Termination of 

the Lease....................................................15
Risk of Audit ....................................................15
Loss of Premium from Prepayment .................16
Secondary Markets and Prices .........................16
Investment Ratings...........................................16
Dilution of Security for the Series 2019 

Certificates ................................................16
No Title Policy .................................................16
Other Factors....................................................17

THE COUNTY......................................................17
THE TRUSTEE ....................................................17
RATING.................................................................18
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS..............................18
APPROVAL OF LEGALITY..............................18
TAX MATTERS ...................................................18

Opinion of Special Tax Counsel ......................19
Other Tax Consequences .................................19

ABSENCE OF LITIGATION .............................20
MUNICIPAL ADVISOR......................................21
UNDERWRITING................................................21
MISCELLANEOUS .............................................21

APPENDIX A – General and Economic 
Information Regarding the County

APPENDIX B – Audited Financial Statements 
for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2018

APPENDIX C – Definitions of Words and 
Terms and Summaries of Legal 
Documents



OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$21,000,000*

CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019A

$28,110,000*

REFUNDING CERTIFICATES OF PARTICIPATION
(FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI, LESSEE)

SERIES 2019B

Evidencing a Proportionate Interest
in Basic Rent Payments to be Made by the
FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI

Pursuant to an annually renewable Lease Purchase Agreement

INTRODUCTION

This introduction is only a brief description and summary of certain information contained in this 
Official Statement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the more complete and detailed information 
contained in the entire Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices hereto, and the documents 
summarized or described herein.  A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement.

Purpose of the Official Statement

The purpose of this Official Statement is to furnish information in connection with the offering and 
sale of (1) Certificates of Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, Lessee), Series 2019A, in the aggregate 
principal amount of $21,000,000* (the “Series 2019A Certificates”) and (2) Refunding Certificates of 
Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, Lessee), Series 2019B, in the aggregate principal amount of 
$28,110,000* (the “Series 2019B Certificates” and, together with the Series 2019A Certificates, 
the “Series 2019 Certificates”). The Series 2019 Certificates represent undivided, proportionate interests in 
Basic Rent to be paid by Franklin County, Missouri (the “County”) pursuant to an annually-renewable Lease 
Purchase Agreement dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Original Lease”), as supplemented by the First 
Supplemental Lease Purchase Agreement dated as of November 1, 2018 (the “First Supplemental Lease”) 
and as further supplemented by the Second Supplemental Lease Purchase Agreement dated as of September 1, 
2019 (the “Second Supplemental Lease” and, together with the Original Lease and the First Supplemental 
Lease, the “Lease”) between The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. (the “Trustee”), as trustee 
and lessor, and the County, as lessee.  The Trustee has agreed to execute and deliver the Series 2019 
Certificates pursuant to a Declaration of Trust dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Original Declaration of 
Trust”), as supplemented by the First Declaration of Trust dated as of November 1, 2018 (the “First 
Supplemental Declaration of Trust”) and as further supplemented by the Second Declaration of Trust dated 
as of September 1, 2019 (the “Second Supplemental Declaration of Trust” and, together with the Original 
Declaration of Trust and the First Supplemental Declaration of Trust, the “Declaration of Trust”).  The Basic 
Rent Payments constitute rent for the Leased Property (hereafter defined) pursuant to the Lease.

 
The County

The County is a first-class county and political subdivision of the State of Missouri. It is located in east-
central Missouri, approximately 50 miles southwest of St. Louis, Missouri. The estimated current population of 
the County is 103,670. See “APPENDIX A – GENERAL AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION 
CONCERNING THE COUNTY” attached hereto.

* Preliminary; subject to change.



-2-

Plan of Financing

Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2019A Certificates will be used to (1) pay the costs of the second 
phase of additions and renovations to the existing County public safety facility, including the additions of a new 
jail and a new 911 communications center and renovations to the existing facility for expanded Sheriff 
operations (the “Project”) and (2) pay the costs of executing and delivering the Series 2019A Certificates. For 
more information regarding the Project, see the caption “PLAN OF FINANCING - The Project.” 

Proceeds from the sale of the Series 2019B Certificates will be used to (1) refund all of the outstanding 
Refunding Certificates of Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, Lessee), Series 2012 (the “Refunded 
Certificates”) and (2) pay the costs of executing and delivering the Series 2019B Certificates. For more 
information, see the caption “PLAN OF FINANCING - The Refunding.” 

Pursuant to a Base Lease dated as of September 1, 2012 (the “Base Lease”), the County is leasing to 
the Trustee certain real property located within the County, together with the County’s Government Center, 
Courthouse, Judicial Center, Sheriff’s Offices and Adult Detention Center and any other improvements now or 
hereafter located thereon (collectively, the “Leased Property”).  See the caption “LEASED PROPERTY.” 
Under the Original Lease, the Trustee leased its interest in the Leased Property to the County for an initial term 
ending December 31, 2012, subject to the County’s option to extend the term of the Original Lease for twenty 
(20) consecutive one-year renewal terms commencing January 1, 2013, and a final renewal term commencing 
January 1, 2031 and ending April 2, 2032 (each a “Renewal Term” and collectively, the “Renewal Terms”).  
Each Renewal Term is subject to annual appropriation by the County Commission.  Pursuant to the terms of 
the Second Supplemental Lease, the Original Lease, as amended by the First Supplemental Lease, is amended 
and supplemented to change the amount of Basic Rent (defined herein) payable thereunder and change the 
final Renewal Term to end on November 2, 2038.  Each Renewal Term is subject to annual appropriation by 
the County Commission.

Pursuant to the First Supplemental Declaration of Trust, the Trustee has delivered Certificates of 
Participation (Franklin County, Missouri, Lessee), Series 2018 (the “Series 2018 Certificates”) in the original 
principal amount of $9,925,000 to provide funds to (1) pay a portion of the costs of the 2018 Project (as 
defined in the First Supplemental Lease) and (2) pay the costs of executing and delivering of the Series 2018 
Certificates.  The Series 2019 Certificates are being issued on a parity with the Series 2018 Certificates.  
The Series 2019 Certificates, the Series 2018 Certificates, the Refunded Certificates (until prepaid in full as 
described herein) and any Additional Certificates (as described herein) are equally and ratably secured by the 
Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property. 

The Series 2019 Certificates are payable solely from Basic Rent to be paid by the County under the 
Lease and to the extent received by the Trustee.  

Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, a portion of each Basic Rent Payment will be used to pay interest 
distributable with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates, and a portion of each Basic Rent Payment will be 
used to pay principal distributable with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates.

See the caption “PLAN OF FINANCING” herein.

Limited Obligations

Under the Lease, the County has agreed to pay rental payments (the “Basic Rent”), consisting of a 
principal portion (the “Principal Portion”) and an interest portion (the “Interest Portion”), but only if and to 
the extent that the County Commission annually appropriates sufficient money to pay the Basic Rent coming 
due during each succeeding Renewal Term. The Series 2019 Certificates and the Series 2018 Certificates 
represent undivided, proportionate interests in the Basic Rent.



-3-

Although payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2019A Certificates may be made, 
subject to annual appropriation, from any funds of the County legally available for such purpose, the County 
intends to pay the Series 2019A Certificates from a new one-half of one percent (1/2 of 1%) county-wide sales 
tax for law enforcement and emergency dispatch services (the “Proposition P Sales Tax”) described in 
Appendix A hereto.  SUCH REVENUES ARE NOT PLEDGED AS SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF 
THE SERIES 2019A CERTIFICATES, AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE COUNTY 
WILL APPROPRIATE FUNDS FOR PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2019A CERTIFICATES.  Neither the 
Proposition P Sales Tax nor any other funds or revenues of the County are, or can be, pledged to the payment 
of the Series 2019A Certificates.  The Lease does not require or limit the County to use proceeds of the 
Proposition P Sales Tax to pay Basic Rent.

Although payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2019B Certificates may be made, 
subject to annual appropriation, from any funds of the County legally available for such purpose, the County 
intends to pay the Series 2019B Certificates from the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund and the Road and 
Bridge Fund, which is funded from a one-half of one percent (1/2 of 1%) county-wide sales tax for capital 
improvements (the “Capital Improvement Sales Tax”) described in Appendix A hereto.  SUCH REVENUES 
ARE NOT PLEDGED AS SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2019B CERTIFICATES 
AND THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE COUNTY WILL APPROPRIATE FUNDS FOR 
PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2019B CERTIFICATES.  None of the General Fund, the Capital Projects 
Fund, the Road and Bridge Fund, the Capital Improvement Sales Tax nor any other funds or revenues of the 
County are, or can be, pledged to the payment of the Series 2019B Certificates.  The Lease does not require or 
limit the County to use proceeds of the Capital Improvement Sales Tax to pay Basic Rent.

None of the Series 2019 Certificates, the Series 2018 Certificates, the Lease or any payments required 
under the Lease will constitute a mandatory payment obligation of the County in any year beyond the year 
during which the County is a lessee under the Lease or constitute or give rise to a general obligation or other 
indebtedness of the County.  The County is not legally obligated to budget or appropriate money for any fiscal 
year beyond the current fiscal year or any subsequent fiscal year in which the Lease is in effect, and there can 
be no assurance that the County will appropriate funds to make Basic Rent Payments or renew the Lease after 
any Renewal Term.  The County may terminate its obligations under the Lease on an annual basis.  The 
County will have the option to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property at the times and upon the 
conditions described under “SUMMARY OF THE LEASE - Purchase Option” in Appendix C hereto.

None of the Series 2019 Certificates, the Series 2018 Certificates or the Lease will constitute a debt or 
liability of the County or of the State of Missouri (the “State”) or any political subdivision thereof, nor will 
they constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or 
restriction.  The execution and delivery of the Lease will not obligate the County to levy any form of taxation 
for the payments required thereunder or to make any appropriation for such payments in any fiscal year 
subsequent to a fiscal year in which the Lease is in effect.

Risk Factors

Payment of the Principal Portions and Interest Portions represented by the Series 2019 Certificates is 
subject to certain risks.  See the section captioned “RISK FACTORS AND INVESTMENT 
CONSIDERATIONS” herein.

Additional Parity Obligations

Additional Certificates may be delivered under and be equally and ratably secured by the Declaration 
of Trust on a parity with the Series 2019 Certificates, the Series 2018 Certificates and any other Additional 
Certificates Outstanding, at any time and from time to time so long as no Event of Default or Event of 
Nonappropriation exists, upon compliance with the conditions provided in the Declaration of Trust. See 



-4-

“PLAN OF FINANCING” herein and “SUMMARY OF THE DECLARATION OF TRUST - Additional 
Certificates” in Appendix C hereto.

Continuing Disclosure Information

The County has covenanted in a Continuing Disclosure Agreement to disclose certain financial 
information, operating data and notices of material events in compliance with Rule 15c2-12 (the “Rule”) 
promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  A summary of the Continuing Disclosure 
Agreement is included in Appendix C to this Official Statement.

The County believes it has complied during the past five years with its prior undertakings under the 
Rule, except for the following:

 The County’s operating data for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 was filed 31 days 
late.

 The County’s audited financial statements and operating data for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2015 were filed one day late.

 The County’s audited financial statements and operating data for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2016 were filed one day late.

 The County did not file notice of the late filings described above on a timely basis.

Definitions and Descriptions; Inspection of Documents

All capitalized terms used in this Official Statement not defined in the text hereof are defined under 
“DEFINITIONS OF WORDS AND TERMS AND SUMMARIES OF LEGAL DOCUMENTS” set forth 
in Appendix C to this Official Statement.  Brief descriptions of the Series 2019 Certificates, the Base Lease, 
the Lease, the Declaration of Trust and certain other matters are included in this Official Statement.  Such 
descriptions do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive.  All references herein to the Base Lease, the 
Lease and the Declaration of Trust are qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents, drafts of 
which may be viewed prior to the delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates at the office of the Underwriter, 
__________, __________, __________.  Copies of the final executed documents may be viewed after the 
delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates at the office of the Trustee, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust 
Company, N.A., Corporate Trust Department, 300 North Meridian, Suite 910, Indianapolis, Indiana 46204, or 
will be provided to any prospective purchaser requesting the same, upon payment by such prospective 
purchaser of the cost of complying with such request.  All references to the Series 2019 Certificates are 
qualified in their entirety by the definitive terms thereof and the information with respect thereto included in 
the Base Lease, the Lease and the Declaration of Trust.

THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES

Description

The Series 2019 Certificates will be dated as of the date of original delivery thereof.  The Principal 
Portion of Basic Rent represented by each Series 2019 Certificate will bear interest at specified rates as set 
forth on the inside cover page hereof.  The Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019A 
Certificates will be payable semiannually on May 1 and November 1 of each year, beginning on May 1, 2020 
(the “Payment Dates”). The Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019B Certificates will 
be payable semiannually on April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning on April 1, 2020. The Principal 
Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019A Certificates is payable annually on November 1 of each 
year in the principal amounts set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. The Principal 
Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019B Certificates is payable annually on April 1 of each year 
in the principal amounts set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement.



-5-

The Interest Portion represented by the Series 2019 Certificates is payable by (a) check or draft mailed 
by the Trustee to the address of such Owners shown on the registration books for the Series 2019 Certificates 
(the “Register”) or (b) electronic transfer to such Owner upon written notice given to the Trustee by such 
Owner, not less than 15 days prior to the Record Date for such interest, containing the electronic transfer 
instructions including the name of the bank (which shall be in the continental United States), the bank’s ABA 
routing number and the account name and number to which such Owner wishes to have such transfer directed, 
and an acknowledgement that an electronic transfer fee is payable.  The Principal Portion of Basic Rent and 
prepayment premium, if any, represented by the Series 2019 Certificates is payable (whether at maturity or 
upon prepayment or acceleration) by check or draft to the Owners of such Series 2019 Certificates upon 
presentation and surrender of such Series 2019 Certificates at the designated corporate trust office of the 
Trustee.

Book-Entry Only System

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for 
the Series 2019 Certificates.  The Series 2019 Certificates will be issued as fully-registered securities 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by 
an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity of the 
Series 2019 Certificates, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with 
DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the 
New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a 
member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform 
Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. 
and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 
100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the 
post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited 
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ 
accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants 
include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, 
and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing 
Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation 
and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  DTCC is owned by the 
users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and 
non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or 
maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect 
Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are 
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at 
www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2019 Certificates under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct 
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2019 Certificates on DTC’s records.  The ownership 
interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2019 Certificate (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded 
on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from 
DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing 
details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect 
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests 
in the Series 2019 Certificates are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect 
Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates 
representing their ownership interests in the Series 2019 Certificates, except in the event that use of the book-
entry system for the Series 2019 Certificates is discontinued. 



-6-

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2019 Certificates deposited by Direct Participants with 
DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 2019 Certificates with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial 
ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates; DTC’s 
records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2019 Certificates are 
credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain 
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners 
will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be 
in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Series 2019 Certificates may wish to take certain steps to 
augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates, 
such as prepayments, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the Series 2019 Certificate documents.  
For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2019 Certificates may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the 
Series 2019 Certificates for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the 
alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and request that 
copies of notices be provided directly to them. 

Prepayment notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the Series 2019 Certificates within a 
maturity are being prepaid, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the 
Series 2019 Certificates unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the County as soon as possible after the record 
date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to 
whose accounts Series 2019 Certificates are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the 
Omnibus Proxy). 

Prepayment proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Series 2019 Certificates will be 
made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. 
DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail 
information from the County or the Trustee, on the payment date in accordance with their respective holdings 
shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing 
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer 
form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the 
Trustee, or the County, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to 
time.  Payment of prepayment proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the County or 
the Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates 
at any time by giving reasonable notice to the County or the Trustee. Under such circumstances, in the event 
that a successor depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The Direct Participants holding a majority position in the Series 2019 Certificates may decide to 
discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository). 
In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC. 



-7-

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the County believes to be reliable, but the County takes no responsibility for the accuracy 
thereof.

Prepayment Provisions

Optional Prepayment - Series 2019A Certificates.  The Series 2019A Certificates with stated 
payment dates of November 1, 20___ and thereafter are subject to prepayment on November 1, 20___ and 
thereafter at any time, (1) in whole, if the County exercises its option to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the 
Leased Property and deposits an amount sufficient to effect such purchase pursuant to the Lease on the 
applicable optional Prepayment Date, or (2) in part, if the County prepays Basic Rent pursuant to the Lease.  
Any prepayment of the Series 2019A Certificates pursuant to this paragraph will be at the Prepayment Price of 
100% of the Principal Portion of Basic Rent represented thereby, plus the Interest Portion of Basic Rent 
accrued thereon to the optional Prepayment Date.

Optional Prepayment - Series 2019B Certificates.  The Series 2019B Certificates with stated payment 
dates of April 1, 20___ and thereafter are subject to prepayment on April 1, 20___ and thereafter at any time, 
(1) in whole, if the County exercises its option to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property and 
deposits an amount sufficient to effect such purchase pursuant to the Lease on the applicable optional 
Prepayment Date, or (2) in part, if the County prepays Basic Rent pursuant to the Lease.  Any prepayment of 
the Series 2019B Certificates pursuant to this paragraph will be at the Prepayment Price of 100% of the 
Principal Portion of Basic Rent represented thereby, plus the Interest Portion of Basic Rent accrued thereon to 
the optional Prepayment Date.

Extraordinary Optional Prepayment.  The Series 2019 Certificates will be subject to optional 
prepayment, as a whole, at a Prepayment Price equal to 100% of the Principal Portion of Basic Rent 
represented thereby plus the Interest Portion of Basic Rent accrued to the Prepayment Date, in the event of 
substantial damage to or destruction or condemnation (other than by the County or any entity controlled by or 
otherwise affiliated with the County) of, or loss of title to, substantially all of the Leased Property, or as a 
result of changes in the constitution of the State or legislative or administrative action by the State or the 
United States, the Base Lease or the Lease becomes unenforceable, and the County purchases the Trustee’s 
interest in the Leased Property pursuant to the Lease.  See “SUMMARY OF THE LEASE - Damage, 
Destruction and Condemnation” in Appendix C hereto.

Partial Prepayment of Certificates.  Upon surrender of any Series 2019 Certificate prepaid in part 
only, the Trustee will execute and deliver to the Owner thereof, at the expense of the County, a new Certificate 
or Certificates of the same series and maturity, equal in aggregate principal amount to the unprepaid portion of 
the Series 2019 Certificate surrendered.

Notice of Prepayment.  Unless otherwise provided in the Declaration of Trust, notice of prepayment 
will be given by the Trustee, not more than 60 days and not less than 30 days prior to the Prepayment Date, to 
the County and the Owner of each Series 2019 Certificate affected at the address shown on the registration 
books of the Registrar on the date such notice is mailed.  Each notice of prepayment will state (1) the 
Prepayment Date, (2) the place of prepayment, (3) the Prepayment Price, (4) if less than all, the identification 
of the Series 2019 Certificates to be prepaid, and (5) if a Series 2019 Certificate is being prepaid in part, the 
portion thereof being prepaid.  Such notice will also state that the Interest Portion of the Basic Rent represented 
by the Series 2019 Certificates designated for prepayment will cease to accrue from and after such Prepayment 
Date and that on said date the Prepayment Price will become due and payable on each of said Series 2019 
Certificates.  The failure of the Owner of any Series 2019 Certificate to be so prepaid to receive notice of 
prepayment mailed as herein provided or any defect therein will not affect or invalidate the validity of any 
proceedings for the prepayment of such Series 2019 Certificate.  



-8-

The Trustee is also directed to comply with any mandatory standards then in effect for processing 
redemptions of municipal securities established by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  Failure to 
comply with such standards will not affect or invalidate the prepayment of any Series 2019 Certificate to be 
prepaid. 

The Trustee, as long as a book-entry system is used for the Series 2019 Certificates, will send notices 
of prepayment only to the Securities Depository, as the Owner of the Series 2019 Certificates. Any failure of 
the Securities Depository to advise any of the Participants, or of any participant or any nominee to notify any 
Beneficial Owner of the Series 2019 Certificates, of any such notice and its content or effect will not affect the 
validity or sufficiency of the proceedings relating to the prepayment of the Series 2019 Certificates called for 
prepayment.

Effect of Prepayment.  Notice of prepayment having been duly given as aforesaid, and upon funds for 
payment of the Prepayment Price of such Series 2019 Certificates (or portions thereof) being held by the 
Trustee, on the Prepayment Date designated in such notice, the Series 2019 Certificates (or portions thereof) so 
called for prepayment will become due and payable at the Prepayment Price specified in such notice and the 
Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019 Certificates so called for prepayment will cease 
to accrue, said Series 2019 Certificates (or portions thereof) will cease to be entitled to any benefit or security 
under the Declaration of Trust and the Owners of such Series 2019 Certificates will have no rights in respect 
thereof except to receive payment of the Prepayment Price.  All Series 2019 Certificates prepaid pursuant to 
the provisions of the Declaration of Trust will be cancelled upon surrender thereof and destroyed by the 
Trustee.

PLAN OF FINANCING

The Project

The Project consists of additions and renovations to the existing County public safety facility, including 
the additions of a new jail and a new 911 communications center and renovations to the existing facility for 
expanded Sheriff operations. The total estimated cost of the Project, including contingencies, is $32.7 million. It 
is being funded with approximately $2 million of available County funds, proceeds of the Series 2018 Certificates 
in the approximate amount of $9,814,000, and proceeds of the Series 2019 Certificates in the approximate 
amount of $20,886,000.  

The County has engaged Navigate Building Solutions of St. Louis, Missouri, as construction manager 
for the Project.  The County has engaged FGM Architects of St. Louis, Missouri, as architect for the Project.  The 
County has received construction bids and awarded several contracts for the Project in May 2019. The County 
expects to award additional contracts in June 2019. 

Construction of the new jail and new 911 communications center began in June 2019 and is expected to 
be complete by July 2020. The renovations for the expanded Sheriff operations are expected to begin in 
August 2020 and be complete by December 2021. 

The Refunding

The County will deposit a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2019B Certificates with the Trustee for 
deposit in the Series 2012 Account of the Lease Revenue Fund.  The Refunded Certificates will be called for 
prepayment on October 4, 2019 at a prepayment price of 100% of the outstanding principal amount thereof, 
plus accrued interest to the date of prepayment.  

On the date of delivery of the Series 2019B Certificates, the County will deposit with the Trustee 
proceeds of the Series 2019B Certificates in the amount of $__________, which amount will be sufficient to 



-9-

prepay the principal and interest on the Refunded Certificates becoming due and payable to and including the 
date of prepayment.  

Sources and Uses of Funds*

Series 2019A Certificates.  The following table itemizes the estimated sources of funds and the 
expected uses of such funds, in connection with the financing of the Project:

Sources of Funds:
Net Proceeds of the Series 2019A Certificates ..................................... $21,027,078.95
Plus: Net Project Proceeds of the Series 2018 Certificates ................... 9,814,011.95
Plus: County Contribution.....................................................................     2,000,000.00
Total ..................................................................................................... $32,841,090.90

Uses of Funds:
Project Costs (including contingency funds) ........................................ $32,717,290.00
Costs of Delivery (including Underwriter’s Discount) .........................        123,800.90
Total ...................................................................................................... $32,841,090.90

 
Series 2019B Certificates.  The following table itemizes the estimated sources of funds and the 

expected uses of such funds, in connection with the plan of financing:

Sources of Funds:
Net Proceeds of the Series 2019B Certificates...................................... $28,352,175.55
Plus: County Contribution.....................................................................     451,036.25
Total ..................................................................................................... $28,803,211.80

Uses of Funds:
For Retirement of Outstanding Certificates .......................................... $28,728,553.52
Costs of Delivery (including Underwriter’s Discount) .........................          74,658.28
Total ...................................................................................................... $28,803,211.80

LEASED PROPERTY

The Leased Property consists of the following tracts of land owned by the County upon which the 
following facilities are situated: 

Government Center.  The Government Center is a three-story building with approximately 44,260 
square feet and houses offices for the County Commission, the County Clerk, the County Assessor, the County 
Auditor, the County Collector, the County Recorder and other departments of the County.  The Government 
Center has an insured value of $9,331,874 excluding contents. 

Judicial Center. The Judicial Center is a three-story facility with approximately 40,587 square feet 
and includes five courtrooms with offices for courtroom staff and the circuit clerk’s office. The Judicial Center 
has an insured value of $9,854,721 excluding contents.

Courthouse.  The Courthouse is a three-story facility, including basement, with approximately 24,300 
square feet situated on a 200-foot x 200-foot parcel of land. The Courthouse has an insured value of 
$12,095,459 excluding contents.

* Preliminary; subject to change.



-10-

Sheriff’s Office and Adult Detention Center.  The Sheriff’s Office and Adult Detention Center sits on 
a 24.02-acre site.  The Sheriff’s Office and Adult Detention Center is a one-story building with approximately 
46,540 square feet, which includes a jail with a maximum capacity of 130 prisoners and the emergency 
operations department of the County.  The Sheriff’s Office and Adult Detention Center has an insured value of 
$14,046,340 excluding contents.

SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES

Limited Obligations; Sources of Payment 

Each Certificate evidences the undivided, proportionate interest of the Owner thereof in the right to 
receive Basic Rent to be made by the County under the Lease.  The Certificates are payable solely out of the 
Basic Rent Payments and other money and investments held by the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust.

The County’s obligation to make Basic Rent Payments and other payments under the Lease is subject 
to annual appropriation by the County Commission and will not constitute a debt or liability of the County or 
of the State or any political subdivision thereof.  Neither the Lease nor the Series 2019 Certificates will 
constitute an indebtedness within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction.  
The execution and delivery of the Lease and the Series 2019 Certificates will not obligate the County to levy 
any form of taxation therefor or to make any appropriation for their payment in any fiscal year subsequent to a 
fiscal year in which the Lease is in effect.

Under the terms of the Lease, if the County elects to renew the Lease at the end of any Renewal Term, 
it is obligated to budget, appropriate and set aside a portion of its general revenues derived from property and 
sale taxes and other sources, which appropriation must be sufficient to make the Basic Rent Payments coming 
due during the ensuing fiscal year.  To provide for the timely payment of Basic Rent, the County will pay to 
the Trustee for deposit in the Lease Revenue Fund not less than five Business Days before each Basic Rent 
Payment Date, the amount due on such Basic Rent Payment Date (but only if the County elects to renew the 
Lease for each Renewal Term).  There can be no assurance that the County Commission will appropriate 
funds for Basic Rent Payments or renew the Lease for any subsequent Renewal Term.  The County is 
not legally required to budget or appropriate money for any subsequent fiscal year beyond the current 
fiscal year.

Proposition P Sales Tax Revenues

The Proposition P Sales Tax was approved at an election held on April 3, 2018, by a vote of 10,216 to 
4,439. The County intends to pay the Basic Rent Payments with respect to the Series 2019A Certificates from 
revenues derived from the Proposition P Sales Tax.  The revenues from the Proposition P Sales Tax are not 
pledged or otherwise obligated to be used for the payment of the Basic Rent Payments due under the Lease with 
respect to the Series 2019A Certificates. See “FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE 
COUNTY - Sales Taxes” in Appendix A hereto.

Series 2019B Certificates

The County intends to pay the Series 2019B Certificates from the General Fund, the Capital Projects 
Fund and the Road and Bridge Fund, which is funded from the Capital Improvement Sales Tax discussed further 
below. The General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund and the Road and Bridge Fund are not pledged or otherwise 
obligated to be used for the payment of the Basic Rent Payments due under the Lease with respect to the 
Series 2019B Certificates. See “FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY – The 
General Fund” in Appendix A hereto.



-11-

In April 2007, voters of the County approved the indefinite extension of the one-half of one percent 
(1/2 of 1%) Capital Improvement Sales Tax, so long as such proceeds are used for the purpose of constructing, 
maintaining, and improving roads and bridges currently or formerly owned by the State of Missouri, the 
County or any road district with the County. The County intends to pay the Basic Rent Payments with respect to 
the Series 2019B Certificates in part from revenues derived from the Capital Improvement Sales Tax.  The 
revenues from the Capital Improvement Sales Tax are not pledged or otherwise obligated to be used for the 
payment of the Basic Rent Payments due under the Lease with respect to the Series 2019B Certificates. See 
“FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY - Sales Taxes” in Appendix A hereto.

Base Lease

The County will, pursuant to the Base Lease, lease all its interest in the Leased Property to the 
Trustee, as lessee.  The Base Lease is for a term ending April 1, 2052 (which is approximately 14 years after 
the latest scheduled maturity date of the Series 2019 Certificates), unless sooner terminated if the County 
makes all payments required by the Lease.  If an Event of Default or Event of Nonappropriation occurs under 
the Declaration of Trust or the Lease, the Trustee has the right to possess and use the Leased Property for the 
remainder of the term of the Base Lease, and has the right to sublease or assign its interests under the Base 
Lease upon such terms as it deems prudent.

The proceeds from any assignment of the Base Lease and the Trustee’s rights thereunder or any 
sublease of the Leased Property are required to be paid to the Trustee and applied in accordance with the 
Declaration of Trust.  Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates are cautioned, however, that the nature of 
the Leased Property may impair the Trustee’s ability to assign its interest in the Base Lease or to 
sublease the Leased Property upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or Event of Nonappropriation 
or to obtain an amount therefor that would be sufficient to pay the Principal Portions and the Interest 
Portions represented by all Certificates then Outstanding.  See the caption “RISK FACTORS AND 
INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS - Expiration or Termination of the Lease” herein.

Maintenance and Insurance of the Leased Property

The County has agreed in the Lease, at its own expense, to (1) keep the Leased Property in a safe 
condition, (2) with respect to the Leased Property, comply with all applicable health and safety standards and 
all other industrial requirements or restrictions enacted or promulgated by the State, or any political 
subdivision or agency thereof, or by the government of the United States of America or any agency thereof, 
and (3) keep the Leased Property in good repair and in good operating condition and make from time to time 
all necessary repairs thereto and renewals and replacements thereof; provided, however, that the County will 
have no obligation to operate, maintain, preserve, repair, replace or renew any element or unit of the Leased 
Property the maintenance, repair, replacement or renewal of which becomes uneconomical to the County 
because of damage, destruction or obsolescence, or change in economic or business conditions, or change in 
government standards and regulations.  The County will not permit or suffer others to commit a nuisance in or 
about the Leased Property or itself commit a nuisance in connection with its use or occupancy of the Leased 
Property.  The County will pay all costs and expenses of operation of the Leased Property.

The Leased Property is required to be insured to the extent described in Appendix C hereto under 
“SUMMARY OF THE LEASE - Insurance.” All Net Proceeds from policies of insurance or condemnation 
awards will be applied to the prompt replacement, repair, restoration or modifications of the Leased Property, 
unless the County has exercised its option to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property pursuant to 
the Lease.

If the County determines that the repair, restoration, modification or improvement of the Leased 
Property is not economically feasible or in the best interest of the County, then, in lieu of making such 
replacement, repair, restoration, modification or improvement and if permitted by law, the County will 
promptly purchase the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property pursuant to the Lease.  The Net Proceeds will 



-12-

be applied by the County to the purchase of the Leased Property.  Any balance of the Net Proceeds remaining 
after purchasing the Leased Property will belong to the County.

If the Net Proceeds are insufficient to pay in full the cost of any repair, restoration, modification or 
improvement of the Leased Property and the County has not elected to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the 
Leased Property pursuant to the Lease, the County will complete such replacement, repair, restoration, 
modification or improvement and pay any costs thereof in excess of the amount of the Net Proceeds and the 
County will not be entitled to any reimbursement therefor from the Trustee nor will the County be entitled to 
any diminution of Basic Rent.

Additional Parity Obligations

Additional Certificates may be issued under and be equally and ratably secured by the Declaration of 
Trust on a parity with the Series 2019 Certificates, the Series 2018 Certificates and any other Additional 
Certificates Outstanding, at any time and from time to time while no Event of Default or Event of 
Nonappropriation has occurred and is continuing under the Declaration of Trust upon compliance with the 
conditions provided in the Declaration of Trust. See “SUMMARY OF THE DECLARATION OF TRUST - 
Additional Certificates” in Appendix C hereto.

Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, Additional Certificates may be issued to provide funds to pay the 
costs of (a) repairing, replacing or restoring the Leased Property, (b) improving, upgrading or modifying the 
Leased Property, (c) acquiring additional real property to be included in the Leased Property or the acquisition, 
purchase, construction or equipping of additions to or expansions or remodeling or modification of the Leased 
Property and (d) refunding any or all of the Certificates.

RISK FACTORS AND INVESTMENT CONSIDERATIONS

The purchase of the Series 2019 Certificates involves certain investment risks that are discussed 
throughout this Official Statement.  Each prospective purchaser of the Series 2019 Certificates should make an 
independent evaluation of all of the information presented in this Official Statement in order to make an 
informed investment decision.  Certain risk factors relating to the Series 2019 Certificates are described 
below.

Limited Obligations

Each Certificate evidences the undivided, proportionate interest of the Owner thereof in the right to 
receive Basic Rent to be paid by the County under the Lease.  The Certificates are payable solely from Basic 
Rent and other money and investments held by the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust.  The Basic Rent 
Payments constitute currently budgeted expenditures of the County, payable only if the County Commission 
appropriates sufficient money to extend the term of the Lease for each successive fiscal year. The Initial Term 
of the Lease commenced as of the date of the initial delivery of the Series 2012 Certificates and expired on 
December 31, 2012.   The County has renewed the Lease for one-year terms every year thereafter, with a 
current Renewal Term expiring on December 31, 2019. The Lease is subject to successive one-year Renewal 
Terms commencing on January 1 of each year, with a final renewal term commencing January 1, 2038 and 
ending November 2, 2038.  Each Renewal Term is subject to annual appropriation by the County Commission.

The County Commission has declared its current intention and expectation that the Lease will be 
renewed annually until the County exercises its option to acquire the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property.  
However, such a declaration may not be construed as contractually obligating or otherwise binding the County.  
Accordingly, the likelihood that the County will renew the Lease for all Renewal Terms and continue to pay 
the Basic Rent thereunder to enable the Trustee to timely pay the Principal Portions and Interest Portions of 
Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019 Certificates depends on certain factors that are beyond the control of 



-13-

the Owners, including (1) the County’s continuing need for the Leased Property, (2) the demographic 
conditions within the County, (3) the County’s ability to generate sufficient property taxes, sales taxes and 
charges and revenues from other sources to pay its obligations under the Lease and all other obligations and (4) 
the value of the Leased Property if the Trustee’s interest therein is relet or sold in a foreclosure or other 
liquidation proceeding instituted by the Trustee upon the termination of the Lease as a result of an Event of 
Default or Event of Nonappropriation.

The County’s obligations under the Lease do not constitute indebtedness within the meaning of 
any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or restriction. The Series 2019 Certificates are payable 
from annual appropriations.  While the present County Commission has approved the delivery of the 
Series 2019 Certificates, subsequent members of the County Commission may elect not to budget and 
appropriate moneys to pay Basic Rent under the Lease even if sufficient revenues are available therefor.

Expiration or Termination of the Lease

The Lease will expire by its terms on December 31 during each year until December 31, 2037, with a 
final Renewal Term commencing January 1, 2038 and ending November 2, 2038, unless the County in its sole 
discretion exercises the option provided in the Lease to extend its term for each next succeeding Renewal 
Term.  If in any year the County does not extend the term of the Lease, the County’s obligation to make 
payments will terminate at the end of the then current Renewal Term.  Upon (1) the expiration of any Renewal 
Term during which an Event of Nonappropriation occurs (which is not waived by the Trustee as provided in 
the Lease) or (2) a default under the Lease and an election by the Trustee to terminate the County’s possessory 
interest under the Lease, the County’s right of possession and use of the Leased Property under the Lease will 
expire or be terminated, as appropriate.  See “SUMMARY OF THE LEASE - Events of Default” and “- 
Remedies on Default” in Appendix C hereto.

If the County’s right of possession and use of the Leased Property under the Lease expires or is 
terminated for either of the reasons described in the preceding paragraph, (1) the County’s obligation to make 
payments thereunder will continue through the Renewal Term then in effect, but not thereafter, (2) the 
Principal Portion of Basic Rent that has been appropriated but is then unpaid by the County for the County’s 
then current fiscal year may be declared immediately due and payable, and (3) the Certificates will be payable 
from, among other sources, such money as may be available by way of recovery from the County of the Basic 
Rent Payments that are due through the Renewal Term then in effect.  If the Lease expires at the end of a 
Renewal Term without any extension for the next succeeding Renewal Term or if an event occurs as described 
above pursuant to which the Trustee terminates the County’s right of possession of the Leased Property under 
the Lease, the Trustee may recover possession of the Leased Property and assign the Base Lease and its rights 
thereunder or sublease the Leased Property pursuant to its rights under the Base Lease.  The net proceeds of 
any assignment of the Base Lease or sublease of the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property, together with 
certain other money then held by the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust, are required to be used to pay the 
Certificates to the extent of such money.

Due to the nature of the Leased Property, no assurance can be given that the Trustee could 
assign the Base Lease and its rights thereunder or sublease the Leased Property for the amount 
necessary (after taking into account money legally available from other sources) to pay in full the 
Principal Portions and Interest Portions of Basic Rent then due with respect to the Series 2019 
Certificates.  Furthermore, no assurance can be given that the amount, if any, realized upon any 
assignment or sublease of the Trustee’s interest in the Leased Property will be available to provide for 
the payment of the Series 2019 Certificates on a timely basis.

Delays in Exercising Remedies

A termination of the Lease will give the Trustee the right to possession and use of the Leased 
Property, and the right to assign the Base Lease and its rights thereunder or to sublease the Leased Property, all 



-14-

in accordance with the provisions of the Base Lease, the Lease and the Declaration of Trust.  However, the 
enforceability of the Lease and the Declaration of Trust is subject to applicable bankruptcy laws, equitable 
principles affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and liens securing such rights, the exercise of 
judicial authority by State or federal courts and the exercise by the United States of America of the powers 
delegated to it by the U.S. Constitution.

Any delays in the ability of the Trustee to obtain possession of the Leased Property will, of necessity, 
result in delays in any payment of Principal Portions and Interest Portions of Basic Rent represented by the 
Series 2019 Certificates.  

Prepayment of Series 2012 Certificates

On the date of delivery of the Series 2019B Certificates, the County will deposit proceeds of the 
Series 2019B Certificates with the Trustee, which amount will be sufficient to prepay the principal and interest 
on the Refunded Certificates becoming due and payable to and including the date of prepayment. The 
Refunded Certificates will continue to be secured by the Leased Property until paid in full.

Enforceability of Remedies

The enforceability of the Lease and the Declaration of Trust is subject to applicable bankruptcy laws, 
equitable principles affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and liens securing such rights, the 
exercise of judicial authority by State of Missouri or federal courts and the exercise by the United States of 
America of the powers delegated to it by the U.S. Constitution.  There can be no assurance that (1) a court, in 
the exercise of judicial discretion, would enforce the remedies afforded by the Lease in a timely manner, or 
(2) any money realized by the Trustee upon an exercise of any remedies would be sufficient to pay in full the 
Principal Portions and the Interest Portions of Basic Rent represented by the Certificates.

No Reserve Fund

The County has not established a reserve fund to secure the payment of the Principal Portions and 
Interest Portions of the Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019 Certificates.  There is no assurance that the 
County will have funds available for the timely payment of the Principal Portions and Interest Portions of the 
Basic Rent.  

Construction Risks  

Weather, labor disputes, availability of materials and supplies, casualty damages, unanticipated 
subsoil conditions, unanticipated construction difficulties and other “force majeure” occurrences or events or 
financial failure or failure to perform by a contractor, subcontractor or supplier may affect the timely 
construction and renovation of the Project.  

Destruction of the Leased Property

The Lease requires the Leased Property to be insured as described in “SUMMARY OF THE LEASE 
- Insurance” in Appendix C hereto.  If the Leased Property is damaged or destroyed, the County is 
nevertheless required to continue to make Basic Rent Payments under the Lease, subject to the exercise of its 
option to extend the term of the Lease for each next succeeding Renewal Term and to apply Net Proceeds from 
insurance and certain other sources to repair, restore, modify, improve or replace the affected portion of the 
Leased Property.  If the Net Proceeds are insufficient to pay in full the cost of any repair, restoration, 
modification or improvement and the County has not elected to purchase the Trustee’s interest in the Leased 
Property, the County will complete such replacement, repair, restoration, modification or improvement and pay 
any costs thereof in excess of the amount of the Net Proceeds.



-15-

There can be no assurance either as to the adequacy of or timely payment under property damage 
insurance in effect at that time or that the County will elect to extend the term of the Lease for the next 
Renewal Term succeeding such damage or destruction.  See “SUMMARY OF THE LEASE - Damage, 
Destruction and Condemnation” in Appendix C hereto.

Special Use Facility; Limited Term

Although the Trustee has the right under the Declaration of Trust and the Lease to take possession and 
relet the Leased Property for the remaining term of the Base Lease upon the occurrence of an Event of Default 
or an Event of Nonappropriation, no assurance can be made that the Leased Property as a whole could generate 
sufficient revenues to pay the Principal Portion and Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the 
Certificates upon the exercise of such remedy by the Trustee.  The Base Lease extends only to April 1, 2052. 
There can be no assurance, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default or an Event of Nonappropriation, that 
the then remaining term of the Base Lease would permit the Trustee to relet the Leased Property for sufficient 
revenues to pay the Principal Portion and Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Certificates upon 
the exercise of such remedy by the Trustee.

Amendment of the Declaration of Trust, Lease and Base Lease

Certain amendments to the Declaration of Trust, the Lease and the Base Lease may be made with 
consent of the Owners of not less than a majority in principal amount of the Certificates (including the 
Series 2018 Certificates, the Series 2019 Certificates and any Additional Certificates that may be hereafter 
delivered) then Outstanding affected by such amendments.  Such amendments may adversely affect the security 
of the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates.

Taxability

The Series 2019 Certificates are not subject to prepayment nor are the interest rates on the Series 2019 
Certificates subject to adjustment in the event of a determination by the Internal Revenue Service 
(the “Service”) or a court of competent jurisdiction that the Interest Portion of Basic Rent paid or to be paid on 
any Series 2019 Certificate is or was includible in the gross income of the Certificate Owner for federal 
income tax purposes.  Under such circumstances, Owners of Series 2019 Certificates would continue to hold 
their Series 2019 Certificates, receiving the Principal Portion and Interest Portion of Basic Rent as and when 
due, but would be required to include the Interest Portion of Basic Rent in gross income for federal and 
Missouri income tax purposes.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein.

Effect on Tax-Exemption of Termination of the Lease

Special Tax Counsel is not rendering an opinion with respect to the tax-exempt status of the Interest 
Portion of Basic Rent distributable to the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates subsequent to the termination 
of the Lease for any reason (including an Event of Default or an Event of Nonappropriation under the Lease).  
If the Lease is terminated while the Series 2019 Certificates are Outstanding, there is no assurance that 
payments made to Series 2019 Certificate Owners after such termination with respect to interest will be 
excluded from gross income of the Owners thereof for federal or Missouri income tax purposes.  See “TAX 
MATTERS” herein.

Risk of Audit

The Service has established an ongoing program to audit tax-exempt obligations to determine whether 
interest on such obligations should be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes. No assurance 
can be given that the Service will not commence an audit of the Series 2019 Certificates. Owners of the 
Series 2019 Certificates are advised that, if an audit of the Series 2019 Certificates were commenced, in 
accordance with its current published procedures, the Service is likely to treat the County as the taxpayer, and 



-16-

the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates may not have a right to participate in such audit.  Public awareness 
of any audit could adversely affect the market value and liquidity of the Series 2019 Certificates during the 
pendency of the audit, regardless of the ultimate outcome of the audit.

Loss of Premium from Prepayment

Any person who purchases a Series 2019 Certificate at a price in excess of its principal amount or who 
holds such Series 2019 Certificate trading at a price in excess of par should consider the fact that the 
Series 2019 Certificates are subject to prepayment prior to maturity at the prepayment prices described herein 
in the event such Series 2019 Certificates are prepaid prior to maturity.  See “THE SERIES 2019 
CERTIFICATES - Prepayment Provisions” herein.

Secondary Markets and Prices

The Series 2019 Certificates are not readily liquid, and no person should invest in the Series 2019 
Certificates with funds such person may need to convert readily into cash.  Owners of the Series 2019 
Certificates should be prepared to hold their Series 2019 Certificates to the stated maturity date.  The 
Underwriter will not be obligated to repurchase any of the Series 2019 Certificates, and no representation is 
made concerning the existence of any secondary market for the Series 2019 Certificates.  No assurance can be 
given that any secondary market will develop following the completion of the offering of the Series 2019 
Certificates as no assurance can be given that the initial offering price for the Series 2019 Certificates will 
continue for any period of time.

Investment Ratings 

The lowering or withdrawal of the investment rating initially assigned to the Series 2019 Certificates 
could adversely affect the market price for and the marketability of the Series 2019 Certificates.

Dilution of Security for the Series 2019 Certificates 

The Declaration of Trust permits the issuance of Additional Certificates payable from the Trust Estate 
on a parity with the pledge of the Trust Estate to the payment of the Series 2019 Certificates and the 
Series 2018 Certificates.  See “SECURITY FOR THE SERIES 2019 CERTIFICATES - Additional Parity 
Obligations.”  The issuance of Additional Certificates payable from the Trust Estate on a parity with the 
pledge of the Trust Estate to the payment of the Series 2019 Certificates and the Series 2018 Certificates may 
dilute the security for the Series 2019 Certificates and the Series 2018 Certificates by increasing debt service 
obligations under the Declaration of Trust without a concomitant increase in the security for the Series 2019 
Certificates and the Series 2018 Certificates.

No Title Policy

The County has obtained an informational title commitment from a title insurance company 
(the “Title Report”) showing the liens and encumbrances on the Leased Property.  The County believes none 
of the encumbrances would adversely affect the marketability of the Leased Property if the Trustee were to 
recover possession of the Leased Property under the Lease and Declaration of Trust.  The County will not 
obtain a title insurance policy with respect to the Leased Property in connection with the issuance of the 
Series 2019 Certificates.  There could be liens or encumbrances not shown on the Title Report that would 
adversely affect the marketability of the Leased Property following the Trustee’s recovery of possession of the 
Leased Property under the Lease and Declaration of Trust, and no title insurance company would have liability 
thereon. A title policy with respect to the Leased Property was obtained in connection with the issuance of the 
Refunded Certificates.



-17-

Other Factors

One or more of the following factors or events could adversely affect the County’s operations and 
financial performance to an extent that cannot be determined at this time:

1. Changes in Administration.  Future changes in key management personnel could affect the 
capability of the management of the County.

2. Future Economic Conditions.  Adverse economic conditions or changes in demographics in the 
County, including increased unemployment and inability to control expenses in periods of 
inflation, could adversely impact the County’s financial condition.

3. Insurance Claims.  Increases in the cost of general liability insurance coverage and the amounts 
paid in settlement of liability claims not covered by insurance could adversely impact the 
County’s financial performance.

4. Environmental Hazards.  The County has covenanted in the Lease to comply with all applicable 
environmental laws.  No environmental studies have been performed with respect to the Leased 
Property.  The County is not aware of any environmental condition of the Leased Property that 
requires any present remedial action.  The discovery of such a condition may adversely affect the 
County’s willingness to renew the Lease after the expiration of any Renewal Term.

THE COUNTY

The County is a first-class county and political subdivision of the State of Missouri. It is located in east-
central Missouri, approximately 50 miles southwest of St. Louis, Missouri. The estimated current population of 
the County is 103,670. For more information on the County, see Appendix A hereto.

THE TRUSTEE

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., a national banking association organized and 
existing under the laws of the United States of America, will be the Trustee under the Declaration of Trust and 
lessor under the Lease.  The Trustee may consult with counsel, and the opinion of such counsel will be full and 
complete authorization and protection with respect to any action taken or suffered by the Trustee in good faith 
in accordance with such opinion.  The Trustee may execute any trusts or powers or perform the duties required 
by the Declaration of Trust or the Lease by or through attorneys, agents or receivers and will not be answerable 
for the default or misconduct of any such attorney, agent or receiver selected by it in good faith.

The Series 2019 Certificates are executed by the Trustee, not individually or personally but solely as 
Trustee under the Declaration of Trust, in the exercise of the power and authority conferred upon and invested 
in it as such Trustee.  Except for its negligence or willful misconduct, nothing contained in the Declaration of 
Trust or the Lease is to be construed as creating any liability on the Trustee, individually or personally, to 
perform any covenant either express or implied in the Series 2019 Certificates, the Declaration of Trust or the 
Lease, all such liability, if any, being expressly waived by the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates by the 
acceptance thereof and by each and every person now or hereafter claiming by, through or under the Trustee or 
the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates.  Insofar as the County is concerned, the Trustee and the Owner of 
any Series 2019 Certificate and any person claiming by, through or under the Trustee or the Owner of any 
Series 2019 Certificate may look solely to the Trust Estate described in the Declaration of Trust for payment of 
the interests evidenced by the Series 2019 Certificates.



-18-

As security for the compensation, expenses, disbursements and indemnification to which it is entitled 
upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Declaration of Trust, the Trustee will have a first lien 
with right of payment prior to payment on account of any Principal Portion or Interest Portion of Basic Rent 
with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates for such compensation, expenses, disbursements and 
indemnification.

RATING

S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P Global Inc. (the “Rating Agency”), has assigned the 
Series 2019 Certificates a rating of “A+.”  Any explanation of the significance of such rating may only be 
obtained from the Rating Agency.  Certain information and materials not included in this Official Statement 
were furnished to the Rating Agency concerning the Series 2019 Certificates.  Generally, rating agencies base 
their ratings on such information and materials and on investigations, studies and assumptions by the rating 
agencies.  There is no assurance that the rating mentioned above will remain for any given period of time or 
that such rating might not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by the Rating Agency if, in its judgment, 
circumstances so warrant.  Neither the Underwriter nor the County (except as provided in the Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement) has undertaken any responsibility to bring to the attention of the Owners of the 
Series 2019 Certificates any proposed revision or withdrawal of a rating on the Series 2019 Certificates.  Any 
such downward change in or withdrawal of such rating might have an adverse effect on the market price for 
and marketability of the Series 2019 Certificates.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The County’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 are set forth in 
Appendix B hereto.

APPROVAL OF LEGALITY

Legal matters incident to the authorization, delivery and sale of the Series 2019 Certificates are 
subject to the approving legal opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., St. Louis, Missouri, Special Tax Counsel. 
Gilmore & Bell, P.C., will also pass upon certain matters relating to this Official Statement.  Certain legal 
matters will be passed upon for the County by Sandberg Phoenix & von Gontard P.C. Certain legal matters 
will be passed upon for the Underwriter by its counsel, Thompson Coburn LLP, St. Louis, Missouri.  

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates 
express the professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly 
addressed therein.  By rendering a legal opinion, the opinion giver does not become an insurer or guarantor of 
that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of parties 
to such transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may 
arise out of the transaction.

TAX MATTERS

The following is a summary of the material federal and State of Missouri income tax consequences of 
holding and disposing of the Series 2019 Certificates.  This summary is based upon laws, regulations, rulings 
and judicial decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change (possibly on a retroactive basis).  This 
summary does not discuss all aspects of federal income taxation that may be relevant to investors in light of 
their personal investment circumstances or describe the tax consequences to certain types of owners subject to 
special treatment under the federal income tax laws (for example, dealers in securities or other persons who do 



-19-

not hold the Series 2019 Certificates as a capital asset, tax-exempt organizations, individual retirement 
accounts and other tax deferred accounts, and foreign taxpayers), and, except for the income tax laws of the 
State of Missouri, does not discuss the consequences to an owner under any state, local or foreign tax laws.  
The summary does not deal with the tax treatment of persons who purchase the Series 2019 Certificates in the 
secondary market.  Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding federal, state, 
local and other tax considerations of holding and disposing of the Series 2019 Certificates.

Opinion of Special Tax Counsel

In the opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., Special Tax Counsel to the County, under the law existing as 
of the delivery date of the Series 2019 Certificates:

Federal and Missouri Tax Exemption.  The Interest Portion of Basic Rent paid by the County and 
distributed to the Owners of the Series 2019 Certificates (including any original issue discount properly 
allocable to an Owner thereof) is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt 
from income taxation by the State of Missouri.

Alternative Minimum Tax.  The Interest Portion of Basic Rent received with respect to the 
Series 2019 Certificates is not an item of tax preference for purposes of computing the federal alternative 
minimum tax.

Bank Qualification.   The County’s obligation to pay Basic Rent under the Lease has not been 
designated as a “qualified tax-exempt obligation” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code.

Special Tax Counsel’s opinions are provided as of the date of the initial delivery of the Series 2019 
Certificates, subject to the condition that the County comply with all requirements of the Code that must be 
satisfied subsequent to the delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates in order that the Interest Portion of Basic 
Rent be, or continue to be, excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The County has 
covenanted to comply with all such requirements.  Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may 
cause the inclusion of the Interest Portion of Basic Rent represented by the Series 2019 Certificates in gross 
income for federal and Missouri income tax purposes retroactive to the date of delivery of the Series 2019 
Certificates.  Special Tax Counsel is expressing no opinion regarding other federal, state or local tax 
consequences arising with respect to the Series 2019 Certificates but has reviewed the discussion under the 
heading “TAX MATTERS.”

Other Tax Consequences

Original Issue Discount.  For federal income tax purposes, original issue discount is the excess of the 
stated prepayment price at maturity of a Series 2019 Certificate over its issue price.  The issue price of a 
Series 2019 Certificate is generally the first price at which a substantial amount of the Series 2019 Certificates 
of that maturity have been sold to the public.  Under Section 1288 of the Code, original issue discount on tax-
exempt bonds accrues on a compound basis.  The amount of original issue discount that accrues to an owner of 
a Series 2019 Certificate during any accrual period generally equals (1) the issue price of that Series 2019 
Certificate, plus the amount of original issue discount accrued in all prior accrual periods, multiplied by (2) the 
yield to maturity on that Series 2019 Certificate (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each 
accrual period and properly adjusted for the length of the accrual period), minus (3) any interest payable on 
that Series 2019 Certificate during that accrual period.  The amount of original issue discount accrued in a 
particular accrual period will be considered to be received ratably on each day of the accrual period, will be 
excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes, and will increase the owner’s tax basis in that 
Series 2019 Certificate.  Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors concerning the calculation 
and accrual of original issue discount.



-20-

Original Issue Premium.  For federal income tax purposes, premium is the excess of the issue price of 
a Series 2019 Certificate over its stated redemption price at maturity.  The issue price of a Series 2019 
Certificate is generally the first price at which a substantial amount of the Series 2019 Certificates of that 
maturity have been sold to the public.  Under Section 171 of the Code, premium on tax-exempt bonds 
amortizes over the term of the Series 2019 Certificate using constant yield principles, based on the purchaser’s 
yield to maturity.  As premium is amortized, the owner’s basis in the Series 2019 Certificate and the amount of 
tax-exempt interest received will be reduced by the amount of amortizable premium properly allocable to the 
owner, which will result in an increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for federal income 
tax purposes on sale or disposition of the Series 2019 Certificate prior to its maturity.  Even though the 
owner’s basis is reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed.  Prospective investors should consult 
their own tax advisors concerning the calculation and accrual of certificate premium.

Sale, Exchange or Retirement of Series 2019 Certificates.  Upon the sale, exchange or retirement 
(including prepayment) of a Series 2019 Certificate, an owner of the Series 2019 Certificate generally will 
recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference between the amount of cash and the fair market 
value of any property received on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Series 2019 Certificate (other than in 
respect of accrued and unpaid interest) and such owner’s adjusted tax basis in the Series 2019 Certificate.  To 
the extent a Series 2019 Certificate is held as a capital asset, such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and 
will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Series 2019 Certificate has been held for more than 12 months at 
the time of sale, exchange or retirement.

Reporting Requirements.  In general, information reporting requirements will apply to certain 
payments of principal, interest and premium paid on the Series 2019 Certificates, and to the proceeds paid on 
the sale of the Series 2019 Certificates, other than certain exempt recipients (such as corporations and foreign 
entities).  A backup withholding tax will apply to such payments if the owner fails to provide a taxpayer 
identification number or certification of foreign or other exempt status or fails to report in full dividend and 
interest income.  The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to an owner will be allowed as a 
credit against the owner’s federal income tax liability.

Collateral Federal Income Tax Consequences.  Prospective purchasers of the Series 2019 
Certificates should be aware that ownership of the Series 2019 Certificates may result in collateral federal 
income tax consequences to certain taxpayers, including, without limitation, financial institutions, property and 
casualty insurance companies, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, certain 
S corporations with “excess net passive income,” foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax, life 
insurance companies, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to 
purchase or carry or have paid or incurred certain expenses allocable to the Series 2019 Certificates.  Special 
Tax Counsel expresses no opinion regarding these tax consequences.  Purchasers of Series 2019 Certificates 
should consult their tax advisors as to the applicability of these tax consequences and other federal income tax 
consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series 2019 Certificates, including the possible 
application of state, local, foreign and other tax laws.

ABSENCE OF LITIGATION

There is not now pending or, to the County’s knowledge, threatened any litigation (a) seeking to 
restrain or enjoin the issuance and delivery of the Series 2019 Certificates, (b) challenging the proceedings or 
authority under which the Series 2019 Certificates are to be issued, (c) materially affecting the security for the 
Series 2019 Certificates, (d) challenging or threatening the County’s powers to enter into or carry out the 
transactions contemplated by the Declaration of Trust, the Lease, the Base Lease and this Official Statement, 
or (e) which would otherwise materially adversely affect the County’s financial condition or its ability to make 
Basic Rent Payments to be paid on the Series 2019 Certificates.  



-21-

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR

WM Financial Strategies, St. Louis, Missouri (the “Municipal Advisor”), is a registered Municipal 
Advisor with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the MSRB.  The Municipal Advisor is employed 
by the County to render certain professional services, including advising the County on a plan of financing.  
The Municipal Advisor has not undertaken an independent investigation into the accuracy of the information 
presented in this Official Statement and does not guaranty, warrant or represent the accuracy or completeness 
of the information contained in this Official Statement.

UNDERWRITING

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, St. Louis, Missouri (the “Underwriter”) has agreed, 
subject to certain conditions, to purchase the Series 2019A Certificates at a price of $__________ (which 
equals the principal amount of the Series 2019A Certificates, plus a net original issue premium of 
$__________ and less an underwriter’s discount of $__________) and the Series 2019B Certificates at a price 
of $__________ (which equals the principal amount of the Series 2019B Certificates, plus a net original issue 
premium of $__________ and less an underwriter’s discount of $__________).  The Series 2019 Certificates 
may be offered and sold to certain dealers and others at prices lower than the initial public offering price, and 
such initial offering price may be changed from time to time.  The Underwriter is purchasing the Series 2019 
Certificates for resale in the normal course of the Underwriter’s business activities.  The Underwriter reserves 
the right to offer any of the Series 2019 Certificates to one or more purchasers on such terms and conditions 
and at such price or prices as the Underwriter, in its discretion, determines.

MISCELLANEOUS

References herein to the Declaration of Trust, the Base Lease, the Lease and certain other matters are 
brief discussions of certain provisions thereof.  Such discussions do not purport to be complete, and reference 
is made to such documents for full and complete statements of such provisions.

Any statement made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, whether 
or not expressly so stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no representation is made 
that any of the estimates will be realized.  The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to 
change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, 
under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information presented 
herein since the date hereof.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between 
the County and the Underwriter and the purchaser or Owners of any Series 2019 Certificates.

The form of this Official Statement and its distribution and use by the Underwriter have been 
approved by the County.

FRANKLIN COUNTY, MISSOURI

By:  
        Presiding Commissioner



APPENDIX A

GENERAL AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION REGARDING THE COUNTY



B-1

APPENDIX B

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 

The financial statements presented within this Appendix have been extracted from the County’s 
comprehensive annual financial report for the year ended December 31, 2018. The report includes 
supplemental information and the auditor’s report which are not included herein. The financial statements of 
the County are prepared in conformance with generally accepted accounting principles. Copies of the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, in its entirety, and the County’s budget for the 2019 fiscal year are 
available from the County at https://www.franklinmo.org/auditor

INDEX

Statement of Net Position............................................................................................... B-2

Statement of Activities ................................................................................................... B-3

Balance Sheet- Governmental Funds ............................................................................. B-4

Reconciliation of Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Net Position..................................................................................... B-5

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
In Fund Balances – Governmental Funds ..................................................................... B-6

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 
In Fund Balances of Government Funds to the Statement of Activities ........................ B-7

Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Fund................................................................ B-8

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change
In Fund Net Position – Proprietary Fund ....................................................................... B-9

Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Fund................................................................. B-10

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets – Fiduciary Funds ................................................... B-11

Notes to Financial Statements ........................................................................................ B-12

Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
In Fund Balance – Budget and Actual – General Fund.................................................. B-38

Notes to Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – 
Budget and Actual .......................................................................................................... B-40

Schedule of Pension Contributions - CERF................................................................... B-41

Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios – 
CERF.............................................................................................................................. B-42

Schedule of Pension Contributions - LAGERS ............................................................. B-43

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - LAGERS............. B-44



APPENDIX C

DEFINITIONS OF WORDS AND TERMS AND
SUMMARIES OF LEGAL DOCUMENTS



(i)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE

GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY ................................................................A-1
General........................................................................................................................................................A-1
Type of Government ...................................................................................................................................A-1
Employees...................................................................................................................................................A-1
Pension Plans ..............................................................................................................................................A-2
Risk Management .......................................................................................................................................A-3
Public Safety ...............................................................................................................................................A-3
Transportation.............................................................................................................................................A-3
Educational Institutions and Facilities ........................................................................................................A-3
Medical and Health Facilities .....................................................................................................................A-4
Recreation and Tourism..............................................................................................................................A-4
Employment................................................................................................................................................A-4
Housing.......................................................................................................................................................A-5
Demographic Statistics ...............................................................................................................................A-5

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY .............................................................A-6
Accounting, Budgeting and Auditing Procedures ......................................................................................A-6
The General Fund .......................................................................................................................................A-8
Projected Operating Results......................................................................................................................A-10
Sources of Revenue. .................................................................................................................................A-10
Sales Taxes. ..............................................................................................................................................A-10
Property Tax. ............................................................................................................................................A-11

DEBT STRUCTURE OF THE COUNTY ..................................................................................................A-11
Debt Ratios and Related Information .......................................................................................................A-11
General Obligation Indebtedness..............................................................................................................A-11
Overlapping General Obligation Indebtedness.........................................................................................A-12
Lease Obligations of the County ..............................................................................................................A-12
Other Obligations of the County...............................................................................................................A-14
Future Debt ...............................................................................................................................................A-14
History of Debt Payment ..........................................................................................................................A-15

PROPERTY TAX INFORMATION ...........................................................................................................A-15
Property Valuations ..................................................................................................................................A-15
County Tax Rates......................................................................................................................................A-16
Tax Collection Record ..............................................................................................................................A-16
Major Property Taxpayers ........................................................................................................................A-17



A-1

GENERAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY

General

Franklin County (the “County”) is located in east-central Missouri, approximately 50 miles southwest 
of St. Louis, Missouri. The County is in the St. Louis Metropolitan Statistical Area (the “St. Louis MSA”). 
The County encompasses approximately 922 square miles and had a 2018 population of 103,670, according to 
an unofficial estimate of the U.S. Census Bureau.  The County seat is the City of Union, Missouri and there are 
13 municipalities within the County. Due to the County’s location in the St. Louis MSA, it is attractive to 
businesses that need affordable land and labor costs to establish or expand their operations. Retail, insurance, 
financial, educational, industrial and healthcare employers are located in the County’s municipalities. Small 
farms and wineries also contribute to the economy in the County.

Type of Government

The County is a political subdivision of the State, organized as a first-class county.  The County is 
governed by a County Commission consisting of a Presiding Commissioner and two Associate Commissioners.  
The Associate Commissioners each represent one-half of the County and are elected for four-year terms.  The 
Presiding Commissioner is elected at-large for a four-year term. The County Commission’s duties include 
determining the County tax rate, appropriating County funds, appointing board members and trustees for 
special service entities, accounting for County property and its upkeep, adopting the annual budget, appointing 
committees, hiring certain departmental directors and miscellaneous other duties not handled by other County 
officials. The current commissioners are as follows:

Name Position Year First Elected
Year Present
Term Expires

Tim Brinker(1) Presiding Commissioner 2018 2022
Todd Boland(1) First District Commissioner N/A 2020
Dave Hinson Second District Commissioner 2016 2020
_________________
(1) In August 2018, following the resignation of the previous Presiding Commissioner, the Governor appointed Tim 

Brinker (who was the First District Commissioner) to serve as the Presiding Commissioner through the end of 2018.  
Mr. Brinker ran unopposed for Presiding Commissioner in the November 2018 election and was elected to serve a four-
year term. In August 2018, the Governor appointed Todd Boland to fill Mr. Brinker’s unexpired term as First District 
Commissioner.  Mr. Boland will serve as First District Commissioner through the end of 2020.

 
Other elected officials of the County are: the County Clerk, who is responsible for keeping the records of 

the County Commission, payroll, elections and other general administrative functions; the County Collector of 
Revenue, who is responsible for billing and collecting taxes; the County Assessor, who is responsible for 
appraising and recording the value of real estate; the County Treasurer, who is responsible for recording receipts 
and disbursements; the Recorder of Deeds, who records deeds, maintains plats, UCC filings and military 
discharges and issues marriage licenses; the County Auditor, who is the County accounting officer; the County 
Sheriff, who is responsible for law enforcement and public safety; the Prosecuting Attorney, who is responsible 
for prosecuting all civil and criminal actions in the County; and the Public Administrator, who is the public 
guardian and conservator in the County.

Employees

The County currently has approximately 325 full-time employees and approximately 22 part-time 
employees.  Benefits provided to full-time employees include: health insurance and life insurance, a retirement 
plan (see the caption “Pension Plans” herein), paid vacation and sick leave.  In 2007, the Missouri Supreme 
Court held that public employees have a constitutional right to collectively bargain under Missouri’s 
Constitution. The County Highway Department employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. 
The County has no record of any work stoppages or labor disputes.



A-2

Pension Plans 

County Employee Retirement Fund

The County participates in the County Employees Retirement Fund (“CERF”), which is a cost 
sharing multi-employer defined benefit pension plan funded through various fees and employee contributions.  
CERF is administered by a governing board of directors. The CERF Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017 (the “2017 CERF Annual Report”) is available at www.mocerf.org.  The information in 
the 2017 CERF Annual Report is not incorporated by reference into this Official Statement. The 2017 CERF 
Annual Report provides detailed information about CERF, including its financial position, investment policy 
and performance information, actuarial information and assumptions affecting plan design and policies, and 
certain statistical information about the plan.

CERF covers certain county elective or appointive officers or employees, including circuit court 
employees for first-class, non-charter counties not participating in the Missouri Local Government Employees 
Retirement System (hereinafter described) and excluding circuit clerks, deputy circuit clerks, county 
prosecuting attorneys and county sheriffs.  Employees attaining the age of sixty-two years may retire with full 
benefits with eight or more years of credited service.  Benefit provisions are fixed by state statute and may be 
amended only by action of the Missouri State Legislature.

Upon termination of employment, any member who is vested is entitled to a deferred annuity, payable 
at age sixty-two.  Early retirement at age fifty-five with reduced benefit is allowed.  Any member with less 
than eight years of creditable service forfeits all rights in the fund but will be paid the member’s accumulated 
contributions.

Participating employees hired after February 25, 2002 are required to make contributions equal to 4% 
of gross compensation.  Participating employees hired before February 25, 2002, are required to make 
contributions equal to 2% of gross compensation but are not required to make contributions if the employee 
participates in the Missouri Local Government Employees Retirement System. The County has elected not to 
make all or a portion of the required contribution on behalf of the employees, and eligible employees 
contribute the required 4% to CERF. In addition to the employee contribution the County is statutorily 
required to collect and remit certain fees and penalties to CERF.  For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 
2017, the County collected and remitted to CERF employee contributions of $443,748 and $404,659, and 
County contributions of $876,285 and $641,444, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, the County had 323 
CERF participants (active members, retirees, beneficiaries and inactive, nonretired members).  

For additional information regarding CERF relating to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018 see 
“Note F – Employees’ Pension Plan – State of Missouri County Employees’ Retirement Fund (CERF)” 
in APPENDIX B.

Missouri Local Government Employees Retirement System

The County participates in Missouri Local Government Employees’ Retirement System 
(“LAGERS”), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement system that acts as a common 
investment and administrative agent for local government entities in Missouri. LAGERS was created and is 
governed by state statute and is a defined-benefit pension plan that provides retirement, disability and death 
benefits. The plan is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and is 
tax-exempt. LAGERS is governed by a seven-member Board of Trustees consisting of three trustees elected by 
participating employees, three trustees elected by participating employers and one trustee appointed by the 
Missouri Governor.

LAGERS issues a publicly-available financial report that includes financial statements and required 
supplementary information. The LAGERS Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2018 (the “2018 LAGERS CAFR”) is available at www.molagers.org. The link to the 2018 



A-3

LAGERS CAFR is provided for general background information only, and the information in the 2018 
LAGERS CAFR is not incorporated by reference into this Official Statement. The 2018 LAGERS CAFR 
provides detailed information about LAGERS, including its financial position, investment policy and 
performance information, actuarial information and assumptions affecting plan design and policies, and certain 
statistical information about the plan.

For information specific to the County’s participation in LAGERS, including the County’s past 
contributions, net pension liability and related sensitivities, and pension expense, see “Note F– Employees’ 
Pension Plan – Missouri Local Government Employees Retirement System (LAGERS)” in APPENDIX 
B. For additional information regarding LAGERS, see the 2018 LAGERS CAFR.

Risk Management

The County manages risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and destruction of assets, errors 
and omissions, workers’ compensation, property and liability by purchasing commercial insurance.  The 
County is a member of the Missouri Public Entity Risk Management Fund (“MOPERM”), which is a public 
entity risk pool.  The County pays an annual contribution to MOPERM for its insurance coverage and 
MOPERM is empowered to make special assessments to meet obligations.  Settled claims resulting from these 
risks have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. For more details see “Note D 
– Commitments and Contingencies” in APPENDIX B.

Public Safety

The County sheriff’s department provides police protection to the County.  The sheriff’s department is 
comprised of approximately 136 personnel, including approximately 117 full-time sworn officers and 
approximately 19 civilian full-time employees.  In addition to police protection, the sheriff’s department is 
responsible for court security, transporting prisoners and process serving.  The following cities within the 
County have their own police departments:  Union, Berger, Gerald, New Haven, Pacific, Saint Clair, Sullivan 
and Washington.

Fire protection and emergency medical services are provided by 10 fire districts and 7 ambulance 
districts. All the fire and ambulance districts are political subdivisions separate from the County and are 
supported by their own separate tax levies.

Transportation

U.S. Interstate 44 passes through the County and connects the County to St. Louis, Missouri to the 
northeast and Springfield, Missouri to the southwest.  

The County is approximately 50 miles from St. Louis Lambert International Airport.  In addition, 
Spirit of St. Louis Airport located in Chesterfield, Missouri, approximately 35 miles northeast of the County, is 
certified for carrier operations.

Educational Institutions and Facilities

Public elementary and secondary education is provided by 10 public school districts within the 
County, all of which are accredited by the Missouri Department of Elementary and Secondary Education 
(“DESE”). “Accredited” is the highest accreditation status given by DESE. There are also several private and 
parochial schools within the County.

East Central College (“ECC”) in Union, Missouri, is a community college that serves approximately 
2,500 students each semester. ECC offers educational opportunities and program partnerships between ECC 
and local businesses and industries. ECC provides summer camps for young people, customized training, 



A-4

community seminars and programs that cover a variety of topics.  Missouri Baptist University also offers 
coursework at its extension site in Union, Missouri

Other post-secondary educational facilities located in the surrounding area include Lindenwood 
University, St. Louis Community College, Maryville University, University of Missouri-St. Louis, Washington 
University, Saint Louis University and Webster University.

Medical and Health Facilities

The primary healthcare provider in the County is Mercy Hospital Washington, a 148-bed acute-care 
hospital and Level III Trauma Center.  In addition to emergency care, the hospital provides surgery services, a 
childbirth center, home health care, patient rehabilitation, and eye care.  Mercy Medical Building South is 
located near the hospital and offers primary care, specialty care, outpatient surgery and numerous other 
services.  

Because of its close proximity to the St. Louis Metropolitan Area, residents of the County have access 
to numerous hospitals and two medical schools, Washington University School of Medicine and Saint Louis 
University Medical School, which are well-regarded for their medical schools and quality of research. In 
addition, numerous dentists, chiropractors and doctors provide medical services from offices and clinics 
located in the County.

Recreation and Tourism

The County is home to many outdoor attractions, including two state parks, Shaw Nature Reserve, 
Purina Farms, Meramec Caverns and many river access points for fishing or floating. Several cities within the 
County also maintain city parks, including Gerald, New Haven, Pacific, St. Clair, Sullivan, Union and 
Washington. Tourists can also take advantage of the many wineries, museums, art galleries and antique stores 
in the County.

Employment

The following table sets forth the total labor force, number of employed and unemployed workers in 
the County and, for comparative purposes, the unemployment rates for the County, the State of Missouri and 
the United States for the years 2014 through 2018:

Franklin County
                Labor Force                              Unemployment Rates          

Year Employed Unemployed Total
Franklin

  County  
State of
Missouri

United
States

2018 50,683 1,604 52,287 3.1% 3.2% 3.9%
2017 50,597 1,901 52,498 3.6 3.8 4.4
2016 50,672 2,313 52,985 4.4 4.6 4.9
2015 50,198 2,672 52,870 5.1 5.0 5.3
2014 48,705 3,356 52,061 6.4 6.1 6.2

Source: Missouri Department of Economic Development, Missouri Economic Research and Information Center.



A-5

Housing

The median value of owner-occupied housing units in the County and the State of Missouri are 
estimated to be as follows based on the most recent multiyear estimate:

Median Value
Built Since 

2000
Built Before 

1939

Franklin County $156,800 20.50% 9.78%
State of Missouri 145,400 16.80 13.98

Source: United States Census Bureau, 2013-2017 Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.

Demographic Statistics

Population.  According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the population patterns for the County and the 
State of Missouri have been as follows:

Franklin County State of Missouri

Year Population
Percentage

Change Population
Percentage

Change

2018 103,670 2.2% 6,126,452 2.3%
2010 101,492 8.2 5,988,927 7.0
2000 93,807 16.4 5,595,211 9.3
1990 80,603 13.2 5,117,073 4.1
1980 71,233 N/A 4,916,686 N/A

Source: United States Census Bureau, 2018 Population Estimates; Missouri State Census Data Center; United States Census 
Bureau, Decennial Census.

The following table sets forth the population by age categories for the County and the State of 
Missouri based on the most recent multiyear estimate:

Franklin State of
Age County Missouri

Under 5 years 6,260 373,141
5-19 years 19,840 1,176,263
20-24 years 6,034 425,687
25-44 years 24,166 1,536,109
45-64 years 29,788 1,608,662
65 and over 16,325 956,032

Median Age 40.7 38.4

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.



A-6

Other Statistics.  The following table presents median family income for the County and the State of 
Missouri based on the most recent multiyear estimate:

Median Family 
     Income     

Franklin County $65,468
State of Missouri 64,776

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates.

The following table presents per capita personal income(1) for the County and the State of Missouri for 
the years 2013 through 2017, the latest year for which such information is available:

Year Franklin County State of Missouri

2017 $41,887 $44,978
2016 40,586 43,587
2015 39,820 42,839
2014 37,805 41,538
2013 36,600 40,152

(1) “Per Capita Personal Income” is the annual total personal income of residents divided by the resident population as 
of July 1.  “Personal Income” is the sum of net earnings by place of residence, rental income of persons, personal 
dividend income, personal interest income, and transfer payments.  “Net Earnings” is earnings by place of work - the 
sum of wage and salary disbursements (payrolls), other labor income, and proprietors’ income - less personal 
contributions for social insurance, plus an adjustment to convert earnings by place of work to a place-of-residence 
basis. Personal Income is measured before the deduction of personal income taxes and other personal taxes and is 
reported in current dollars (no adjustment is made for price changes).

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE COUNTY

Accounting, Budgeting and Auditing Procedures

The County has received a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting from the 
Government Finance Officers Association for its comprehensive annual report each year since 1992. The 
financial statements of the County have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to government units.  The more significant 
accounting policies of the County are described below. 

Basis of Accounting.  The Government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic 
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary 
fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is 
incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as 
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  With the economic resources 
measurement focus, all assets and liabilities associated with operations are reflected in the statement of net 
assets.

Fund Accounting.  The accounts of the County are organized on the basis of funds or account groups, 
each of which is considered a separate accounting entity.  The operations of each fund are accounted for with a 
separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and 
expenditures.  The various funds are summarized by type in the general purpose financial statements.  The 
fund types and account groups used by the County are discussed below.



A-7

Governmental Fund Types.  Governmental funds are those through which most governmental 
functions of the County are financed.  The acquisition, use and balances of the County’s expendable financial 
resources and the related liabilities are accounted for through governmental funds.  The measurement focus is 
upon determination of changes in financial position.  The following is the County’s governmental fund types:

General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the County.  It is used to account 
for all financial resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

Road and Bridge Fund – The Road and Bridge Fund is a special revenue fund used to account for 
taxes and grant funds used for public works activities for the operations and maintenance of the 
County highways and bridges.

Law Enforcement Sales Tax Fund – The Law Enforcement Sales Tax Fund is a special revenue fund 
used to account for revenues used solely for providing law enforcement activities.

Capital Projects Fund – The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources to be 
used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities.

The County also reports the following major propriety fund:

Brush Creek Sewer District Fund – The Brush Creek Sewer District Fund is an enterprise fund that is 
a blended component unit of the County used to account for revenues and expenses of the Brush 
Creek Sewer District.

The County also reports the following major fiduciary fund type:

Agency Funds – The Agency Funds are used to account for assets held by the County as an agent for 
other County funds, individuals, private organizations, or other governments. The Agency Funds do 
not have a measurement focus, although they do have a basis of accounting.

Budget Policies.  The County follows the following annual procedures in establishing the budgetary 
data reflected in the financial statements:

1. The County department heads prepare departmental revenue and expenditure projections on 
or before September 1.

2. The County Auditor reviews and revises the projections based upon budgeted revenue 
projections.

3. By November 15, the County Auditor submits a proposed budget to the County Commission.

4. A public hearing to obtain taxpayer comments on the budget is held by the County 
Commission during the month of December.

5. Prior to January 1, the budget is legally enacted.  In an election year, the budget is legally 
enacted prior to January 31.  Projected expenditures cannot exceed estimated revenues plus 
available balances at the beginning of the year.

6. Expenditures may not legally exceed appropriations at the department level.

7. Current year budget includes amendments.  Budget amendments between funds or 
departments must be approved by the County Commission.



A-8

8. All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end.

The General Fund

In accordance with established accounting procedures of governmental units, the County records its 
financial transactions under various funds.  The largest is the General Fund, from which all general operating 
expenses are paid and to which taxes and all other revenues not specifically allocated by law or contractual 
agreement to other funds are deposited.  The County’s audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2018 are included in this Official Statement as APPENDIX B.  Copies of prior fiscal years’ 
audits and financial reports are on file with the County.  The following table sets forth the receipts, 
disbursements and balances for the County’s General Fund for the last three fiscal years:

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]



A-9

THE GENERAL FUND

Fiscal Years Ended December 31

2016 2017 2018
REVENUES

Taxes $  8,684,810 $  8,879,632 $  9,010,626
Licenses and permits 78,695 85,302 90,488
Charges for services 2,814,023 2,886,489 2,853,296
Intergovernmental 315,552 299,972 267,826
Investment income 45,673 92,197 120,352
Miscellaneous         450,783        373,065        463,383

Total Revenues Received $12,389,536 $12,616,657 $12,805,971

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government $  5,396,006 $  5,229,223 $  6,300,675(1)

Public Safety 203,858 184,641 174,362
Judicial 2,333,737 2,438,544 2,663,216
Health and welfare 278,776 289,855 303,416
Education 194,792 184,586 196,004

Capital outlay 122,837 124,904 58,915
Debt Service:

Principal 259,200 263,700 269,100
Interest        189,834        185,583        180,605

Total Expenditures $  8,979,040 $  8,901,036 $10,146,293

RECEIPTS OVER (UNDER)
EXPENDITURES

$  3,410,496 $  3,715,621 $  2,659,678

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Sale of capital assets - - $         1,975
Transfers in(2) $     455,623 $     366,253 563,000
Transfers out(3)   (3,532,060)   (4,688,203)    (4,314,459)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) $  3,076,437 $ (4,321,950) $ (3,749,484)

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES $     334,059 $    (606,329) $ (1,089,806)(4)

FUND BALANCES, JANUARY 1 $10,702,634 $11,036,693 $10,430,364

FUND BALANCES, DECEMBER 31 $11,036,693 $10,430,634 $  9,340,558

_____________________ 

(1) Increase in General government expenditures is primarily attributable to personnel services, election costs and a 
$575,000 partial payment on software for the County Collector.

(1) Consists primarily of surplus funds from the County’s municipal court operations. 
(2) Consists primarily of transfers to support the Sheriff’s Department operations and 911 services.  
(4) The decrease in Fund Balances is due to the increase in Total Expenditures, primarily General government 

expenditures.
Source:  Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2016 through 2018.



A-10

Projected Operating Results

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, the County budgeted expenditures exceeding revenues 
by approximately $2,294,838 for the General Fund.  Based on year-to-date financial results, the County 
expects both revenues and expenditures to be slightly below budget. Sales tax revenues, which are the 
County’s largest source of revenue, are expected to reach the budgeted amount. Accordingly, the County is 
still anticipating a reduction in fund balance for the General Fund, but less than the budgeted amount.

Sources of Revenue  

The County finances its general operations through taxes and other sources.  The sources of revenue 
for the General Fund of the County for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 are shown below:

                    2017                                        2018                    
Source Amount Percent of Total Amount Percent of Total

Sales Taxes $6,232,812 49.4% $6,308,251 49.3%
Charges for Services 2,886,489 22.9 2,853,296 22.3
Property Taxes 2,646,347 21.0 2,698,490 21.1
Miscellaneous 373,583 3.0 467,268 3.6
Licenses and Permits 85,302 0.7 90,488 0.7
Intergovernmental 299,972 2.4 267,826 2.1
Investment Income          92,197     0.6        120,352     0.9

Total $12,616,657 100.0% $12,805,971 100.0%

Source: County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017 and December 31, 
2018.

Sales Taxes  

The County has four separate 0.50% county-wide sales taxes on retail sales.  One is for general 
County operational purposes, one is for capital improvements (roads and bridges) (the “Capital Improvement 
Sales Tax”) and one is for law enforcement purposes.  The Capital Improvement Sales Tax is one of the 
intended funding sources for the Series 2019B Certificates. The fourth sales tax (known as the “Proposition P 
Sales Tax”) was approved by the voters in April 2018 and is the intended funding source for the Series 2019A 
Certificates.  The County intends to use approximately half of the Proposition P Sales Tax proceeds for 
payment of the Series 2018 Certificates and Series 2019A Certificates, and half to compensate commissioned 
officers of the Franklin County Sheriff’s Office and the municipal police departments within the County. 
Based on year-to-date collections, the County estimates that the total proceeds from the Proposition P Sales 
Tax will equal approximately $6,600,000 in 2019.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]



A-11

The following table shows the revenues from the County’s general sales tax, the law enforcement 
sales tax, the capital improvement sales tax and the Proposition P Sales Tax:  

Year
General

Sales Tax 
Law Enforcement
      Sales Tax      

Capital Improvement
     Sales Tax     

Proposition P
    Sales Tax    

2018 $6,308,251 $6,456,239 $6,473,060 $1,431,048(1)

2017 6,232,812 6,370,595 6,388,642 -
2016 6,115,738 6,256,876 6,272,331 -
2015 5,918,254 6,051,860 6,065,999 -
2014 5,620,527 5,735,603 5,751,766 -

(1) Represents collection of the Proposition P Sales Tax from October 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018.
Source: County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2014 through December 

31, 2018.

Property Tax  

The County’s property tax is levied each year on the assessed value listed as of January 1 for all real 
and personal property located in the County.  Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of 
January 1.  Taxes levied in October are due and payable prior to December 31.  See the captions 
“PROPERTY TAX INFORMATION – County Tax Rates” and “- Tax Collection Record” herein.

DEBT STRUCTURE OF THE COUNTY

Debt Ratios and Related Information

Population (2018 estimate): 103,670
Assessed Valuation (2018): $1,935,406,485
Estimated Actual Value (2018): $8,391,085,328
Outstanding Direct General Obligation Debt: $0
Overlapping General Obligation Debt(1): $147,751,344

 (1) Because the County is comprised of over 40 taxing jurisdictions, the above table does not include per capita 
overlapping debt or overlapping debt ratios, because it would overstate the amounts for which a particular taxpayer 
within an individual municipality and/or school district within the County would be responsible.  For further details see 
the caption “DEBT STRUCTURE OF THE COUNTY – Overlapping General Obligation Indebtedness.”

Source: The County; U.S. Census Bureau Estimates.

General Obligation Indebtedness

The County has no currently outstanding general obligation indebtedness.

Article VI, Sections 26(b) and 26(c) of the Constitution of Missouri limit the outstanding amount of 
authorized general obligation bonds for a county to 10% of the assessed valuation of the county. The legal debt 
margin of the County based upon the 2018 assessed valuation is calculated as follows:

Assessed Value (2018) $1,935,406,485

Constitutional Debt Limit (10% of Assessed Valuation) $   193,540,649
Less Total General Obligation Indebtedness                        0

Legal Debt Margin $   193,540,649



A-12

Overlapping General Obligation Indebtedness

The following table sets forth the approximate overlapping general obligation indebtedness, as of June 1, 
2019, of political subdivisions within the County, and the approximate percent attributable to the County.  The 
following table does not include outstanding lease obligations of political subdivisions within the County. The 
County has not independently verified the accuracy or completeness of such information.  Furthermore, political 
subdivisions may have ongoing programs requiring the issuance of substantial additional bonds, the amounts of 
which are not readily ascertainable. 

Taxing Jurisdiction

Outstanding General 
Obligation 

Indebtedness

Percent 
Applicable
to County(1)

Amount 
Applicable
to County

City of Pacific(2) $    2,740,000 96.27% $    2,637,798
Gasconade County R-1 School District 10,817,000 15.73 1,701,514
Gasconade County R-2 School District 9,940,000 28.00 2,783,200
Lonedell R-14 School District 1,782,939 100.00 1,782,939
Meramec Valley R-3 School District 31,080,000 96.00 29,836,800
New Haven School District 1,490,000 100.00 1,490,000
Spring Bluff R-15 School District 1,645,000 100.00 1,645,000
St. Clair R-13 School District 2,470,000 100.00 2,470,000
Strain-Japan R-16 School District 130,000 93.00 120,900
Sullivan School District 14,110,000 84.00 11,852,400
Union R-11 School District 41,020,000 100.00 41,020,000
Washington School District 39,215,000 85.00 33,332,750
East Central College 10,570,000 88.00 9,301,600
Boles Fire Protection District 4,260,000 100.00 4,260,000
Pacific Fire Protection District 1,170,000 82.55 965,835
Sullivan Fire Protection District       3,325,000 76.71      2,550,608

TOTALS $175,764,939 $147,751,344

(1) This value is calculated based on the percentage of the political subdivision’s 2018 assessed valuation of all taxable 
tangible property that lies within the County limits.

(2) Includes Neighborhood Improvement District Bonds.
Source: Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018; Missouri State Auditor and 

Electronic Municipal Market Access (EMMA) System; DESE Annual Report of the County Clerk.

Lease Obligations of the County

In September 2012, the County approved delivery of Certificates of Participation, Series 2012, in the 
original principal amount of $39,230,000 (the “Series 2012 Certificates”). The proceeds of the Series 2019B 
Certificates will be used to prepay all of the outstanding Series 2012 Certificates (the “Refunded 
Certificates”). The County used proceeds of the Capital Improvement Sales Tax for the basic rent payments of 
the Series 2012 Certificates and expects to use the same sources of funds for payment of the Series 2019B 
Certificates. 

In November 2018, the County approved delivery of Certificates of Participation, Series 2018, in the 
original principal amount of $9,925,0000 (the “Series 2018 Certificates” and together with the Series 2019 
Certificates, the “Certificates”). The County uses the proceeds of the Proposition P Sales Tax for the basic 
rent payments of the Series 2018 Certificates. 



A-13

The annual Basic Rent requirements for the Series 2018 Certificates and the Series 2019 Certificates are 
as follows:

Series 2018 Certificates Series 2019 Certificates*

Fiscal Year
Ending

December 31
Principal
Portion

Interest
Portion

Principal
Portion

Interest
Portion

Total
Lease

Obligations*

2019 $            --    $   353,153.24 $                --    $                --    $     353,153.24
2020 370,000.00 366,383.76 2,180,000.00 1,697,116.75 4,613,500.51
2021 385,000.00 351,583.76 2,765,000.00 1,452,815.00 4,954,398.76
2022 400,000.00 336,183.76 2,855,000.00 1,368,890.00 4,960,073.76
2023 420,000.00 320,183.76 2,945,000.00 1,282,340.00 4,967,523.76
2024 435,000.00 303,383.76 3,030,000.00 1,193,090.00 4,961,473.76
2025 450,000.00 290,333.76 3,140,000.00 1,100,990.00 4,981,323.76
2026 460,000.00 276,833.76 3,240,000.00 1,005,740.00 4,982,573.76
2027 475,000.00 263,033.76 3,340,000.00 907,490.00 4,985,523.76
2028 490,000.00 248,783.76 3,450,000.00 806,090.00 4,994,873.76
2029 505,000.00 233,471.26 3,550,000.00 699,080.00 4,987,551.26
2030 525,000.00 213,271.26 3,675,000.00 584,040.00 4,997,311.26
2031 545,000.00 192,271.26 3,790,000.00 456,160.00 4,992,431.26
2032 570,000.00 170,471.26 3,050,000.00 356,360.00 4,146,831.26
2033 590,000.00 147,671.26 1,240,000.00 288,360.00 2,266,031.26
2034 615,000.00 126,283.76 1,280,000.00 247,440.00 2,268,723.76
2035 635,000.00 103,836.26 1,320,000.00 203,920.00 2,262,756.26
2036 660,000.00 80,023.76 1,370,000.00 157,720.00 2,267,743.76
2037 685,000.00 54,943.76 1,420,000.00 108,400.00 2,268,343.76
2038      710,000.00        28,400.00     1,470,000.00          55,860.00     2,264,260.00

Totals $9,925,000.00 $4,460,500.92 $49,110,000.00 $13,971,901.75 $77,476,402.67

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]

* Preliminary; subject to change.



A-14

The following schedule shows the yearly Basic Rent payments required and the estimated revenue 
source allocation for the Certificates:

The Certificates*
Estimated Revenue 
Source Allocation*

Fiscal Year 
Ended

December 31
Total Rental 

Payments

Other 
Funding 
Sources(1)

Proposition P 
Sales Tax

2019 $     353,153.24 $                --    $     353,153.24
2020 4,613,500.51 2,419,226.00 2,194,274.51
2021 4,954,398.76 2,693,255.00 2,261,143.76
2022 4,960,073.76 2,700,130.00 2,259,943.76
2023 4,967,523.76 2,700,130.00 2,267,393.76
2024 4,961,473.76 2,698,330.00 2,263,143.76
2025 4,981,323.76 2,714,430.00 2,266,893.76
2026 4,982,573.76 2,718,280.00 2,264,293.76
2027 4,985,523.76 2,720,030.00 2,265,493.76
2028 4,994,873.76 2,729,530.00 2,265,343.76
2029 4,987,551.26 2,724,320.00 2,263,231.26
2030 4,997,311.26 2,734,160.00 2,263,151.26
2031 4,992,431.26 2,731,280.00 2,261,151.26
2032 4,146,831.26 1,879,600.00 2,267,231.26
2033 2,266,031.26 --    2,266,031.26
2034 2,268,723.76 --    2,268,723.76
2035 2,262,756.26 --    2,262,756.26
2036 2,267,743.76 --    2,267,743.76
2037 2,268,343.76 --    2,268,343.76
2038     2,264,260.00                 --        2,264,260.00

Totals $77,476,402.67 $34,162,701.00 $43,313,701.67

 (1) The County intends to pay the Series 2019B Certificates from the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund and the 
Road and Bridge Fund, which is funded from the Capital Improvement Sales Tax.

Other Obligations of the County

Obligations secured by annually appropriated funds do not constitute an indebtedness for purposes of 
any Missouri statutory or constitutional debt limit.  Such obligations are payable solely from annually 
appropriated funds of a governmental body available therefor and neither taxes nor a specific source of 
revenues can be pledged to make payments on such obligations.  Any increase in taxes required to generate 
sufficient funds with which to make payments on such obligations are subject to voter approval.  

In March 2007, Brush Creek Sewer District (“Brush Creek”) issued Sewerage System Revenue 
Bonds, Series A and B, in the original principal amount of $3,700,000. In March 2016, Brush Creek issued 
Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series C, in the original principal amount of $155,000. Those bonds are 
payable solely from revenues of the sewer system and are not an obligation of the County.  Nevertheless, 
because the members of the County Commission also serve as Brush Creek’s governing body, the Brush Creek 
bonds are shown as long-term debt in the County’s financial statements.

* Preliminary; subject to change.



A-15

Future Debt

The County does not anticipate any future borrowings at this time.

History of Debt Payment 

The County has never defaulted on any indebtedness.

PROPERTY TAX INFORMATION

Property Valuations

Assessment Procedure.  All taxable real and personal property within the County is assessed by the 
County Assessor.  Missouri law requires that personal property be assessed at 33-1/3% of true value (except 
for a few subclasses of minimal value that are assessed at a lower percentage) and that real property be 
assessed at the following percentages of true value:

Residential real property ............................................................................19%
Agricultural and horticultural real property ...............................................12%
Utility, industrial, commercial, railroad and all other real property ..........32%

On January 1 in every odd-numbered year, each County Assessor must adjust the assessed valuation 
of all real property located within the county in accordance with a two-year assessment and equalization 
maintenance plan approved by the State Tax Commission.

The County Assessor is responsible for preparing the tax roll each year and for submitting the tax roll 
to the Board of Equalization.  The County Board of Equalization has the authority to adjust and equalize the 
values of individual properties appearing on the tax rolls.

Current Assessed Valuation.  The following table shows the total 2018 assessed valuation and the 
estimated actual valuation, by category, of all taxable tangible property situated in the County:

Category
Assessed

Valuation
Assessment

Rate
Estimated Actual

Valuation

Real estate:
Residential $   991,530,758  19% $5,218,582,937
Commercial 325,096,848 32 1,015,927,650
Agricultural        51,138,858 12      426,157,150

Sub-Total $1,367,766,464 $6,660,667,737

Personal property $   347,668,142 33-1/3(1) $1,043,005,469

Railroad and Utility      219,971,879 32      687,412,122

TOTAL $1,935,406,485 $8,391,085,328

 (1) Assumes all personal property is assessed at 33-1/3%; because certain subclasses of tangible personal property are 
assessed at less than 33-1/3%, the estimated actual valuation for personal property would likely be greater than that 
shown above.  See the caption “PROPERTY TAX INFORMATION - Property Valuations - Assessment 
Procedure” herein.

Source: The County.



A-16

History of Property Valuations.  The total assessed valuation of all taxable tangible property situated 
in the County, including state and locally assessed railroad and utility property, according to the assessments of 
December 31 in the years 2014 through 2018 has been as follows:

Year
Assessed

Valuation % Change

2018 $1,935,406,485         +2.10%
2017 1,895,686,281 +3.84
2016 1,825,539,692 +2.85
2015 1,775,004,115 -2.11
2014 1,813,176,167 N/A

Source:  Franklin County Assessor; County’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2014 through December 31, 2017.

County Tax Rates

County tax rates per $100 assessed valuation for real and personal property for the last five years are 
set forth below.

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

General $0.1258 $0.1258 $0.1258 $0.1243 $0.1467
Road and Bridge Fund   0.2156   0.2156   0.2159   0.2145   0.2124
TOTAL $0.3414 $0.3414 $0.3417 $0.3388 $0.3591

Source: Franklin County, Missouri Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2017 and 
Missouri State Auditor 2018 Property Tax Rates Report. 

Tax Collection Record

The following table sets forth information regarding property tax collections for the County for all 
taxing bodies during the last five years:

Current Taxes Delinquent 
Taxes

Total Taxes

Levy
Year

Total Taxes
     Levied   Amount

Percentag
e

Collected
Amount Amount

Percentage
  Collected(1)

2018 $2,167,872 $2,029,842 93.6% $108,912 $2,138,754 98.7%
2017 2,120,733 1,972,879 93.0 112,861 2,085,739 98.3
2016 2,008,371 1,866,526 92.9 111,449 1,977,974 98.5
2015 1,943,509 1,800,859 92.7 136,299 1,937,158 99.7
2014 2,318,889 2,140,731 92.3 143,846 2,284,577 98.5

_________________  
(1) Delinquent taxes are shown in the year payment is received.
Source: Franklin County Collector’s Office.



A-17

Major Property Taxpayers

The ten largest property taxpayers in the County according to their 2018 real and personal property 
assessed valuations are listed below:

Name
Assessed

Valuation

Percent of Total
Assessed Value of 

the County(1)

1. Spire Missouri Inc $10,355,911          0.54%
2. Henniges Automotive/General Motors LLC-GDX 8,938,080 0.46
3. PC II Vertical LLC 8,072,912 0.42
4. Wal Mart Real Estate Business 7,257,008 0.37
5. Lowes Home Centers Inc 4,807,914 0.25
6. Bank of Washington 3,460,928 0.18
7. LSC Communications US LLC 3,164,260 0.16
8. Parker-Hannifin Corp 2,985,852 0.15
9. USR-DESCO Washington Crossing     2,953,477 0.15

10. Heat & Control, Inc.     2,840,634 0.15
$54,836,976 2.83%

____________
(1) This value is calculated based on the ratio of the taxpayer’s assessed valuation to the County’s 2018 assessed valuation 

of $1,935,406,485.
Source: Franklin County Assessor.

* * *



Commission Order No. 2019-336 
Third Quarter Term 2019 

COMMISSION ORDER 
 
STATE OF MISSOURI Tuesday, August 6, 2019 
County of Franklin Report 
 

Commission Order 2019-336 Page 1 

ss. 

IN THE MATTER OF  
APPROVING THE CONSENT  
AGENDA AND ALL THE 
ITEMS LISTED THEREON 
 
WHEREAS, in the course of the daily operation of county government certain routine actions are necessary; and 
 
WHEREAS, certain of the routine items referred to above involve either the issuance of licenses, the receipt of funds or 
the authorization of accounts payable and/or abstract of fees; and 
 
WHEREAS, the approval of such routine matters can be approved through the use of a “Consent Agenda”; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to afford a better record of what has been approved through the use of the Consent Agenda it has 
been determined that it would be appropriate to pass a commission order weekly which approves all items contained in 
the Consent Agenda. 
 
IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the County Commission of Franklin County that the Consent Agenda for July 30, 2019 
addressing the below listed items is hereby approved, to wit: 
 

Fees:   Public Administrator, July 2019 
   County Clerk, July 2019 
   Circuit Clerk, July 2019 
   Auditor’s Report, July 2019 
 
Liquor Licenses:   Johnny’s Restaurant 
   El Ranchito Restaurant 
   T’s Liquor Lane – 8/29/19 
   Wagner’s Store 
 
Auctioneer Licenses:  Mark Behan - Treasure Alley Estate Sales and Auction Service 
 
Other:   

 
 

______________________________________ 
Presiding Commissioner 

 
 
              Commissioner of 1st District 
 
 
              Commissioner of 2nd District 






























































































































































































































































































































	Opening
	I. Call to Order
	II. Minutes Approval
	1. July 29, 2019
	2. July 30, 2019
	3. August 1, 2019

	III. Public Request for Discussion
	IV. Action Items
	a. 2019-331 Settlement with Treasurer
	b. 2019-332 Approving GIS Agreement with PWSD #3
	c. 2019-333 Trustee's Sale - Richardson
	d. 2019-334 Trustee's Sale Hammer
	e. 2019-335 Resolution - COP's
	f. 2019-336 Consent Agenda




